Public Document Pack
Helen Barrington
Director of Legal and Democratic
Services
County Hall
Matlock
Derbyshire
DE4 3AG
Extension
danny.sunderland@derbyshire.gov.uk
Direct Dial 01629 538357
Ask for Danny Sunderland

PUBLIC
To: Members of Pensions and Investments Committee

Tuesday, 30 November 2021
Dear Councillor,
Please attend a meeting of the Pensions and Investments Committee
to be held at 10.30 am on Wednesday, 8 December 2021 in the Council
Chamber, County Hall, Matlock, the agenda for which is set out below.
Yours faithfully,

Helen Barrington
Director of Legal and Democratic Services
AGENDA
PART I - NON-EXEMPT ITEMS
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

To receive declarations of interest (if any)

3.

To confirm the non-exempt minutes of the meeting held on 20 October
2021 (Pages 1 - 8)

4 (a)

Climate Risk Report (Pages 9 - 58)

4 (b)

Climate-Related Disclosures Report (Pages 59 - 92)

4 (c)

Investment Report (Pages 93 - 164)

4 (d)

Stewardship Report (Pages 165 - 214)

5.

Exclusion of the Public
To move “That under Regulation 21 (1)(b) of the Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Regulations
2000, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the
Local Government Act 1972”

PART II - EXEMPT ITEMS
6.

To receive declarations of interest (if any)

7.

To confirm the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 20 October 2021
(Pages 215 - 218)

8.

Climate Risk Report (Pages 219 - 342)

Agenda Item 3

PUBLIC
MINUTES of a meeting of the PENSIONS AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
held on 20 October 2021 at County Hall, Matlock.
PRESENT
Councillor D Wilson (in the Chair)
Derbyshire County Council
Councillors R Ashton, N Atkin, B Bingham, M Foster, G Musson, P Smith and
M Yates
Derby City Council
Councillors L Care and M Carr
Derbyshire County Unison
Mr M Wilson
Also in attendance – M Fairman, D Kinley, and S Webster (representing
Derbyshire County Council)
R Graham and K Gurney (representing the Pension Board)
Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest.
39/21
MINUTES RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 8
September 2021 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
40/21
DERBYSHIRE PENSION FUND ANNUAL REPORT It was the
Fund’s standard practice to present a copy of the Annual Report to Committee
prior to 1 December each year and to seek approval to publish the Annual
Report on the Fund’s website. However, this was not possible this year because
of the timing of Committee meetings and the completion of the external audit in
respect of both the County Council’s (the Council) and Fund’s 2020-21
Statement of Accounts which had yet to be completed.
As a result of this delay, approval was sought for the Director of Finance
& ICT, in conjunction with the Chairman of the Committee, to approve the
publication of the Fund’s 2020-21 Annual Report at the first available opportunity
following receipt of the external auditor’s opinion on the Fund’s Statement of
1

Page 1

Accounts. A copy of the Fund’s 2020-21 Annual Report would be circulated to
the Committee in due course, along with the Climate Strategy matrix.
RESOLVED that approval be given for the Director of Finance & ICT,
in conjunction with the Chairman of the Committee, to approve the publication
of the Pension Fund’s Annual Report for 2020-21.
41/21
DERBYSHIRE PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER The Head of
Pension Fund presented the Derbyshire Pension Fund Risk Register. The Risk
Register included a target score which showed the expected risk score once
the proposed additional risk mitigation controls and procedures had been
implemented. The difference between the actual and target score for each risk
item was also shown to allow users to identify those risk items where the
proposed new mitigation and controls would have the biggest effect. The Head
of Pension Fund informed the Committee that the target scores were realistic
and achievable.
Additional columns had now been added to the Risk Register to show
trend risk scores going back to the first quarter of 2020-21 to provide additional
context. Members of the Committee welcomed this additional information.
The Risk Register had the following four high risk items and details of
each of the high risks were presented:
(1)
Fund assets insufficient to meet liabilities (Risk No.19)
(2)
LGPS Central related underperformance of investment returns (Risk
No.30)
(3)
Impact of McCloud judgement on funding (Risk No.37)
(4)
Impact of McCloud judgement on administration (Risk No.44)
No new risks had been added to the Risk Register this quarter and no
risks had been removed. The current risk score of one risk and the target risk
of one other risk had been changed.
Risk No.26, relating to employer contributions not received and accounted for
on time. The probability of this risk had been increased from 1 (rare) to 3
(possible) in Quarter 2 2020-21 in recognition of the financial pressures on
employers related to the Covid-19 pandemic. This had increased the total risk
score from 3 to 9.
The Fund had reminded employers of their responsibility to provide
information and to pay contributions by relevant deadlines. Although the Fund
had experienced delays in the provision of information from some employers in
the early months of the pandemic as staff moved to working remotely, the timely
submission of information was now back to pre-pandemic levels and the vast
majority of employers had continued to pay contributions promptly throughout
the period of business disruption. The probability score for this risk was now
2

Page 2

being reduced to 2 (unlikely) to take account of the Fund’s experience over the
last 18 months. This had reduced the total risk score to 6.
Risk No. 42, relating to potential delays to issuing Annual Benefit Statements
and Pension Savings Statements. The current total risk score for this risk was 9
with an impact score of 3 (medium) and a probability score of 3 (possible). The
target score was 3 with an impact score of 3 and a probability score of 1 (rare).
Following a reassessment of what was achievable once the proposed additional
mitigations were in place, the target score had been increased to 6, with the
impact score remaining at 3 and the probability score increasing to 2 (unlikely).
The Chairman thanked Dawn Kinley, the Head of Pension Fund for her
presentation.
RESOLVED to note the risk items identified in the Risk Register.
42/21
GOVERNANCE POLICY AND COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
Approval was sought for the draft updated Governance Policy and Compliance
Statement for Derbyshire Pension Fund, which was attached at Appendix 2 to
the report.
Minor updates had been included in the draft Statement to reflect the
reappointment of the two members representing Derby City Council, and the
current vacancy for an employer representative on the Derbyshire Pension
Board. A recruitment exercise to fill the vacancy on the Board was currently
underway.
The draft Statement also included clarification that members of the
Pension Board were invited to attend the Committee’s meetings as observers.
Widening scheme member and employer representation in the Fund’s
governance structure remained an area for development and a project had
commenced to review the representation of scheme members and employers
on the Pensions and Investments Committee.
In February 2021, the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board had published the
final report of the Good Governance Review and an action plan for
consideration by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
(now the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities). The report
included a proposal for future Statutory Guidance to require administering
authorities to produce and publish a policy on representation of scheme
members and non-administering authority employers on Committees including
an explanation of its approach to voting rights for each party. A report will be
prepared for the Committee with an update on progress in the new year.

3

Page 3

The Fund had aimed to improve engagement with scheme members’
through the implementation of the My Pension Online service, with registration
for the service currently underway. It was intended that a Members’ Forum
would be established following the implementation of the My Pension Online
service.
Members of the Committee welcomed the size and content of the
Statement and Policy and found the document to be user friendly.
RESOLVED that the Committee approves the draft Derbyshire Pension
Fund Governance Policy and Compliance Statement attached at Appendix 2 to
the report.
43/21
HALF YEAR ADMINISTRATION PERFROMANCE REPORT – 1
APRIL 2021 – 30 SEPTEMBER 2021 This report related to the first half of 20212022 covering the period 1 April 2021 to 30 September 2021 and provided a
summary of the Fund’s performance in key areas of pension administration
activity.
The provision of services had continued to develop around remote
working arrangements including the implementation of soft phone technology
which had enabled calls to the Pensions Helpline to be taken through Microsoft
Teams functionality on each team member’s laptop. A small team had
remained office-based in order to maintain functions such as printing,
packaging and posting letters and pension documents. Issuing formal
documentation to members by post had remained the core method of
communication. The implementation of the member self-service provision, “My
Pension Online” which was launched in June 2021 would enable development
of electronic communications in more areas of the Fund’s administration.
A summary of the Fund’s administrative activity during the period 1 April
2021 to 30 September 2021 was summarised. The membership figures were
presented and reflected the total number of separate pension records. This
included scheme members with more than one pension record. The actual
number of individual members as at 30 September 2021 was 89,966 who
between them had 107,308 membership records.
During 2020-21 there were a total of 920 deaths of pensioner members
in Derbyshire Pension Fund which represented a 22% increase on 2019-20
(753). At the time of preparing this report, pensioner deaths since April 2021
were 294. The administration processes following a pensioner’s death were
highlighted.
The significant increase in workload during the second half of 2020-2021
was mainly due to data cleansing and address tracing exercises which had
accounted for over 5,000 individual work items in the period. The increase in
4

Page 4

workload over the first half year of 2021-22 was largely generated by work from
the introduction of the My Pension Online service for members and continued
progress of more employers implementing the i-Connect secure data
transmission service. This included the development of a new workflow in the
Altair pension administration system which alerted members on their My
Pension Online record that there was work in progress on their pension record
which may result in changes to the value of their pension.
An ongoing project to reduce and ultimately eliminate the numbers of
backlog cases in two key areas (aggregations and deferred membership) of
pension administration had continued throughout the first half of 2021-22.
Continuing high levels of new aggregation cases and the complexity of some of
the cases had resulted in the number of backlog cases reducing slowly. A return
of greater numbers of staff to office-based working should help to increase the
rate of backlog reduction with more direct team support available to finalise more
of the complex aggregations. The current backlog situation for each area was
presented.
Since the start of the pandemic, employers had faced a number of
challenges in respect of their LGPS responsibilities. Challenges had included
having to implement new procedures to continue their functions including
maintaining responsibilities as an LGPS employer with key staff working from
home, or in some cases being furloughed. The continuing payment of pension
contributions had remained a core priority for employers based on payment and
contribution reports having to be received by the Fund by the 19 th of the month
following payment. The Fund had continued to work with employers who had
experienced difficulties with completing payments and submitting contribution
reports. Full data relating to contribution payments and reports from employers
was currently only available to July 2021, however, the current averages for
employer submissions received by the Fund by the monthly deadline reflected
that during 2021-2022 so far, approximately 96% of contribution payments, and
approximately 90% of related contribution reports had been received on time.
A total of 5 new academies had joined the Fund as an individual LGPS
employer in the period 1 April to 30 September 2021. As at 30 September 2021,
the remaining total of Local Authority maintained schools in Derbyshire County
Council and Derby City Council was 316.
Six applications had been received from organisations for Admission
Body status, based on commencing a contract during the first half of 2021-22
with a scheme employer which included the transfer of active scheme
members. These were currently being processed.
During the first half of 2021-2022 a total of 10 cases identified as
complaints had been submitted to the Fund by members. Responses had been
provided in each case and, to date, none of the cases had been escalated to
5

Page 5

the appeals stage against the Fund. During the same period a total of 8
compliments had been recorded as submitted by members and employers
praising the level of service they had received.
During the period 1 April to 30 September 2021 there had been no Stage
1 appeals submitted against the Fund and no Stage 2 appeals submitted to the
administering authority.
During the first half of 2021-2022, the Fund had not been notified of any
new cases which had been submitted by scheme members to The Pensions
Ombudsman. Currently there were three cases awaiting the Ombudsman’s
determination, all of which had been escalated to the Ombudsman by scheme
members during 2020. In each case, a determination had been delayed by a
backlog of cases caused by the impact of the pandemic.
The Committee had approved a revised version of the Fund’s
Communications Policy at its meeting on 28 April 2021. The revised version
included the development of the Fund’s member self-service website, My
Pension Online and set the Fund’s key priorities for the development of its
communications over the next three years.
The Fund had continued to progress with boarding employers onto the
i-Connect system and had undertaken virtual training sessions for those in the
early phases of implementation. The sessions had also provided employers
with an understanding of the benefits of submitting member data via i-Connect
for themselves, scheme members and the Fund. Additionally, virtual training
sessions, and bespoke meetings on specific topics to support employers had
included training and support on a range of issues.
Annual Benefit Statements had this year been made available to
members online, although the opportunity to still receive a paper statement had
been provided. By the end of September 2021, the following totals of Annual
Benefit Statements had been made available online to members or issued on
paper.
-

Active members – 89.9%
Deferred members (with confirmed home addresses) – 97.9%

The programme for employers to implement the i-Connect system, part
of the functionality linked to the Altair pension administration system, had
continued to develop throughout the first half of 2021-2022. Implementation
had commenced at the start of 2020, and 183 employers were currently
securely transmitting member data to the Fund via i-Connect. The target for
the i-Connect project was to have all employers working towards
implementation by the end of 2021.

6

Page 6

An estimated 3 million documents were held by the Fund on microfiche
records. A project to upload the documents into the Altair system had now been
completed. The project had been undertaken in liaison with EDM Group Ltd
who specialised in providing high volume, bulk document scanning and
digitisation services. Once the Fund had completed a quality control exercise
on the returned records, it will instruct EDM Group Ltd to destroy the physical
fiche records.
The implementation of the member self-service website, My Pension
Online, a further functionality linked to Altair had been launched in June 2021.
The Fund had commenced a programme to invite scheme members to register
for My Pension Online and at the time of preparing this report, individual letters
had been issued to over 51,300 active and deferred members inviting them to
begin the process of registering for My Pension Online. By the end of
September 2021, a total of 7,256 members had completed their registration for
My Pension Online.
RESOLVED that the Committee notes the workloads and performance
levels outlined in the report.
44/21
EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC RESOLVED to move that under
Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public be excluded
from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that in view
of the nature of the business, that if members of the public were present exempt
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972 would be disclosed to them and the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.
SUMMARY OF PROCEEDINGS CONDUCTED AFTER THE PUBLIC HAD
BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THE MEETING
1.

To receive declarations of interest (if any)

2.

To consider the exempt report of the Director of Finance & ICT on
Local Government Pension Scheme Investment Pooling (contains
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person (including the Authority holding that information))

7

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4(a)

PUBLIC

FOR PUBLICATION
DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
PENSIONS AND INVESTMENTS COMMITTEE
8 December 2021
Report of the Director of Finance & ICT
Climate Risk Report
1. Purpose
1.1 To present Derbyshire Pension Fund’s (the Pension Fund/Fund) Climate
Risk Report dated November 2021, prepared by LGPS Central Limited, to the
Pensions and Investments Committee.
2. Information and Analysis
2.1 Climate Risk Report
LGPS Central Limited (LGPSC) has prepared a Climate Risk Report for the
Fund structured around the Taskforce for Climate-related Financial
Disclosures’ (TCFD) four thematic areas of: governance; strategy; risk
management; and metrics and targets. It includes the assessment of
financially material climate-related risks within the Pension Fund’s investment
portfolio, highlights climate-related opportunities and provides a base to set an
annual Climate Stewardship Plan for the Pension Fund.
This is the second Climate Risk Report prepared by LGPSC, with the first
report being presented to the Pensions and Investments Committee in March
2020.
Recognising that there is considerable uncertainty in the crystallisation
pathway for climate risk, LGPSC believes that a suite of carbon risk metrics
and climate scenario analysis currently provides the most appropriate method

PHR-1274

Page1 9

PUBLIC

of analysing climate risk to support the development of a detailed strategy for
integrating climate risk into investment decisions.
LGPSC’s contractual arrangements with the third-party provider of the carbon
risk metrics data prevents the publication of the full Climate Risk Report
because the report contains some propriatary information in respect of
individual investment manager and stock holding carbon metrics, which is
subject to a non-disclosure clause. The full report will be presented in the
restricted part of the meeting. However, a public version of the report, which
provides largely the same degree of overall portfolio and asset class
information but omits the propriatary information noted above, is attached as
Appendix 2.
2.2 Governance
The Climate Risk Report notes that the Fund has made considerable progress
in terms of its responsible investment and climate change practice in the last
16 months. In LGPSC’s first Climate Risk Report, LGPSC issued 12
governance recommendations, all with medium term horizons. The November
2021 LGPSC Climate Risk Report notes that eleven of these recommendation
have been completed. The one remaining recommendation relates to the
Fund signing-up to the new 2020 UK Stewardship Code, particuarly Principle
7 which refers to climate risk. The Inhouse Investment Management Team
(IIMT) note that the Fund was previously a Tier 1 signatory to the Financial
Reporting Council’s 2012 UK Stewardship Code. This has been recently
replaced with the 2020 UK Stewardship Code, which requires organisations to
reapply to achieve signatory status. The IIMT expects that the Fund will report
against the code in 2022.
2.3 Climate Scenario Analysis
The LGPSC Climate Risk Report includes the climate scenario analysis
included in LGPSC’s first report, using data at 31 July 2019. Given the longterm nature of the scenario analysis, it is not approriate to re-run the analysis
on an annual basis. The scenario analysis has been carried out at the asset
class level and estimates the effects of different climate scenarios on key
financial parameters (e.g. risk and return) over a selection of time periods.
The climate scenario analysis covers: (i) the actual asset allocation at 31 July
2019 (the reporting date used Fund’s first Disclosures Report); (ii) the
strategic asset allocation benchmark at 31 July 2019; and (iii) an alternative
strategic asset allocation benchmark (the alternative allocation) which is a

PHR-1274

Page2 10

PUBLIC

close proxy for the Fund’s new final strategic asset allocation benchmark
which will become effective on 1 January 2022.
Key findings of the climate scenario analysis in relation to the alternative
allocation are:
 A 2°C scenario would have a positive impact on the Fund’s returns
considering both a timeline to 2030 and to 2050. This positive impact is
boosted by the 29% allocation to Global Sustainable Equities in the
alternative allocation.
 A 3°C scenario (which is in line with the current greenhouse gas
trajectory) has a mildly positive impact on the Fund’s annual returns.
 A 4°C scenario would reduce the Fund’s annual returns, with most
asset classes expected to experience negative returns.
The scenario analysis produces more positive relative returns for the
alternative allocation under a 2°C and a 3°C scenario than the actual
allocation, and the benchmark allocation, at 31 July 2019. Under a 4°C
scenario, returns across all three scenarios are negatively impacted.
The scenario analysis supports the Fund’s ongoing transition to the new final
strategic asset allocation benchmark from 1 January 2022.
It should be noted, that the climate scenario analysis only forecasts the
climate related impact on relative returns, and does not take account of any
other factors which may have an impact including economic and market
conditions; political and geopolitical events; monetary policy conditions, etc. It
is also important to note that the asset allocation required to capture the
upside under one scenario, may have a negative impact under an alternative
scenario.
Climate stress testing analysis suggests that should a 2°C scenario suddenly
be priced in by the market, the Fund could benefit in terms of financial returns,
whereas the opposite is true should a 4°C scenario be priced in by the market.
2.4 Alternative Asset Class Review
The LGPSC Climate Risk Reports highlights that the poor availability of data
in respect of asset classes other than listed equities and investment grade
bonds prevents the preparation of carbon metrics in respect of these asset
classes (e.g. private equity; infrastructure; fixed income; private debt &
diversified multi-asset credit; property, etc).

PHR-1274

Page3 11

PUBLIC

The IIMT plans to carry-out a review of these asset classes in the next six to
twelve months to better understand the climate related risks and opportunities
of these investments.
2.5 Climate Stewardship Plan
The LGPSC Climate Risk Report sets out a review of the progress made in
respect of the Fund’s inaugural Climate Stewardship Plan. Stewardship
activities remain an important aspect of the Fund’s approach to managing
climate risk. The Fund expects all investee companies to manage material
risks, including climate change, and the Fund believes that climate risk
management can be meaningfully improved through focussed stewardship
activities by investors. As a largely externally managed pension fund, the
identification and assessment of climate-related risks is also the responsibility
of individual fund managers appointed by the Fund. Existing fund managers
are monitored on a regular basis to review the integration of climate risks into
the portfolio management, and to understand their engagement activities.
The IIMT note that eight of the nine companies included in the Fund’s current
Climate Stewardship Plan are covered by the Transition Pathway Initiative
(TPI). The TPI framework evaluates companies based on their climate risk
management quality and carbon performance in terms of alignment with the
Paris Agreement. The former includes an assessment of policies, strategy,
risk management and targets, with the TPI awarding a quality level to each
company assessed under the framework, ranging from Level 0 – unaware of
(or not acknowledging climate change) to Level 4* - satisfies all management
quality criteria. Of these eight companies covered by the TPI framework,
seven were awarded the top two scores achievable in respect of the climate
risk management quality assessment (Level 4 & Level 4*), and one was
awarded a Level 3 score.
In terms of carbon performance and alignment with the Paris Agreement, TPI
assessed that two companies covered were below 2°C aligned; 1 company
had Paris pledges; and 4 companies were not Paris aligned. One company
assessed from a climate risk management quality perspective was not
assessed in terms of carbon performance.
Since the preparation of the Fund’s Climate Stewardship Plan, the Fund has
sold several investments which were included in the inaugural Climate
Stewardship Plan. Furthermore, the transition to the Fund’s new final
strategic asset allocation benchmark by 1 January 2022 will see further sales
from investments included in the existing Climate Stewardship Plan. As a

PHR-1274

Page4 12

PUBLIC

result, the Fund, in collaboration with LGPSC, has developed a forward
Climate Stewardship Plan which will include targeted engagement with
investee companies of particular significance to the Fund’s portfolio following
the transition to the Fund’s new final strategic asset allocation benchmark.
The forward Climate Stewardship Plan includes: BP; CRH; Gazprom PA; Rio
Tinto; Shell; and Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing.
2.6 Carbon Risk Metrics
Carbon risk metrics analysis on the Fund’s listed equities (52.9% of total
investment assets at 31 March 2021) and investment grade bond (6.1% of
total investment assets at 31 March 2021) portfolios considers: portfolio
carbon footprint (weighted average carbon intensity); fossil fuel exposure;
thermal coal exposure; and clean technology (portfolio weight in companies
whose products and services include clean technology).
Key findings of the carbon risk metrics analysis are:
 The Fund’s Total Quoted Equities portfolio is around 27% less carbon
intensive than the blended benchmark; 37% lower than the 2020
Benchmark (the blended benchmark is based on the regional allocations of the portfolio).
 Each regional equity portfolio has a lower carbon footprint that its regional
benchmark.
 The Fund’s Total Quoted Equities portfolio has around 25% less weight in
fossil fuel reserves than the blended benchmark, 44% lower than the 2020
benchmark.
 The Fund’s Total Quoted Equities portfolio weight in thermal coal reserves
is 29% lower than the blended benchmark.
 The Fund’s Total Quoted Equities portfolio has around a 12% lower
exposure to clean technology than the blended portfolio benchmark.
 The Fund’s investment grade bond portfolio is around 20% more carbon
efficient than the benchmark.
The LGPSC Climate Risk Report reports that the Total Quoted Equities weight
in fossil fuels reserves was 6.53% at 31 March 2021. The difference between
this reported weight in fossil fuel reserves and the IIMT’s quoted internal
estimate of around 2.5% reflects two key drivers:
1. The LGPSC weight relates to the Total Quoted Equities portfolio, whereas
the IIMT estimate relates to the Fund’s total investment assets; listed equities
only account for around 52% of the total investment assets; and
2. The IIMT’s esimate includes the Fund’s actual holdings in the widely
recongnised oil producing majors (ExxonMobil; Chevron; Total Energies; BP;

PHR-1274

Page5 13

PUBLIC

Royal Dutch Shell; ConocoPhillips; and Eni), together with a revenue weighted
estimate in respect of the major mining companies (e.g. BHP Group; Rio
Tinto; Anglo American; Glencore, etc). The methodology used in the LGPSC
Climate Risk Report to calculate the weight in fossil fuel reserves differs and
includes the full weight of any company which has either fossil fuel reserves,
thermal coal reserves or derives more than 30% of their energy mix from coal
power, regardless of how much those activities/reserves represent of the
company’s total operations.
For example, the full weight of BHP Group (0.16%) is included in the
weightings, even though the associated revenues from these
activities/reserves account for less than 10% of total company revenues. To
put the methodology further into context, the FTSE All World benchmark
weight in fossil fuel reserves was reported as 6.47% at 31 March 2021, of
which the weighting in the widely recognised oil producing majors was 1.42%.
The remaining 5.05% cuts across multiple companies; sectors, industries and
geographies.
The measure for clean technology exposure should be treated with some
caution as there appears to be a moderate positive correlation in the dataset
between sectors that have a high carbon intensity and those that have a
higher weight in clean technology. Furthermore, the analysis takes no account
of the Fund’s unquoted onshore & offshore, solar and hydro renewable energy
infrastructure investments. These investments & commitments were in excess
of £275m at 31 March 2021.
2.7 Climate Strategy Targets
The Fund developed a standalone Climate Strategy which was approved by
Committee in November 2020. The Climate Strategy sets out the Fund’s
approach to addressing the risks and opportunities related to climate change,
including a statement that the Fund supports the ambitions of the Paris
Agreement, and aims to achieve a portfolio of assets with net zero carbon
emissions by 2050.
The Climate Strategy included two targets: (i) reduce the carbon footprint
(Scope 1 & 2) of the Fund’s listed equity portfolio by at least 30% relative to
the weighted benchmark in 2020 by the end of 2025; and (ii) invest at least
30% of the Fund portfolio in low carbon & sustainable investments by the end
of 2025.

PHR-1274

Page6 14

PUBLIC

The table below, shows the progress to date in respect of the two targets:
Target

(1) Reduce the carbon footprint (Scope 1 & 2) of the
Fund’s listed equity portfolio by at least 30% relative to
the weighted benchmark in 2020 by the end of 2025
(2) Invest at least 30% of the Fund portfolio in low
carbon & sustainable investments by the end of 2025

Target by
end of 2025

Actual at 31
March 2021

(30%)

(37%)

30%

19%

The Fund has already achieved the first target and expects to make further
progress on this measure and significant progress in respect of the second
target in 2021-22 as part of the ongoing move to the new final strategic asset
allocation benchmark. It is expected that additional material progress will need
to be supported by emissions reductions by companies in the Fund’s
investment universe in order to avoid the risk of unbalancing the equity
portfolio and limiting diversification.
It should be noted that any improvement in the consistency, comparability and
quality of climate-related data is likely to have an impact on the Fund’s carbon
metrics relative to the targets noted above.
The targets will be reviewed in 2023, and at least every three years thereafter,
and are expected to increase in line with the stated ambition of achieving a
portfolio of assets with net zero carbon emissions by 2050. The impact of the
significant ongoing transitions on performance and risk within the investment
portfolio will be closely monitored and assessed.
2.8 Climate-Related Disclosures
In collaboration with LGPSC, the Fund has prepared a second Climate-related
Disclosures Report (the Disclosures Report) for publication, which includes
the high level results of the climate scenario analysis, carbon risk metrics
analysis and progress against the Fund’s Climate Strategy targets. The
Disclosures Report also includes information on the Fund’s governance of
climate risk and on the Fund’s climate-related stewardship activities.
Publication of a Climate-related Disclosures Report represents best practice.
3. Implications
3.1

Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the
preparation of the report.

PHR-1274

Page7 15

PUBLIC

4. Background Papers
4.1

Papers held in the Investment Section.

5. Appendices
5.1
5.2

Appendix 1 – Implications.
Appendix 2 – LGPSC Climate Risk Report

6. Recommendation(s)
That Committee:
a) notes the LGPSC Climate Risk Report attached as Appendix 2.

Report Author:

PHR-1274

Peter Handford
Director of Finance & ICT

Page8 16

PUBLIC

Appendix 1

Implications
Financial
1.1 None
Legal
2.1 None
Human Resources
3.1 None
Information Technology
4.1 None
Equalities Impact
5.1 None
Corporate objectives and priorities for change
6.1 None
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability,
Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding)
7.1 None

PHR-1274

Page9 17

This page is intentionally left blank

P REPA RED BY L GP S C EN T R A L L IMI T ED

Derbyshire Pension Fund
2021 Climate Risk Report
NOV EMBER 2021

Page 19

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

Contents
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

3

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONSIDERATIONS

5

2.1 GOVERNANCE

5

2.2 STRATEGY

5

2.3 RISK MANAGEMENT

5

2.4 METRICS & TARGETS

6

7

3.0 INTRODUCTION
3.1 SCOPE OF THE REPORT

7

3.2 CLIMATE CHANGE AS A FIDUCIARY ISSUE

7

9

4.0 ANALYSIS
4.1 GOVERNANCE

9

4.1.1 SCOPE

9

4.1.2 KEY FINDINGS

9

4.1.3 FURTHER ACTIONS

12

4.2 STRATEGY

13

4.2.1 CLIMATE SCENARIO ANALYSIS

13

4.2.2 ALTERNATIVE ASSET CLASS REVIEW

22

4.3 RISK MANAGEMENT

23

4.3.1 CLIMATE STEWARDSHIP PLAN SCOPE

23

4.3.2 COMPANY ENGAGEMENT UPDATE

24

4.4 METRICS AND TARGETS

30

4.4.1 SCOPE AND DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

30

4.4.2 TOTAL EQUITIES

32

4.4.3 INVESTMENT GRADE CORPORATE BONDS

36

5.0 CONCLUSION

37

6.0 GLOSSARY

38

7.0 REFERENCES

39

8.0 IMPORTANT INFORMATION

40

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 20
2

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

1.0 Executive Summary
Governance Recommendations and Considerations Implemented by DPF
12
10
8

Disclosed the
Fund’s first
standalone
TCFD Report

6
4
2
0

Completed
(100%)

Significant
Progress (75%)

In Progress
(50%)

Room for
Improvement (25%)

CA100+ Benchmark Alignment of CSP Companies

75% of Climate
Stewardship Plan
Companies (CSP) with
TPI Management
Quality 4/4*

Published
a Climate
Strategy

No Action
(0%)

19% of the Fund
invested / committed
in low carbon
and sustainable
investments as at
31st March 2021

No, does not
meet any criteria
Partial, meets
some criteria

Total Equities
carbon footprint
37.4% below
2020 weighted
benchmark

Yes, meets all
criteria

Published
Responsible
Investment
Framework

Not currently
assessed

Total Equities Carbon Footprint (tCO₂e/$m revenue)1

Total Equities
2021

Total Equities
2019

0

50

100

150

Carbon Footprint (tCO2e/$m revenue)
PF

1

BM

200

23.3% carbon
reduction in Total
Equities portfolio
since 31st July 2019

Increased carbon
efficiency in 4
out of 6 regional
equity strategies.

3.8 percentage point
reduction in Total
Equities exposure to
fossil fuels from 10.3%
in December 2019 to
6.5% in March 2021

All regional
strategies equal
or more carbon
efficient than the
benchmark

Certain Information @ 2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission.

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 21
3

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

This Report is Derbyshire Pension Fund’s (“DPF” or “the Fund”) second Climate Risk Report. In February 2020, DPF received its first
Climate Risk Report. Through a combination of bottom-up and top-down analysis, the report was designed to allow DPF a view of the
climate risk held throughout its entire asset portfolio, accompanied by proposed actions the Fund could take to manage and reduce
that risk.
The purpose of this second Climate Risk Report is threefold. We aim to analyse progress against the baseline of data and
recommendations established in the first report; to reassess the financially material risks and opportunities the Fund may be
exposed to; and, to identify a series of further measures by which DPF can continue to manage material climate risks.
The report aims to accompany and complement the climate-related work already in progress at DPF. In a similar fashion to the first
report, wherein many of our recommendations commendably overlapped with steps the Fund had already committed to, this report
is designed as a resource to be drawn on in conjunction with the Fund’s own standalone climate research.
The report is structured to align with the four pillars of the Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and facilitates
the Fund’s annual public disclosure against this framework. We provide below a summary of the key findings from each section2.

GOVERNANCE
The Fund has made good progress in enhancing its responsible investment and climate change practice in the last 16 months.
This includes developing a Climate Strategy, formulating a Responsible Investment Framework, and publishing its first TCFD
Report. Out of the 12 recommendations and considerations issued in the first Climate Risk Report, 92% have been completed
and 8% are in progress.

STRATEGY
The Climate Scenario Analysis suggests that of the three asset allocations analysed, the alternative asset allocation is best
positioned to capture upside or “low carbon transition premium” in a 2°C scenario. From this result, we can infer that the
Fund’s Final Strategic Asset Allocation Benchmark (SAAB) is, based on Mercer’s model, likely to deliver consistently better
results from a climate perspective to 2030, 2050 and 2100 in a 2°C scenario than the Fund’s previous SAAB.

RISK MANAGEMENT
We have reviewed ongoing engagements with the eight companies in the Fund’s Climate Stewardship Plan. Currently, most of
these companies have not attained all of the indicators within the CA100+ benchmark assessment, and they are not aligned
with a 1.5°C scenario. However, most of the companies are making clear progress which is evidenced by achievement of
several measures of success.

METRICS & TARGETS
The Carbon Risk Metrics we have analysed suggest that climate risk is better managed by the Fund than in the benchmarks.
Between 31st July 2019 and 31st March 2021, the carbon footprint of the Total Portfolio decreased by 23.4%. At the latter
date, the Total Equity carbon footprint was 37.4% more carbon efficient than the 2020 weighted benchmark. Exposure of the
Total Portfolio to fossil fuel reserves also decreased between 2019 and 2021, and as at the latter date 19.0% of the Fund was
invested / committed in low carbon and sustainable investments.
It should be noted that there is considerable uncertainty in the crystallisation pathway for climate risk. Well known concepts such
as stranded asset risk are not homogenous, with uncertainty stemming from value chains, the pass-through cost of carbon, policy
fragmentation, certain companies being too big to fail, and so on. The likelihood of asset stranding depends on the commodity, the
asset quality, the customer base, the rate of technological change, cost curve dynamics, mitigating strategies, and ability of the
market to price risk & timing thereof. It is also a risk that cannot be fully diversified. Almost all asset classes, sectors and regions
are likely to be affected by the physical, policy, or market-related consequences of climate change over the long term. It is not a risk
reserved solely to oil & gas or listed equities.
It is our aim that this Climate Risk Report will assist the Fund in continuing its journey to integrate climate risk into its
investment decisions.
2

Source of all carbon risk metrics data: MSCI ESG. Attention is drawn to Section 8.0 “Important Information”

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 22
4

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

2.0 Recommendations and
Considerations
2.1 Governance
CATEGORY

PORTFOLIO

RECOMMENDED ACTION

REPORT REFERENCE

Governance

Total Fund

• R: Continue to implement the recommendations and considerations from
the 2020 Climate Risk Report

§4.1

2.2 Strategy
CATEGORY

PORTFOLIO

RECOMMENDED ACTION

REPORT REFERENCE

Strategy

Alternative
Asset
Classes

• R: Explore the potential options to monitor and manage climate risk in
alternative asset classes

§4.2

2.3 Risk Management
CATEGORY

PORTFOLIO

RECOMMENDED ACTION

REPORT REFERENCE

Company
Stewardship

Total
Equities

• R: Continue to engage the companies highlighted in the Climate
Stewardship Plan through selected stewardship partners

§4.3.2

• R: Report progress in the next Climate Risk Report

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 23
5

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

2.4 Metrics & Targets
These recommendations are based on carbon risk metrics data as of 31st March 2021. We note that upcoming asset allocation
changes within the Fund may nullify several of the actions. DPF expect to exit the US Equity, European Equity and Asia-Pacific ExJapan Equity portfolios by 31st December 2021, with the proceeds being reinvested into Global Sustainable Equities. Both the Japan
Equity and Emerging Market Equity portfolios are also being consolidated.
CATEGORY

PORTFOLIO

RECOMMENDED ACTION

REPORT REFERENCE

Metrics

Total Fund

• R: Repeat Carbon Risk Metrics analysis annually

§4.4.1

• R: Report annually on progress on climate risk using the TCFD Framework
• R: Continue to include key carbon intensive and fossil fuel stocks in the
Climate Stewardship Plan
• R: Continue to monitor manager’s stewardship activities with key carbon
intensive and fossil fuel holdings
Fixed Income
(Investment
Grade
Bonds)

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

• R: Monitor the manager’s approach to managing climate risk within
their portfolio, particularly where there is an absence of reporting GHG
emissions data

§4.4.3

• R: Monitor engagement with key carbon intensive and fossil fuel holdings

Page 24
6

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

3.0 Introduction
3.1 Scope of the Report
In February 2020 DPF received its first Climate Risk Report. Through a combination of top-down and bottom-up analyses the report
aimed to identify the nature and magnitude of the Fund’s climate-related risks, and suggest actions that could be taken to manage
the risk.
The purpose of this report is threefold. We aim to analyse progress against the baseline of data and recommendations established
in the first report; to reassess the financially material risks and opportunities the Fund may be exposed to; and, to identify a series of
further measures by which DPF can continue to manage material climate risks.
Our mode of analysis is consistent with the recommendations of the Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). The
TCFD set out four disclosure pillars and each section in chapter four of this report corresponds to one of those pillars (Table 3.1.1).
Our analyses aim to facilitate the Fund’s annual disclosure against the TCFD framework.
TABLE 3.1.1: THE FOUR PILLARS OF TCFD RECOMMENDED DISCLOSURE
PILLAR

ABOUT

REPORT REFERENCE

Governance

Organisations should describe how climate-related risks and opportunities are assessed and
managed by an organisation’s management team and overseen by its board.

§4.1

Strategy

Organisations should disclose the actual and potential impacts of climate-related risks and
opportunities on their businesses, strategy, and financial planning.

§4.2

Risk Management

Organisations should disclose how they identify, assess and manage climate risk.

§4.3

Metrics and Targets

Organisations should disclose the metrics and targets used to assess and manage relevant
climate-related risks and opportunities.

§4.4

3.2 Climate Change as a Fiduciary Issue
Human activities are estimated to have caused approximately 1.0°C of global warming above pre-industrial levels. Most of this
warming has occurred in the past 35 years, with the five warmest years on record taking place since 2010. Between the years
2006-2015, the observed global mean surface temperature was 0.87°C higher than the average over the 1950-1990 period. The
overwhelming scientific consensus is that the observed climatic changes are primarily the result of human activities including
electricity and heat production, agriculture and land use change, industry, and transport (Figure 3.2.1).
Figure 3.2.1: Total anthropogenic Green House Gas (“GHG”) emissions (GtCO₂eq/yr) by economic sectors.

GLOBAL GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS BY SECTOR

18.4

24.2

3.2
5.2
16.2

15.3

Energy use in Industry

Direct Industrial Processes

Transport

Waste

Energy use in buildings

Agriculture, Forestry and Land use

Other Energy

17.5

Source: Climate Watch, the World Resources Institute (2020).

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 25
7

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

Despite the need for urgent action, the majority of climate scientists anticipate that with the current response to climate change, the
world will be between 2°C and 4°C warmer by 2100, with significant regional variations. This is substantially higher than the Paris
Climate Change Agreement, which reflects a collective goal to hold the increase in the climate’s mean global surface temperature to
well below 2°C above preindustrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C.
The magnitude and speed of a Paris-aligned climate transition leads to climate-related risks and opportunities about which investors
ought, as far as is possible, be aware. The Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure divides climate risks into two major
categories. The first is the transition risk that could crystallise as society attempts to move into a low-carbon economy, and the
second is the physical damages that are likely to occur as the natural world changes (Tables 3.2.1 and 3.2.2).
TABLE 3.2.1: EXAMPLES OF TRANSITION RISKS.
POLICY

• Increased pricing of GHG emissions
• Enhanced emissions-reporting obligations
• Mandates on and regulation of existing products and services
• Exposure to litigation

TECHNOLOGY

• Substitution of existing products and services with lower emissions options
• Unsuccessful investment in new technologies
• Costs to transition to lower emissions technology

MARKET

• Changing consumer behaviour
• Uncertainty in market signals
• Increased cost of raw materials

REPUTATION

• Shifts in consumer preferences
• Stigmatisation of sector
• Increased stakeholder concern or negative stakeholder feedback

Source: Taskforce on Climate Related Financial Disclosures (2017)

TABLE 3.2.2: EXAMPLES OF PHYSICAL RISKS
ACUTE

• Increased severity of extreme weather events, including more severe storms, wildfires and droughts.

CHRONIC

• Changes in precipitation patterns and extreme variability in weather patterns
• Rising mean temperatures
• Rising sea levels

Source: Taskforce on Climate Related Financial Disclosures (2017)

Climate change is for asset owners a risk that cannot be fully diversified. Almost all asset classes, sectors and regions are likely to
be affected by the physical, policy or market-related consequences of climate change over the long term. Climate risk is not reserved
to the oil & gas and power generation sectors, but also to downstream sectors. Investors focussing exclusively on primary energy
suppliers could fail to identify material climate risks in other sectors. Speaking generally, a Paris-aligned transition to a low carbon
economy would lead to lower economic damages and is for long-term investors preferable to alternative climate scenarios.
For investors, climate change is a fiduciary issue. Local authority pension funds typically have multidecadal time horizons, with both
their investment beliefs and liability profiles thoroughly long-term. Significant uncertainty remains, and no single tool can provide an
accurate and complete observation on a pension fund’s climate risk. For responsible investors looking to proactively manage climate
risk, a combination of metrics and methodologies represents the best possible information set currently available.

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 26
8

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

4.0 Analysis
4.1 Governance
4.1.1 SCOPE
In the Fund’s 2020 Climate Risk Report we reviewed the Fund’s published documentation and governance arrangements from the
perspective of climate strategy setting. We identified areas in which the Fund’s governance and policies could further embed and
normalise the management of climate risk. The purpose of this section is to refresh this review. We provide a progress update against
the recommendations and considerations issued in the first report and suggest further policy extensions the Fund could consider.
We recognise that the Fund’s existing climate governance is already to a high standard, and our perspectives offered below are
suggestive only.

4.1.2 KEY FINDINGS
The Fund has made considerable progress in terms of its responsible investment and climate change practice in the last 16 months.
In November 2020, the Fund published its first Climate Strategy which we find to be a clear, ambitious document that supports the
Fund’s investment objectives. In tandem, the Fund released its Responsible Investment Framework, a comprehensive policy with
three distinct strategic pillars (Selection, Stewardship, Transparency & Disclosure). The Framework explicitly references the Fund’s
investment beliefs, a sign of robust RI integration within the Fund’s investment approach. Climate change has also featured as a
regular item on the agenda for Pensions & Investments Committee meetings, with numerous training sessions held during the
drafting and publication of the Fund’s RI Framework and Climate Strategy.
We issued 12 recommendations and considerations in the last Climate Risk Report, all with medium term horizons (i.e. they were not
designed to be implemented immediately). We also note that it was at the Fund’s full discretion to decide which recommendations
were most appropriate to execute. Given the already high volume of RI activity within the Fund, we acknowledge that a degree of
prioritisation will have been required and the following progress update should be interpreted with this in mind. 11 recommendations
have been completed whilst the remaining one is in progress. Figure 4.1.2.1 provides a high-level summary of the progress made,
while the tables below provide a more comprehensive overview of the actions taken by DPF.
Figure 4.1.2.1: Progress against the governance recommendations and considerations from the 2020 Climate Risk Report.
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

Completed (100%)

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Significant Progress
(75%)

In Progress (50%)

Room for
Improvement (25%)

No Action (0%)

Page 27
9

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

RECOMMENDATIONS PROGRESS
NO.

1
2
3
4

RECOMMENDATION

PROGRESS UPDATE

STATUS

Continue to schedule time
at Pensions & Investments
Committee meetings for the
discussion of climate-related
risks and climate strategy

Climate change has been included as a regular item on Pensions & Investments
Committee meeting. A stewardship report is taken to the committee on a
quarterly basis and receives extensive discussion.

Consider training specifically
in climate-risk for
members of the Pensions &
Investments Committee

The Pensions & Investments received extensive training on climate change and
RI in 2020. Several dedicated sessions were held as part of the drafting and
publication Fund’s RI Framework and Climate Strategy.

Integrate consideration of
climate-related risks into the
processes for considering
‘traditional’ risks

The Fund’s Climate Strategy explicitly acknowledges the Fund’s belief that
climate change should be considered alongside ‘traditional risks’ as part of asset
allocation, manager selection and individual investment decisions.

Publish a Climate Strategy,
aligned with TCFD

The Fund published a Climate Strategy in November 2020. The strategy
recognises the importance of climate change and draws together the Fund’s
climate related policies, statements and targets into one consolidated
document. The document considers: more detailed climate-related investment
beliefs; integration of climate risks into asset allocation and asset selection;
climate stewardship activities; and targets for carbon reduction and
sustainable investment.

5

Consider offering
public support for the
Paris Agreement

The Fund has given public support to the Paris Agreement through its Climate
Strategy (p.3)

6

Publish more detailed
climate-related
Investment Beliefs

The Fund has published more detailed climate-related beliefs via its
Climate Strategy (p.4 and p.5).

Use the Climate Strategy to
inform the Fund’s updated
approach to the new UK
Stewardship Code particularly
Principle 7 which refers
specifically to climate risk

The Fund’s Responsible Investment Framework states the Fund’s intention to
fully comply with the 2020 Stewardship Code3. It is likely that the Fund will report
against the code in 2022.

7

PROGRESS

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

0%

No Action

75%

Significant Progress

25%

Room for Improvement

100%

Completed

50%

In Progress

50%

The Fund was previously a Tier 1 Signatory to the Financial Reporting Council’s 2012 UK Stewardship Code. This has been recently replaced with the 2020 Stewardship Code, which requires organisations
to reapply to achieve signatory status.

3

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 28
10

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

NO.

8
9
10
11
12

RECOMMENDATION

PROGRESS UPDATE

Consider including references
to climate strategy or climate
risk oversight in the Fund’s
Risk Register.

Climate Risk is included in the Fund’s Risk Register.

Consider including references
to climate strategy or climate
risk oversight in the Fund’s
Service Plan.

References to both climate risk and the Fund’s Climate Strategy are included in
the Fund’s Service Plan. As part of the Plan, the development of a Responsible
Investment Framework and Climate Strategy are listed as medium-term priorities
for the Fund as well as Key Performance Indicators.

Consider including references
to climate strategy or climate
risk oversight in the Fund’s
Voting Policy.

The Fund’s voting policy covers directly held investments in the United Kingdom
and North America. A significant proportion of the Fund’s assets are managed
through pooled products, where the voting activity is carried out by external
investment managers. Moving forward, the Fund expects an increasing
proportion of its assets to be managed by LGPS Central. In light of this, the Fund’s
votes will be cast according to LGPS Central’s Voting Policy, which includes
several measures designed to hold boards to account in terms of climate risk
management. This includes voting against the re-election of board members
where climate risk management is deemed insufficient and votes against the
annual report where climate-related disclosures are insufficient.

Consider including references
to climate strategy or
climate risk oversight in the
Fund’s Governance Policy &
Compliance Statement.

This recommendation has been addressed via the inclusion of a dedicated section
on climate risk governance within its TCFD Report.

Publicly support the TCFD and
adopt its recommendations
for DPF’s climate disclosure

The Fund published its first TCFD-compliant report in September 2020. The Fund
has committed to disclosing biannually against the framework.

PROGRESS

STATUS

100%

100%

No Action

75%

Significant Progress

25%

Room for Improvement

100%

Completed

50%

In Progress

Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

100%

100%

0%

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1

100%

Page 29
11

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

4.1.3 FURTHER ACTIONS
CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY
The Climate Change Strategy sets out Derbyshire Pension Fund’s approach to addressing the risks and opportunities related to
climate change. The document carries three objectives, against each of which the Fund can record progress:
OBJECTIVE

PROGRESS

Access the best information on the risk and opportunities presented by
climate change.

Receipt and consideration of this Climate Risk Report

Ensure the Fund’s investment portfolio is resilient to
climate-related risks.

Allocation of 29% to Global Sustainable Equities.

Decarbonise its portfolio.

The Fund’s Total Equity carbon footprint decreased by 23.3% between
July 2019 and March 2021.

Implementation of a Climate Stewardship Plan.

The Climate Strategy has two explicit targets which we find to be ambitious and consistent with the Fund’s wider investment
objectives. Progress against each of the targets is shown below. It should be noted that the Climate Strategy runs over the long-term,
so the below status is just an initial update.
TARGET

STATUS

Reduce the carbon footprint by 30% relative to the weighted benchmark
in 2020 by the end of 2025

The Fund’s Total Equities carbon footprint 37.4% below 2020
weighted benchmark

Invest at least 30% of the Fund portfolio in low carbon & sustainable
investments by the end of 2025.

The Fund has recently made an allocation to Global Sustainable
Equities. As at 31st March 2021, 19.0% of the Fund was invested in global
sustainable or low carbon equities. This allocation is expected to be in
excess of 30% by late 2021/ early 2022.

RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONSIDERATIONS
The following recommendations were successfully achieved in 2020 but due to their ongoing nature we recommend they continue
as regular practice in future years.
• Continue to schedule time at Pensions & Investments Committee meetings for the discussion of climate-related risks and climate
strategy. Schedule one training session on general RI matters, and one climate-specific training per year
• Consider training specifically in climate-risk for members of the Pensions & Investments Committee
• Report against the TCFD recommendations
We recommend that the following recommendation is carried over from the 2020 Climate Risk Report.
• Use the Climate Strategy to inform the Fund’s updated approach to the new UK Stewardship Code particularly Principle 7 which
refers specifically to climate risk

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 30
12

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

4.2 Strategy
4.2.1 CLIMATE SCENARIO ANALYSIS
CLIMATE SCENARIO ANALYSIS INTRODUCTION
In order to address the TCFD Recommendation under Strategy
part (c), we utilised the services of Mercer LLC (Mercer) to
conduct Climate Scenario Analysis of the Fund’s investment
portfolio. Climate Scenario Analysis estimates the effects on
key financial parameters (such as risk and return) that could
result from plausible climate scenarios. In this report the
scenarios are defined according to the change since preindustrial times in mean global surface temperatures, and we
consider three scenarios: 2°C, 3°C and 4°C. Mercer pioneered
Climate Scenario Analysis techniques in its 2011 and 2015
research reports. All results/ IP in the proceeding section
belong to Mercer.

WHY SHOULD A PENSION FUND CONDUCT CLIMATE
SCENARIO ANALYSIS?
Investors often use scenario analysis to support Strategic
Asset Allocation (SAA) and portfolio construction decisions, as
it helps to model potential risks and returns.
With a growing (but still early) understanding of the potential
impacts of climate change on investment performance (see
above) and following the recommendations of the TCFD,
more pension funds are electing to conduct Climate Scenario
Analysis. Climate Scenario Analysis helps investors to better
understand the short, medium and long term climate change
risks and opportunities associated with plausible climate
change scenarios, to understand the portfolio’s sensitivities to
such scenarios, and to build more resilient portfolios.
As we argue above, although the predictions made by climate
scientists have gained overwhelming consensus, there remains
a great deal of uncertainty for investors around the market
reaction to climate risks and changing climate policies. This
creates a strong argument for Climate Scenario Analysis to
understand the different possible eventualities across a range
of scenarios. We remain conscious that scenario analysis
(of any kind) requires by necessity the use of assumptions
about inherently unpredictable phenomena. Climate Scenario
Analysis is no different in this regard. We believe, however, that
investors looking to manage climate risk proactively ought to
attempt an ‘inference to the best explanation’ and we think the
Mercer’s model and approach to Climate Scenario Analysis is
the best available.
Mercer’s analysis considers three temperature scenarios
(2°C, 3°C and 4°C) across three time horizons (2030, 2050,
2100). Mercer’s analysis considers the following three types of
investor consequence:

• Opportunities: To what extent is the portfolio positioned
to benefit from the transition to a low carbon economy
(mitigation) and the solutions designed to build resilience to
physical damages (adaptation)?
• Physical Risk: To what extent is the portfolio at risk from
climate change-related physical damages and resource
scarcity, and over what timeframes?

MERCER’S CLIMATE SCENARIO ANALYSIS
METHODOLOGY IN BRIEF
The methodological approach is summarised below in
four steps.
STEP 1: CLIMATE-RELATED DATA GATHERING

The model captures developments in the collective
understanding of environmental science, and climate
change-related political and technology developments,
since 2015. This draws on Cambridge Econometric’s global
E3ME model, with comprehensive regional and sector data.
STEP 2: GENERATION OF CLIMATE SCENARIOS
& RISK FACTORS

These data are summarised by three climate change
scenarios (2°C, 3°C and 4°C) and four climate change risk
factors. The so-called ‘STIR’ risk factors - focused on both
transition risks and physical risks – include Spending,
Transition (policy and technology), Impacts, and Resources.
The model maps the relative impact of these risk factors
under three climate change scenarios.
STEP 3: MODEL RETURN IMPACTS BY ASSET CLASS
& SECTOR

The model estimates a ‘climate change impact on return’,
which is in addition to the traditional investment returns
currently expected for asset classes and sectors in
the future.
STEP 4: ANALYSE

The findings are used to provide commentary on the
portfolio implications of climate change, in particular
climate change risks and opportunities for the Fund.

• Transition Risk: To what extent is the portfolio at risk from the
transition to a low carbon economy, and over what timeframes?

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 31
13

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

CLIMATE CHANGE SCENARIOS
Three climate change scenarios have been developed in the study, each reflecting different climate change policy ambitions that
result in varying CO₂ emissions pathways and levels of economic damages related to climate change. These have been developed
using existing climate change models (Cambridge Econometric’s E3ME model) and through an extensive literature review. The
three scenarios used in the modelling are outlined below.

20C

A low carbon economy transformation most closely aligned with both successful implementation
of the Paris Agreement’s ambitions and the greatest chance of lessening physical damages. It
should be noted that the model’s 2°C scenario represents a 50% chance of staying below 2°C.

30C

Some climate change action but a failure both to meet the Paris Agreement 2ºC objective and
meaningfully alleviate anticipated physical damages

40C

Reflecting a fragmented policy pathway where current commitments are not implemented and
there is a serious failure to alleviate anticipated physical damages

RISK FACTORS

INTERPRETATION OF THE MAIN RESULTS

In order to consider the impact on investment returns and
volatility under the different climate change scenarios, Mercer
identified four climate change risk factors (“STIR Factors”) that
can be used to translate each of the climate change scenarios
(based on the outputs of the climate change modelling and
literature review) into the language of investments.

The main result produced by Mercer’s model is an estimated
impact on investment returns, given some particular pair of
(a) climate scenario and (b) time horizon, expressed either as
a per annum % or a cumulative %. This should be interpreted
as the climate-related impact on the estimated returns for
some particular portfolio or asset class, i.e. it is additional to
the (climate-unaware) expected mean return for that portfolio
or asset class. For example: if global equities are expected to
return 10% based on some particular asset pricing model, and
the climate scenario analysis estimates -1% climate-related
return impact, the net expected return for global equities would
be 9%. In this report we discuss only the “-1%” of the foregoing
example, i.e. the climate-related impact.

Transition factors – near-term
1. Spending: rate of investment spending to catalyse the
transition to a low carbon economy
2. Transition: development of technology and low carbon
solutions and climate change focused policy targets,
legislation and regulations aiming to reduce the risk of
further human-induced climate change
Physical risk factors – long-term
3. Impact of natural catastrophes: physical damages due to
acute weather incidence/severity; for example, extreme or
catastrophic events
4. Resource availability: long-term weather pattern changes —
for example, in temperature or precipitation — impacting the
availability of natural resources like water

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 32
14

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

SCENARIO ANALYSIS AND STRESS TESTING
While Mercer’s main results model annual incremental
changes in portfolio returns given certain climate scenarios,
it might be considered that a sudden pricing in of climate risk
could be more realistic than neat, annual averages. Therefore,
Mercer’s Climate Scenario Analysis also stress tested changes
in scenario probability and market awareness to prepare for
this eventuality. The results (below) estimate returns as a
single point in time impact over less than one year, rather than
an annualised response, with the model capitalising the return
impact into present value terms.
Under the low carbon stress test, Mercer models the shift
from the current policy trajectory (equivalent to a ~3.0°C
warming) to a 2°C scenario, towards alignment with the Paris
Agreement, with climate change information effectively pricedin by markets.
Under the physical risks stress test, Mercer model the shift
from the current policy trajectory towards a 4°C scenario with
climate change information once again effectively pricedin by markets. Given current global policies would result in
~3.0°C warming, this outcome would mean a more emissions
intensive scenario than existing policies, leading to higher
physical risks and a stronger likelihood of natural disasters4.
It is assumed in both stress tests that under business as usual
only 20% of climate change information is priced-in by markets
whereas the stress test shock assumes an increase of market
awareness to 80% of climate change-related information
being priced-in.

HOW CAN WE RECONCILE THE LONG-TERM NATURE
OF CLIMATE CHANGE AND THE SHORTER-TERM
INVESTMENT TIMESCALES?
Mercer’s analysis considers three timeframes, the longest of
which stretches to 2100. It is acknowledged that 2100 is very
long term from an investment perspective, given that strategic
investment advice is based on a modelling period of 10 years
and investment managers typically take investment decisions
on a 3 to 5-year timeframe, or less.
We believe the long-term perspective is worth considering
in Climate Scenario Analysis because climate change risks
become increasingly apparent post-2050 (e.g. physical
risks). Some physical risks that crystallise after 2050 are
made irreversible by shorter term action or inaction. As such
investors will increasingly need to consider the impacts of
their investments beyond traditional investment timeframes.
In addition, the Fund remains open to both new entrants and
future accrual, with liabilities stretching out well beyond 2050
and possibly to 2100.

We acknowledge, especially within the longer-term timeframes,
that the annualised results may appear more conservative than
what might be expected. This is due to the current limitations
in the data and methodology available for modelling climate
change, in particular physical damage risks, combined with
the myriad of climate change factors not yet captured by
available modelling approaches. This can result in the annual
“climate change impact on return” figures appearing relatively
small in absolute terms in some cases, though these are
often meaningful when considered on a cumulative basis. We,
therefore, encourage the Fund to focus on the relative, rather
than the actual, magnitude and direction.

CLIMATE SCENARIO ANALYSIS SCOPE
The analysis includes the whole of DPF’s investment portfolio.
The analysis is top-down, mapping each of DPF’s underlying
portfolios to an asset class that is featured within Mercer’s
model. The results are based on the Climate Scenario Analysis
conducted in the Fund’s 2020 Climate Risk Report and an
additional analysis commissioned by DPF in Q3 2020. The
analysis was not repeated in the 2021 Climate Risk Report as
its top-down nature makes it best suited to a bi-annual/ triannual refresh.
Three variations of DPF’s investment portfolio were analysed
by Mercer:
1. The Current Asset Allocation (invested as of 31st July 2019)
2. The Strategic Asset Allocation5
3. The Alternative Asset Allocation
We also include below DPF’s “Final Strategic Asset Allocation
Benchmark” (SAAB) which was agreed by the Pensions
Committee in November 2020. The asset breakdown is very
similar to the “Alternative Asset Allocation” analysed by Mercer.
The only differences between the two are:
• An additional 4% weight in UK Equities in the SAAB, with no
allocation to Small Cap
• 0.5% less weight in Infrastructure, with 0.5% more allocated
to Private Debt
• 1% less in Infrastructure, placed into Sustainable Infrastructure
Given the minimal changes between the two, we suggest that
Mercer’s analysis of the “Alternative Asset Allocation” is likely
to be a reliable proxy for the Final SAAB.

Mercer’s model assumes a 17% loss in global GDP by 2100 under a 4⁰C scenario. This is based on bottom-up inputs for three major ‘perils’ – coastal flooding, wildfire and agriculture. The 17% figure is
likely to be an under-estimate given this does not consider climate change tipping points, for example, which when incorporated in modelling efforts create more severe physical risk outcomes.
The “Strategic Asset Allocation” was DPF’s SAAB at the time of the first Climate Risk Report (February 2020). The SAAB was updated at the start of 2021 to the weightings found in Table 4.2.1.1.

4

5

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 33
15

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

TABLE 4.2.1.1 ASSET ALLOCATION VARIANTS ANALYSED
ASSET CLASS
CATEGORY

ASSET CLASS

CURRENT ASSET
ALLOCATION (%)

STRATEGIC ASSET
ALLOCATION (%)

ALTERNATIVE ASSET
ALLOCATION (%)

FINAL
SAAB

UK Equity

17.4%

16.0%

8.0%

12.0%

North America Equity

10.1%

12.0%

-

-

Europe Equity

8.6%

8.0%

-

-

Japan Equity

6.5%

5.0%

5.0%

5.0%

Asia Pacific ex-Japan

5.3%

4.0%

-

-

Small Cap

-

-

4.0%

-

Emerging Markets

5.1%

5.0%

5.0%

5.0%

Global Sustainable Equities

-

3.0%

29.0%

29.0%

Private Equity

3.0%

4.0%

4.0%

4.0%

UK Real Estate

7.0%

8.0%

8.0%

8.0%

Europe Real Estate

1.0%

1.0%

1.0%

1.0%

Infrastructure

5.6%

6.8%

7.5%

6.0%

Sustainable Infrastructure

0.7%

1.8%

3.0%

4.0%

Private Debt

1.4%

3.0%

2.5%

3.0%

Global HYD

3.8%

2.5%

3.0%

3.0%

Global Investment Grade Credit

-

6.0%

6.0%

6.0%

UK Investment Grade Credit

6.0%

-

-

-

US Treasury

2.1%

2.5%

2.5%

2.5%

UK Gilts

9.2%

9.5%

9.5%

9.5%

Cash

7.3%

2.0%

2.0%

2.0%

Total

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Growth

Income

Protection

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 34
16

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

CLIMATE SCENARIO ANALYSIS FINDINGS
Key Finding One: A 2°C outcome, according to this model, continues to be the best climate scenario for DPF from a returns perspective.
A 4°C outcome is the worst scenario of the three considered.

4⁰C

3⁰C

2⁰C

TABLE 4.2.1.2 ANNUALISED CLIMATE CHANGE IMPACT ON PORTFOLIO RETURNS – TO 2030, 2050 AND 2100 6
CURRENT ASSET ALLOCATION

STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION

ALTERNATIVE ASSET ALLOCATION

2030

0.15%

0.25%

0.72%

2050

0.02%

0.08%

0.36%

2100

-0.03%

-0.01%

0.10%

2030

-0.02%

-0.01%

0.03%

2050

-0.07%

-0.06%

0.01%

2100

-0.09%

-0.09%

-0.07%

2030

-0.06%

-0.06%

-0.07%

2050

-0.11%

-0.12%

-0.13%

2100

-0.14%

-0.16%

-0.18%

≤ -10 bps

> -10 bps, < 10bps

≥ 10 bps

According to Mercer’s model, a 2°C scenario, given all three asset allocations, leads to superior economic outcomes relative to other
climate change scenarios. The model suggests that a 2°C scenario would by 2030 see both the Current Asset Allocation and the
Strategic Asset Allocation experience positive return benefits of 2% and 3% respectively on a cumulative basis, whilst this rises to 9%
when considering the Alternative Asset Allocation.
A 2°C outcome is particularly favourable for the Alternative Asset Allocation, which experiences a positive return in all three
timeframes considered. This contrasts to the Current Asset Allocation and Strategic Asset Allocation which both experience negative
returns as the timeframe extends beyond 2030. For example, in a 2°C Scenario to 2100, the Current Asset Allocation and Strategic
Asset Allocation respectively experience a -0.03% and -0.01% annual climate change return, whilst the Alternative Asset Allocation
achieves 0.1% climate-related outperformance.
Modelling out to 2100 under a 4°C scenario, climate change impacts continue to be a drag on returns. All three asset allocations
experience negative returns under this scenario. This is due to the model’s assumption that this level of warming would result in
increased physical risks (such as extreme weather events and resource scarcity) which act as a drag on returns.
These results suggest that the Fund’s final Strategic Asset Allocation Benchmark (SAAB) is likely to perform well in a 2°C scenario –
better than the Fund’s previous or intermediate SAAB – but, similar to the other asset allocations, may experience negative returns
under a 4°C scenario. This corroborates our previous assertion that the Fund, alongside policy-makers, companies and other
investors, has an incentive to work towards a 2°C scenario.

Extract from Mercer Limited’s (Mercer) report “Climate Change Scenario Analysis” dated prepared for and issued to LGPS Central Limited for the sole purpose of undertaking climate change scenario
analysis for Derbyshire Pension Fund. Other third parties may not rely on this information without Mercer’s prior written permission. The findings and opinions expressed are the intellectual property of
Mercer and are not intended to convey any guarantees as to the future performance of the investment strategy. Information contained herein has been obtained from a range of third-party sources. Mercer
makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information and is not responsible for the data supplied by any third party.

6

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 35
17

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

FIGURE 4.2.1.2 ANNUALISED ASSET CLASS CLIMATE CHANGE IMPACT ON RETURNS BY CLIMATE CHANGE SCENARIO 7
2°C SCENARIO, 2030
Current Asset Allocation

Alternative Asset Allocation

3°C SCENARIO, 2030
Current Asset Allocation

Alternative Asset Allocation

4°C SCENARIO, 2030
Current Asset Allocation

Alternative Asset Allocation

Extract from Mercer Limited’s (Mercer) report “Climate Change Scenario Analysis” dated prepared for and issued to LGPS Central Limited for the sole purpose of undertaking climate change scenario
analysis for Derbyshire Pension Fund. Other third parties may not rely on this information without Mercer’s prior written permission. The findings and opinions expressed are the intellectual property of
Mercer and are not intended to convey any guarantees as to the future performance of the investment strategy. Information contained herein has been obtained from a range of third-party sources. Mercer
makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information and is not responsible for the data supplied by any third party.

7

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 36
18

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

2°C SCENARIO, 2100
Current Asset Allocation

Alternative Asset Allocation

3°C SCENARIO, 2100
Current Asset Allocation

Alternative Asset Allocation

4°C SCENARIO, 2100
Current Asset Allocation

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Alternative Asset Allocation

Page 37
19

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

Key Finding Two: In a 2°C Scenario, the Alternative Asset Allocation is the preferred strategy from a climate change perspective over
the Current Asset Allocation and Strategic Asset Allocation.
Figure 4.2.1.3 Annualised Total Portfolio Climate Change Impact on Returns, by Climate Change Scenario8
2030
0.80%

0.72%

0.70%
0.60%
0.50%
0.40%
0.30%
0.20%

0.25%
0.15%

0.10%

0.03%

0.00%
-0.02%
-0.10%

-0.01%

-0.06%

-0.06%

-0.07%

-0.20%
Current Asset Allocation

Strategic Asset Allocation
2°C

3°C

Alternative Asset Allocation

4°C

2100
0.15%
0.10%

0.10%

0.05%

0.00%
-0.01%
-0.05%

-0.03%
-0.07%

-0.10%

-0.09%

-0.09%

-0.15%

-0.14%
-0.16%
-0.18%

-0.20%
Current Asset Allocation

Strategic Asset Allocation
2°C

3°C

Alternative Asset Allocation

4°C

Extract from Mercer Limited’s (Mercer) report “Climate Change Scenario Analysis” dated prepared for and issued to LGPS Central Limited for the sole purpose of undertaking climate change scenario
analysis for Derbyshire Pension Fund. Other third parties may not rely on this information without Mercer’s prior written permission. The findings and opinions expressed are the intellectual property of
Mercer and are not intended to convey any guarantees as to the future performance of the investment strategy. Information contained herein has been obtained from a range of third-party sources. Mercer
makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information and is not responsible for the data supplied by any third party.

8

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 38
20

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

Of the three asset allocations analysed, the alternative asset
allocation is best positioned to capture the upside or “low
carbon transition premium” in a 2°C scenario through its
increased allocations to infrastructure and listed Global
Sustainable Equities. The additional upside generated through
these allocations is significant; in a 2°C scenario to 2030 the
Alternative Asset Allocation experiences a +7% cumulative
outperformance over the Current Asset Allocation, and +6%
cumulative outperformance over the Strategic Asset Allocation.
The positive outlook for infrastructure stems from Mercer’s
expectation that policy changes in a 2°C scenario would drive a
period of significant investment and low carbon transformation
in this asset class. Sustainable Infrastructure further benefits
from expected exposure to technology solutions such as
renewable assets. Global sustainable listed equities are
expected to minimise low carbon transition policy-related risk
and provide protection against stranded asset risk through a
reduction in exposure to fossil fuel reserves and high carbon
emitting companies. Additionally, the asset class also captures
upside through greater exposure to solution providers.
We can infer from these results that the Fund’s Final SAAB is,
based on Mercer’s model, likely to deliver consistently better
results to 2030, 2050 and 2100 in a 2°C scenario than the Fund’s
previous SAAB.

that the strategy benefits from being a diversified portfolio. This
indicates that when compared with the previous SAAB, DPF’s
final SAAB is likely to add significant upside in a 2°C scenario,
whilst yielding similar downside in a 4°C scenario. Given this, we
commend the Fund for its work in exploring additional allocations
to Global Sustainable Equities and Sustainable Infrastructure
over the past 12 months and opine that these changes are likely
to benefit the Fund from a climate change perspective.
When the strategies are stress tested for (1) sudden pricing in
of a 2°C scenario and (2) sudden pricing in of a 4°C scenario,
we find corroboration of Key Finding 1 (that lower temperature
scenarios benefit the Fund from a returns perspective) and Key
Finding 2 (that the Alternative Asset Allocation would perform
better than the Current Asset Allocation or Strategic Asset
Allocation in a 2°C scenario).
In Stress Test 1, we find that the Alternative Asset Allocation
generates a positive point in time impact of +7.7%. This is
significantly higher than the equivalent results of +0.8% for
the Current Asset Allocation and +1.8% for the Strategic Asset
Allocation. This result is largely driven by the greater allocations
to global sustainable equity and infrastructure in the Alternative
Asset Allocation.

Considering Figure 4.2.1.3, the annual downside in a 3°C and
4°C scenario is broadly similar for all strategies modelled,
whereas the upside in a 2°C scenario is meaningfully greater
in the Alternative Asset Allocation. The slightly higher downside
observed in a 4°C Scenario to 2100 in the Alternative Asset
Allocation is due to the greater allocation to infrastructure which
yields increased exposure to the physical risks of climate change.
However, as this impact is only slightly worse, it does suggest

In Stress Test 2, the alternative asset allocation experiences
an impact of -2.9% which is slightly higher than the -2.0% and
-2.4% experienced by the Current Asset Allocation and Strategic
Asset Allocation respectively. The increased allocation to
infrastructure in the Alternative Asset Allocation is responsible
for the result, as well as the sustainable listed equities reacting
more negatively under this scenario than global developed
equity. The result is consistent with Key Finding 1, i.e. that a 4°C
scenario is according to this model a negative outcome for the
Fund from a returns perspective.

ALTERNATIVE ASSET ALLOCATION

ALTERNATIVE ASSET ALLOCATION

Figure 4.2.1.4 Stress Test #1, Low Carbon Transition:
Total Portfolio and Asset Class Impact (point in time
impact <1 Year)9

Figure 4.2.1.5 Stress Test #2, Physical Risks:
Total Portfolio and Asset Class Impact (point in time
impact <1 Year)9

Extract from Mercer Limited’s (Mercer) report “Climate Change Scenario Analysis” dated prepared for and issued to LGPS Central Limited for the sole purpose of undertaking climate change scenario
analysis for Derbyshire Pension Fund. Other third parties may not rely on this information without Mercer’s prior written permission. The findings and opinions expressed are the intellectual property of
Mercer and are not intended to convey any guarantees as to the future performance of the investment strategy. Information contained herein has been obtained from a range of third-party sources. Mercer
makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information and is not responsible for the data supplied by any third party.

9

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 39
21

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

4.2.2 ALTERNATIVE ASSET CLASS REVIEW
At the present time, the complexity and uncertainty of climate change means there is a paucity of data on which a portfolio assessment
can be based. This is most pertinent for unlisted asset classes where datasets are not sufficiently complete to facilitate the carbon
risk metrics analyses used to observe climate risk within public equity portfolios. This section aims to address this gap and provide
a set of alternative techniques that an Asset Owner could utilise to conduct climate risk analysis within unlisted portfolios. The
commentary is not designed to be a complete and exhaustive list, rather it seeks to provide a repository of potential steps, some of
which the Fund could consider enacting to further manage the risk of climate change. Further detail on each of the asset classes can
be found in Appendix 1.
ASSET CLASS

FIXED INCOME

TRANSITION
RISK

Reduced credit rating and
in extremis default risk
of issuers that finance
high carbon assets
and activities.

PHYSICAL
RISK

INFRASTRUCTURE

PROPERTY

Contingent on the policy
response to climate
change, private equity
companies in high
emitting sectors face
asset impairment, large
operating costs and
stranded asset risk.

Policy and technology
advancements could
reduce the value of some
infrastructure assets that
are less suitable in a low
carbon world, or in some
cases it could render
assets redundant.

Core property that is
poorly rated on energy
efficiency standards is
likely to underperform
highly rated assets. Older
property assets likely to
need capital injection to
improve energy efficiency.

Eroded value of corporate
debt that finances
companies and assets
which suffer repeated
and persistent damage
from climate-related
weather events.

Lower valuation of assets,
reduced profitability,
increased risks to supply
chains and potentially
increased insurance and
regulatory costs.

Higher insurance costs
and lower valuation of
assets located in climate
vulnerable locations.
Lower valuation of
some assets due to
higher investment
and adaptation
maintenance costs.

Higher insurance costs
and decline in value of
property assets that are
at high risk from climaterelated weather events.

CHALLENGES

• Availability of
consistent and reliable
climate change data.
• Lack of climate focused
investment products.

• Limited amount of
publicly disclosed
information

• Lack of data, analytical
tools and services.
• No established
standard for
conducting physical
climate risk analysis

• Data extraction
• Proliferation of
green buildings
certification schemes

EMERGING
REGULATION

1. EU Green Bond
Standard
2. Green Bond Principles

• No regulation
specifically aimed at
private equity

1. UK Net Zero by 2050

• UK Minimum Energy
Efficient Energy
Standards
• EU Taxonomy
• Renovation Wave
• Energy Performance of
Buildings Directive

INITIATIVES

1. Climate Bond Initiative

1. Initiative Climat
International (iCl)
2. One Planet Private
Equity Funds Initiative
(OPPEF)

1. SteelZero
2. LED

1. RE100
2. EP100

WHAT CAN
BE DONE?

1. Engagement
2. Beyond Ratings
3. Data Providers

1. Annual Questionnaire
2. ESG KPIs
3. Climate Change
Reporting
4. ESG Data Provider

1. Annual Questionnaire
2. ESG KPIs
3. Physical Climate
Risk Assessment
4. Global Real Estate
Sustainability
Benchmark (GRESB)
5. ClimateWise Transition
Risk Framework

1. Regular ESG
Risk Assessment
2. Engagement
3. GRESB
4. Carbon Risk Real
Estate Monitor (CRREM)
5. MSCI Real Estate Value
at Risk

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

PRIVATE EQUITY

Page 40
22

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

4.3 Risk Management
4.3.1 CLIMATE STEWARDSHIP PLAN SCOPE
Based on the findings of its 2020 Climate Risk Report the Fund has developed a Climate Stewardship Plan (“CSP”). The CSP identifies
the areas in which stewardship techniques can be leveraged to further understand and manage climate-related risks within the
Fund. It is split into two main sections.

PART 1: COMPANY ENGAGEMENT

PART 2: MANAGER MONITORING

The Fund monitors engagements with a focus list of
nine investee companies that are of most relevance to
DPF’s climate risk. The sectors included in the Fund’s
CSP are detailed in Figure 4.3.1.1. For each of the nine
companies, the CSP identifies the rationale, objectives,
and strategy of the engagement activity. A progress
update based on the identified measures of success
will be provided annually as part of the Fund’s Climate
Risk Report.

The Fund monitors its major appointed investment
managers to ensure that climate-related risk is fully
integrated into the investment process. Table 4.3.1.1
provides a high-level summary of the key manager
monitoring issues the Fund aims to address.
TABLE 4.3.1.1 MANAGER MONITORING ISSUES

Reflecting the largely externally-managed nature
of DPF, the engagement and dialogue is undertaken
by the Fund’s portfolio managers and suppliers. The
Fund utilises the Climate Stewardship Plan as a tool to
monitor these actions.

ASSET CLASS

TOPIC

EQUITIES

• The influence of climate factors on
sector positioning
• Stewardship activities with companies
identified in the 2020 Climate
Risk Report

FIXED INCOME

Figure 4.3.1.1 Sectors included in the Fund’s CSP

• Engagement with the most intensive
carbon issuers

Cement

1
1

3

• Approach to assessing climate risk
in the absence of reported GHG
emissions data

• Extent of investment in green bonds

Diversified Mining

REAL ASSETS

• Physical risk resilience
• GRESB participation

Energy
Materials

1

3
Utilities

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 41
23

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

4.3.2 COMPANY ENGAGEMENT UPDATE
We have reviewed ongoing engagements with the nine investee companies identified in the Fund’s Climate Stewardship Plan (CSP).
For each company, we provide below the context of the engagement, including the rationale, objectives and strategy, alongside
issuing the first annual progress update as at 15th July 2021. Further detail can be found in Appendix 2. The Climate Action 100+
Benchmark is used as a key tool to monitor progress throughout the Fund’s CSP. We therefore provide below a high-level summary
of this initiative, before assessing each of the nine companies in turn.

CLIMATE ACTION 100+ (CA100+)

TRANSITION PATHWAY INITIATIVE

CA100+ is an investor-led initiative set up to ensure the
world’s largest corporate greenhouse gas emitters take
necessary action on climate change. The engagement
initiative currently encompasses 167 companies that
are estimated to collectively emit more than 80% of
industrial GHG emissions globally. Investor participants,
including LGPSC Central, have committed to engage
these high emitters to:

The Transition Pathway Initiative (TPI) framework
evaluates companies based on their climate risk
management quality and their carbon performance. The
former includes an assessment of policies, strategy, risk
management and targets. There are six management
quality levels a company can be assigned to:
• Level 0 – Unaware of (or not Acknowledging) Climate
Change as a Business Issue

• Implement a strong governance framework which
clearly articulates the board’s accountability and
oversight of climate change risk;

• Level 1 – Acknowledging Climate Change as a
Business Issue
• Level 2 – Building Capacity

• Take action to reduce GHG emissions across the
value chain, consistent with the Paris Agreement’s
goal of limiting global average temperature increase
to below two degrees Celsius above pre-industrial
levels, aiming for 1.5 degrees. Notably, this implies
the need to move towards net-zero emissions by
2050 or sooner; and

• Level 3 – Integrated into Operational Decision-making
• Level 4 – Strategic Assessment
• Level 4* – Satisfies all management quality criteria
Companies expected future emissions intensity
pathways – labelled carbon performance - is assessed
against international targets and national pledges
made as part of the 2015 Paris Agreement. Alignment
is tested on different timeframes, including 2030 and
2050. There are six carbon performance trajectories:

• Provide enhanced corporate disclosure in line with
the final recommendations of the Task Force on
Climate related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and
sector-specific Global Investor Coalition on Climate
Change (GIC) Investor Expectations on Climate Change
guidelines (when applicable), to enable investors
to assess the robustness of companies’ business
plans against a range of climate scenarios, including
well below two degrees and improve investment
decision-making.

• No or unsuitable disclosure
• Not Aligned
• International Pledges
• Paris Pledges
• 2 Degrees

In September 2020, CA100+ introduced a Benchmark
Framework which identifies ten key indicators of success
for business alignment with a net zero emissions future
and goals of the Paris Agreement . Assessments for
each CA100+ company against the ten indicators were
published on 22 March 2021 and offers comparative
assessments of individual focus company performance
against the three high-level commitment goals.

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

• Below 2 Degrees

Page 42
24

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

TABLE 4.3.2.1 COMPANIES INCLUDED IN THE CLIMATE STEWARDSHIP PLAN
COMPANY

SECTOR

Energy

Energy

Cement

Utilities

Diversified Mining

Energy

Utilities

Materials

Utilities

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 43
25

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

In the upcoming months DPF have several asset allocation changes planned. This includes exiting the US Equity, European Equity and
Asia-Pacific equity portfolios, alongside consolidating the Japan Equity portfolio into a maximum of four strategies. DPF have also
terminated several Emerging Market Equity investments and recycled the proceeds into the LGPS Central Emerging Market Equity
Active Multi Manager Fund. As a result, a number of the companies listed in the Fund’s Climate Stewardship Plan will either no longer
be held by the Fund in the future, or will not be material enough in terms of climate risk to warrant inclusion in the Plan. Given this,
we recommend removing ExxonMobil, Holcim, NRG Energy, RWE, Tata Power and Sasol and replacing them with companies identified
in the updated Carbon Risk Metrics analysis in Section 4.4. Table 4.3.2.2 provides a list of the companies we recommend adding to
the Fund’s Climate Stewardship Plan moving forward. DPF may also want to consider further additions upon the next Carbon Risk
Metrics Review.
TABLE 4.3.2.2 RECOMMENDED ADDITIONS TO THE CLIMATE STEWARDSHIP PLAN
COMPANY

SECTOR

Materials

IT

Energy

As a result, the proposed forward Climate Stewardship Plan includes the following: BP; CRH; Gazprom PA; Rio Tinto; Shell; and Taiwan
Semiconductor Manufacturing.

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 44
26

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

COMPANY

BP

EXXON
MOBIL

TPI PARIS
ALIGNMENT

4*

Not Aligned

• Multinational oil &
gas company
• Net Zero by 2050 Ambition
• Greenhouse gas reduction
targets covering scope 1, 2 &
3 emissions

1. Achievement of high-level
CA100+ objectives
2. Account for climate risks in
financial reporting

Collaborative engagement
through CA100+ with EOS and
LGIM as co-leads

1. Partial achievement of all
CA100+ objectives
2. BP recently announced they
will lower their long-term oil
and gas price assumptions
3. Pledged to increase low
carbon investment tenfold
4. Pledged to cut oil & gas
production by 40%

3

Not Aligned

• World’s largest publicly
traded oil & gas company
• High GHG emissions
compared to peers
• Slow to address
climate issues
• Strategy remains “business
as usual”
• 2021 AGM saw shareholder
revolt over lack of
climate strategy

1. Greenhouse gas emissions
reduction and renewable
energy uptake

Direct Engagement
by Wellington

1. Wellington ESG team voted
against several resolutions
at the 2021 AGM to send a
message on climate change

4

Not Aligned

• Global building materials
and solutions company
• Supported TCFD
recommendations
since 2017
• Appointed Chief
Sustainability Officer in 2019
• In 2020 received an investor
letter calling for Paris
aligned accounts

1. Paris Aligned accounts
2. Achievement of high-level
CA100+ objectives

Collaborative engagement by
the CA100+ focus group

1. Responded constructively to
the investor letter on Parisaligned accounts
2. Granted shareholders a ‘Say
on Climate’ vote at their
2022 AGM
3. Committed to Net Zero
by 2050

Page 45

TPI MQ

HOLCIM

10

CA100+10

COMPANY CONTEXT

ENGAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

MEASURES OF SUCCESS

The following key is utilised for the pie charts above. Red represents “no criteria met”. Yellow represents “partial, some criteria met”. Green represents “all criteria met”. Where grey is shown it is because an indicator is not currently assessed.

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

27

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

COMPANY

TPI MQ

TPI PARIS
ALIGNMENT

CA100+10

COMPANY CONTEXT

ENGAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

MEASURES OF SUCCESS

4

Below 2
Degrees

• American energy company
• Progressive climate change
strategy compared to
American peers
• 2021, NRG Energy reduced
its carbon footprint by 55%,
achieving its 2025 target

1. Climate Change
2. Waste Management

Direct Engagement by
Wellington

1. Recommended a vote
for a shareholder
proposal requiring NRG
Energy to produce a
report documenting
their expenditures on
political activities

RIO TINTO

4

Not Aligned

• Diversified mining company
• No exposure to coal
• Net Zero by 2050
ambition (though scope 3
emissions omitted)

1. Achievement of the high
level objectives of the
CA100+ initiative

• Direct engagement by LGIM
• Joint investor engagements
with the Investor Forum

1. First diversified miner
to completely exit from
fossil fuels
2. LGIM supported shareholder
proposals on strengthened
emissions targets and
improved reporting on
climate lobbying

Page 46

4

Paris
Pledges

• Multinational Oil & Gas
company - in 2020
announced ambition to
reduce scope 1 and 2
emissions to Net Zero by
2050, and reduce scope 3 by
65% by 2050

1. Set and publish Parisaligned targets
2. Reflect its Net Zero ambition
in its operational plans
and budgets
3. Set a transparent strategy
on achieving its 2050 target

• Collaborative engagement by
CA100+ focus group
• direct engagement by LGIM
• Paris-aligned financial
accounting investor initiative

1. First energy company
to allow investors a ‘Say
in Climate’
2. 30% support for shareholder
proposal requesting Shell to
set and publish targets for
GHG emissions reduction in
line with Paris

NRG

SHELL

10

The following key is utilised for the pie charts above. Red represents “no criteria met”. Yellow represents “partial, some criteria met”. Green represents “all criteria met”. Where grey is shown it is because an indicator is not currently assessed.

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

28

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

COMPANY

RWE

SASOL

TPI MQ

CA100+10

COMPANY CONTEXT

ENGAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

MEASURES OF SUCCESS

3

Below 2
degrees

• German multinational
energy company
• Currently suing the
Netherlands for
compensation payments
in relation to the country’s
coal-phase out plans

Achievement of the highlevel objectives of the
CA100+ initiative

• Collaborative engagement by
the CA100+ focus group
• Direct engagement by EOS

1. Pledged to become carbon
neutral by 2040

4

Not
Assessed

• International integrated
chemicals and
energy company
• In 2019, investors filed a
shareholder resolution
arguing that Sasol’s
climate change plan
lacks transparency and
does not align with the
Paris Agreement

Achievement of the highlevel objectives of the
CA100+ initiative

Engagement by LGIM

1. In November 2020, LGIM
voted against the re-election
of the Lead Independent
Director of Sasol, partly
to send a message on
climate change

Page 47
10

TPI PARIS
ALIGNMENT

The following key is utilised for the pie charts above. Red represents “no criteria met”. Yellow represents “partial, some criteria met”. Green represents “all criteria met”. Where grey is shown it is because an indicator is not currently assessed.

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

29

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

4.4 Metrics and Targets
4.4.1 SCOPE AND DEFINITIONS OF TERMS
The following Carbon Risk Metrics section is a bottom-up analysis conducted at the company and portfolio level. The purposes of this
analysis are:
• To observe climate transition risks and opportunities in the portfolio
• To identify company engagement opportunities
• To support manager monitoring of climate risk management
The scope of the analysis comprises the equities and corporate fixed income portfolios as at 31st March 2021. The results are
compared to a baseline of data collected in the first Climate Risk Report, which used holdings data from 31st July 2019. The analysis
seeks to identify and assess how the portfolio carbon risk metrics have changed within this timeframe.
The analysis is limited to the equities and investment grade corporate bond portfolios as unlisted asset classes do not have sufficiently
complete and comparable data to facilitate carbon risk metrics analysis at this time.
TABLE 4.4.1.1: SCOPE OF CARBON RISK METRICS ANALYSIS AS AT 31 ST MARCH 2021
ALLOCATION AS A % OF TOTAL PORTFOLIO

52.9%

NUMBER OF STRATEGIES ANALYSED

24

INDIVIDUAL COMPANIES INCLUDED

4,679

The analysis is based on a dataset provided by MSCI ESG Research LLC (MSCI)11. Table 4.4.1.2 provides an overview of the types
of carbon risk metric utilised. We are aware that the raw numbers are not a complete guide to climate risk and have published
elsewhere our views on the limitations of carbon footprinting12. We believe, however, that this kind of bottom-up quantitative analysis
can assist an asset owner in identifying the parts of the portfolio to prioritise, and in framing relevant questions to put to investee
companies and external fund managers.
Figure 4.4.1.1 Portfolios Included in the Carbon Risk Metrics Analysis
Total Portfolio 100%

Equities 52.9%

Investment Grade Bonds 6.1%

UK Equities 15.1%
US Equities 6.2%
European Ex-UK Equities 4.1%
Japanese Equities 4.9%
Asia-Paciﬁc Equities 2.1%
Emerging Market Equities 4.6%
Global Sustainable Equities 15.9%

11
12

Certain information @ 2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission. Attention is drawn to Section 8.0 Important Information.
https://www.responsible-investor.com/articles/carbon-footprint-piece In collaboration with other asset owners.

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 48
30

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

TABLE 4.4.1.2: CARBON RISK METRICS USED
CARBON RISK METRIC

DEFINITION

USE CASE

LIMITATIONS

PORTFOLIO CARBON
FOOTPRINT (WEIGHTED
AVERAGE CARBON
INTENSITY)

Is calculated by working out
the carbon intensity (Scope
1+2 Emissions / $M sales)
for each portfolio company
and calculating the weighted
average by portfolio weight.

A proxy for carbon price risk.
Were a global carbon price to
be introduced in the form of a
carbon tax, this would (ceteris
paribus) be more financially
detrimental to carbon intensive
companies than to carbon
efficient companies.

This metric includes Scope
1 and 2 emissions but not
Scope 3 emissions. This means
that for some companies the
assessment of their carbon
footprint could be considered
an ‘understatement’.

EXPOSURE TO FOSSIL
FUEL RESERVES

The weight of a portfolio
invested in companies that
(i) own fossil fuel reserves
(ii) thermal coal reserves (iii)
utilities deriving more than
30% of their energy mix from
coal power

A higher exposure to fossil
fuel reserves is an indicator of
higher exposure to stranded
asset risk.

It does not consider the
amount of revenue a company
generates from fossil fuel
activities. Consequently,
diversified businesses (e.g.
those that own a range of
underlying companies, one of
which owns reserves) would
be included when calculating
this metric. In reality, these
companies may not bear as
much stranded asset risk as
companies who do generate a
high proportion of revenue from
fossil fuels.

EXPOSURE TO CLEAN
TECHNOLOGY

The weight of a portfolio
invested in companies whose
products and services include
clean technology (Alternative
Energy, Energy Efficiency, Green
Buildings, Pollution Prevention,
and Sustainable Water)

Provides an assessment of
climate-related opportunity so
that an organisation can review
its preparedness for anticipated
shifts in demand.

There is no universal standard,
definitive list of green
revenues; the EU has been
developing such a taxonomy
for several years. Even the EU’s
taxonomy is not likely to be a
complete and exhaustive list
of technologies relevant for a
lower-carbon economy.

The TPI framework evaluates
companies based on their
climate risk management
quality and their carbon
performance. The former
includes an assessment
of policies, strategy, risk
management and targets. The
latter assesses the carbon
performance trajectory
of companies.

Contextualises the companies
contributing to a portfolio’s
carbon footprint or fossil fuel
exposure. Can be used to track
how companies are managing
climate risk and whether their
strategies are aligned with the
goals of the Paris Agreement.

Does not assess every
company, only the world’s
largest high-emitting
companies. The data is not
also updated very frequently,
which can make some
assessments outdated.

CARBON RISK
MANAGEMENT VIA
THE TPI

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 49
31

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

4.4.2 TOTAL EQUITIES
TABLE 4.4.2.1 OVERVIEW OF DPF TOTAL EQUITIES CARBON RISK METRICS 13
2019

% DIFFERENCE BETWEEN
2019 AND 2021

2021

PF

BM

+/-14

PF

BM

+/-

PF

BM

Carbon Footprint (tCO₂e/$m revenue)

149.2

182.8

-18.4%

114.5

158.02

-27.5%

-23.3%

-13.6%

Weight in Fossil Fuel Reserves

10.30%

11.72%

-1.4%

6.53%

8.73%

-2.2%

-3.8%

-3.0%

Weight in Thermal Coal Reserves

2.42%

3.23%

-0.8%

2.63%

3.73%

-1.1%

0.2%

0.5%

Weight in Coal Power

0.50%

1.17%

-0.7%

0.42%

1.12%

-0.7%

-0.1%

-0.1%

Weight in Clean Technology

30.35%

33.22%

-2.9%

33.3%

37.8%

-4.5%

2.9%

4.5%

We provide comments on the Carbon Risk Metrics results at the Total Equities level. The Total Equity portfolio comprises all the listed
equity portfolios we were able to cover in the analysis and are included in Figure 4.4.1.1.
The analysis provided in the subsequent sections is based on data from 31st March 2021. The results, therefore, present a snapshot
of the Fund’s carbon risk at a point in time. Given that manager positions are in constant fluctuation based on their assessment of
relative value, the carbon risk metrics are likely to change in the future as the impact of portfolio alterations are felt. The following
analysis should be interpreted with this in mind.
The carbon footprint of the Total Equities portfolio has decreased by 23.3% between 31st July 2019 and 31st March 2021. This is
driven by the improved carbon efficiency of several of the Fund’s underlying portfolios and a significant allocation to a new Global
Sustainable Equity portfolio. Most notably, the carbon footprints of the US Equities, European Ex-UK Equities and Total Asia-Pacific
Equities decreased by 7.8%, 14% and 36.2% respectively. Of the underlying regional equity portfolios, only the Total Japan Equities and
the Total Emerging Market Equities portfolios became more carbon intensive. The latter was particularly significant, with an increase
in the Total Emerging Market carbon footprint of 30.1%, from 245.2 tCO₂e/$m revenue to 318.9 tCO₂e/$m revenue, making it the
most carbon intensive regional portfolio within the Fund. However, it should be noted that subsequent to the period-end, Derbyshire
has divested from several emerging market investments and recycled the proceeds into the LGPS Central Emerging Market Equity
Active Multi Manager Fund. This is expected to reduce the carbon footprint of the Total Emerging Market Equities portfolio. As of 31st
March 2021, the Total Global Sustainable portfolio is the Fund’s most carbon efficient regional portfolio. With a carbon footprint of
50.7 tCO₂e/$m revenue, the Total Global Sustainable portfolio achieves a carbon outperformance of 68% over its benchmark.

DPF CLIMATE STRATEGY TARGET
TABLE 4.4.2.2 TOTAL EQUITIES CARBON FOOTPRINT RELATIVE TO THE 2020 WEIGHTED BENCHMARK 15

Total Equities Carbon Footprint (tCO₂e/$m revenue)

2021 PORTFOLIO

2020 WEIGHTED
BENCHMARK

+/-

114.5

182.8

-37.4%

With a view to supporting the Fund in achieving its 2025 climate target of reducing the carbon footprint (Scope 1 and 2) of its
listed equity portfolio by at least 30% relative to the weighted benchmark in 2020, we have assessed the Total Equities portfolio
carbon footprint against this benchmark. As shown in Table 4.4.2.2, the Total Equities portfolio carbon footprint is 37.4% more
carbon efficient than the 2020 weighted benchmark. As a result, the Fund has met its carbon footprint target four years ahead
of plan.
In relation to the Fund’s second climate target to “invest at least 30% of the Fund portfolio in low carbon and sustainable
investment by the end of 2025”, the Fund has invested/ committed 19% of its portfolio in low carbon and sustainable investments
as of 31st March 2021. This is expected to be in excess of 30% by late 2021/ early 2022.

Source: MSCI Inc. Figures subject to rounding. Certain Information @ 2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission
Please note that for all tables within section 4.4 of the report we utilise “+/-” to denote both percentage change and percentage point change. For clarity, percentage change is used only for the portfolio
carbon footprint. The remaining metrics (fossil fuel exposure, thermal coal exposure, coal power exposure and weight in clean technology) are compared via percentage point change. This is done to avoid
distorting the numbers and allow for cleaner comparisons.
15
Certain Information @ 2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission
13
14

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 50
32

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

The exposure of the Total Equity portfolio to fossil fuel producers decreased by 3.8% between 31st July 2019 and 31st March 2021.
This is largely driven by the new Global Sustainable Equities portfolio, and to a lesser extent the UK Equities portfolio. The Total
Global Sustainable portfolio has a low exposure of 1.4% to fossil fuel producers and contains a relatively large proportion of the total
Equities AUM (30% of the Total Equities allocation is within Sustainable Equities) meaning this portfolio has a material impact at the
Total Equities level. The exposure to fossil fuel reserves in the UK Equities portfolio decreased by 5.3%, from 17.6% to 12.3%. The
Total Equity portfolio’s exposure to thermal coal marginally increased by 0.2% between July 2019 and March 2021. However, the
benchmark weight in thermal coal increased by 0.5%, meaning that the Fund’s weighting fell relative to the benchmark. Whilst five of
the six underlying regional equity strategies experienced increases to their thermal coal exposure, the new Total Global Sustainable
Equities portfolio has a very low exposure which offsets the aforementioned rises.
Following the TCFD Recommendations we have assessed the weight of each listed equity portfolio that is in ‘Clean Technology’ as
of 31st March 2021. The Total Equities weight in clean technology has increased by 2.9% between 2019 and 2021, however this still
remains below the benchmark. This trend is echoed in all but one of the underlying portfolios. The most notable increase is within
the US Equities portfolio which increased its exposure to green revenues by 5.5%. We reference in Table 4.4.1.2 the limitations to
the Clean Technology metric and we recommend both (i) reviewing 12 months hence any improvements in the supply of datasets
that attempt to identify companies’ exposure to low-carbon technologies and (ii) discussing this year’s results with external fund
managers during monitoring processes in order to get a more granular view. We also note that these metrics are likely to change
following the allocation of additional AUM into Global Sustainable Equities.
As of 31st March 2021, 288 companies in the Total Equities portfolio are ranked by the TPI. 65% of these companies are classed as
having a management quality of Level 3, 4 or 4* (187 companies). This suggests the Fund’s appointed portfolio managers are, on
average, investing in above average to ‘best in class’ companies in terms of climate risk management. The number of companies
aligned with the Paris Agreement, however, is significantly lower than the proportion with good management quality (Figure 4.4.2.4).
We suggest that the targeting of Paris-alignment through company engagement (to be executed via the Fund’s portfolio managers
and service providers) would further improve the management of carbon risk within the Fund.
Table 4.4.2.4 lists the five greatest contributors to the Total Equity portfolio carbon footprint. Four of these names are included in
the Fund’s Climate Stewardship Plan, and we recommend that the Fund continues to use this as a tool for monitoring company
engagement and manager stewardship activities.
TABLE 4.4.2.3 OVERVIEW OF DPF EQUITY PORTFOLIO CARBON RISK METRICS AS OF 31/03/2021 16
PORTFOLIO CARBON FOOTPRINT (TCO₂E/$M REVENUE)

WEIGHT IN FOSSIL FUEL
RESERVES (%)

WEIGHT IN THERMAL COAL
RESERVES (%)

WEIGHT IN CLEAN
TECHNOLOGY

PF

BM

% DIFF

PF

BM

% DIFF

PF

BM

% DIFF

PF

BM

% DIFF

Total UK
Equities

124.4

127.2

-2.2%

12.3%

13.22%

-1.0%

4.6%

4.94%

-0.4%

22.8%

23.8%

-0.9%

US Equities

120.7

139.7

-13.6%

3.5%

4.75%

-1.3%

0.8%

2.03%

-1.2%

31.5%

36.6%

-5.1%

European
Ex-UK
Equities

139.9

-

-

5.6%

-

-

0.3%

-

-

35.5%

-

-

Total Japan
Equities

68.6

89.4

-23.3%

7.1%

9.60%

-2.5%

6.1%

8.92%

-2.8%

44.6%

53.3%

-8.7%

Total Asia
Pacific
Equities

148.5

252.0

-41.1%

6.8%

7.89%

-1.1%

4.0%

3.38%

0.6%

33.5%

43.1%

-9.6%

Total EM
Equities

318.9

320.9

-0.6%

9.6%

9.42%

0.2%

3.5%

3.04%

0.5%

37.3%

40.9%

-3.6%

Total Global
Sustainable
Equities

50.7

159.3

-68.1%

1.4%

6.47%

-5.0%

0.6%

2.77%

-2.2%

38.7%

37.8%

0.9%

Source: MSCI Inc. Figures subject to rounding. Please note the carbon risk metrics data shown above is based on the asset allocation as of 31st March 2021. Moving forward, several asset allocation
changes are planned within the Fund which will likely alter the metrics. This includes DPF exiting the US Equity, European Equity and Asia-Pacific equity portfolios, alongside consolidating the Japan Equity
portfolio into just four strategies. DPF have also terminated several Emerging portfolios and recycled the proceeds into the LGPS Central Emerging Market Equity Active Multi Manager Fund.

16

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 51
33

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

Carbon Footprint (tco2e/$m)

Figure 4.4.2.1 Portfolio Carbon Footprint17
350
300
250
200
150
100
50
0

Total
Equities

Total UK
Equities

US Equities

European
Ex-UK
Equities

2021

Total Japan
Equities

Total Asia
Pacific
Equities

Total EM
Equities

Total Global
Sustainable
Equities

Total Asia
Pacific
Equities

Total EM
Equities

Total Global
Sustainable
Equities

Total Asia
Pacific
Equities

Total EM
Equities

Total Global
Sustainable
Equities

2019

Figure 4.4.2.2 Portfolio Exposure to Fossil Fuel Reserves18
20%
18%
16%
14%

% of portfolio

12%
10%
8%
6%
4%
2%
0%

Total
Equities

Total UK
Equities

US Equities

European
Ex-UK
Equities

2021

Total Japan
Equities

2019

Figure 4.4.2.3 Portfolio Exposure to Thermal Coal Reserves19
7%
6%

% of portfolio

5%
4%
3%
2%
1%
0%

Total
Equities

Total UK
Equities

US Equities

European
Ex-UK
Equities

2021

17
18
19

Total Japan
Equities

2019

Certain Information @ 2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission
Certain Information @ 2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission
Certain Information @ 2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 52
34

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

Figure 4.4.2.4 Portfolio Weight in Clean Technology20
50%

% of Portfolio

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

Total
Equities

Total UK
Equities

US Equities

European
Ex-UK
Equities

2021

Total Japan
Equities

Total Asia
Pacific
Equities

Total EM
Equities

Total Global
Sustainable
Equities

2019

Figure 4.4.2.5 Total Equities TPI Assessment

TPI MANAGEMENT QUALITY

TPI PARIS ALIGNMENT

Number of Companies

120
100
80
60
40
20
0

20

0

1

2

3

4

4*

No or unsuitable disclosure

Not Aligned

International Pledges

Paris Pledges

2 Degrees

Below 2 Degrees

Certain Information @ 2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 53
35

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

4.4.3 INVESTMENT GRADE CORPORATE BONDS
We provide below the carbon risk metrics for the Fund’s Investment Grade Bond portfolio. As of 31st March 2021, the carbon footprint
for the portfolio is 135.9 tCO2e/$M revenue which is 20.05% lower than the benchmark. The portfolio’s fossil fuel exposure is 4.19%
which is less than in the benchmark. Only 0.56% of the portfolio is exposed to issuers who own thermal coal.
TABLE 4.4.3.1 OVERVIEW OF DPF INVESTMENT GRADE BONDS PORTFOLIO CARBON RISK METRICS AS OF 31/03/2021
PORTFOLIO

BENCHMARK

+/-

Portfolio Carbon Footprint (tCO2e/ $m revenue)

135.9

170.0

-20.05%

Weight in Fossil Fuel Reserves

4.19%

4.70%

-0.51%

Weight in thermal coal reserves (%)

0.56%

0.58%

-0.02%

Weight in coal power (%)

0.44%

0.92%

-0.48%

Weight in clean tech (%)

9.2%

14.9%

-5.69%

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 54
36

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

5.0 Conclusion
In this, DPF’s second Climate Risk Report, we continue to argue
that climate-related risks can be financially material and that
the management of climate risk is a fiduciary issue. Through
physical events, policy or market changes, climate risks are
likely to affect almost all asset classes, sectors and regions.
While there remains a great deal of uncertainty, it is not likely
that climate risks can be mitigated through diversification alone.
In the Fund’s first Climate Risk Report we used a combination
of top-down and bottom up analyses to explore the nature
and magnitude of the Fund’s climate-related risks. The report
established a baseline for DPF’s climate risk management and
supported the Fund in shaping its strategic approach to climate
risk. In this second report we focus on providing the Fund with
a progress update.
We find that DPF has made significant enhancements to its
published documentation and governance arrangements
in the past year. The Fund has implemented 11 of the 12
recommendations issued in the first Climate Risk Report
including, developing a Climate Strategy, formulating a
Responsible Investment Framework, and publishing its first
TCFD-disclosures report. In our view, the Fund’s approach to RI,
including climate risk management, is above industry average
standards and significantly in excess of the regulatory minimum.
We suggest that the Fund maintains this current level of practice
and implements any recommendations that are still outstanding
from the first report.

The Risk Management section outlines the scope of the Fund’s
Climate Stewardship Plan and provides the first progress
update against the nine investee companies recommended for
engagement. We find that over the past year engagement progress
with these companies has been steady, with several companies
having strengthened their climate change commitments as a
result. For example, Lafargeholcim has committed to a ‘Say on
Climate’ vote, whilst Royal Dutch Shell and BP have ratcheted
the ambition of their emissions reduction targets.
The updated Carbon Risk Metrics implies that the existing
management of carbon risk in the Fund continues to exceed that
of the benchmarks. The Total Equities carbon footprint decreased
by -23.35% between 31st July 2019 and 31st March 2021. At the
latter date, the Total Equity carbon footprint was 27.54% more
carbon efficient than the benchmark. Exposure of the Total
Equity Portfolio to fossil fuel reserves also decreased between
2019 and 2021. As of 31st March 2021, the carbon footprint of the
Investment Grade Bonds portfolio is 135.9tCO₂e/$m revenue.
As per the carbon risk metrics results, the Total Equities portfolio
carbon footprint is 37.4% more carbon efficient than the 2020
weighted benchmark. As a result, the Fund has commendably
met its carbon footprint target four years ahead of plan.
We encourage the Fund to repeat its Carbon Risk Metrics
analysis annually and consider repeating its Climate Scenario
Analysis in 2022 or 2023.

The Climate Scenario Analysis suggests that of the three asset
allocations analysed, the alternative asset allocation is best
positioned to capture upside or “low carbon transition premium”
in a 2°C scenario. From this result, we can infer that the Fund’s
Final SAAB is, based on Mercer’s model, likely to deliver
consistently better results from a climate perspective to 2030,
2050 and 2100 in a 2°C scenario than the Fund’s old SAAB.

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 55
37

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

6.0 Glossary
Carbon Risk Management: How well a company is managing ESG risks
and opportunities. A higher score is indicative of better management.

Responsible Investment factor/RI factor: an aspect of an investment
which relates to environmental, social or corporate governance issues.

Clean Technology/ Weight in Clean Technology: the weight of a
portfolio invested in companies whose products and services include
clean technology. Products and services eligible for inclusion include
Alternative Energy, Energy Efficiency, Green Building, Pollution
Prevention, Sustainable Water.

Responsible Investment/RI: the integration of financially material
environmental, social and corporate governance (“ESG”) factors into
investment processes both before and after the investment decision.

Coal Power Generation/ Portfolio exposure to coal power generation:
the weight of a portfolio invested in electricity utilities where more
than 30% of the fuel mix derives from coal power.
Coal Reserves/ Portfolio exposure to thermal coal reserves:
the weight of a portfolio invested in companies that own thermal
coal reserves.
Divestment/exclusion/negative screening: the exclusion, usually on
moral grounds, of particular types of investments, possibly affecting in
a negative way the riskreturn profile of a portfolio.
Engagement: dialogue with a company concerning particular aspects
of its strategy, governance, policies, practices, and so on. Engagement
includes escalation activity where concerns are not addressed within
a reasonable time frame.
ESG factors: determinants of an investment’s likely risk or return
that relate to issues associated with the environment, society or
corporate governance.
Ethical investment: an approach to investment where the
moral persuasions of an organisation take primacy over
investment considerations.
Fossil Fuel Reserves/ Portfolio exposure to fossil fuel reserves:
the weight of a portfolio invested in companies that own fossil
fuel reserves.
Interaction effect: The combined impact of sector allocation decisions
and stock selection decisions.
Nonfinancial factors: determinants of an investment’s likely risk or
return that cannot be, or cannot straightforwardly be, given a monetary
value for insertion into an organisation’s financial statements.
Physical risk/ climate physical risk: the financial risks and
opportunities associated with the anticipated increase in frequency and
severity of extreme weather events and other phenomena, including
storms, flooding, sea level rise and changing seasonal extremities.
Portfolio Carbon Footprint/ Carbon Footprint: A proxy for a portfolio’s
exposure to potential climate-related risks (especially the cost of
carbon), often compared to a performance benchmark. It is calculated
by working out the carbon intensity (Scope 1+2 Emissions / $M sales)
for each portfolio company and calculating the weighted average by
portfolio weight.

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Scope 1 Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Direct emissions from owner
or sources controlled by the owner, including: on-campus combustion
of fossil fuels; and mobile combustion of fossil fuels by institutioncontrolled vehicles.
Scope 2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Indirect emissions from the
generation of purchased energy.
Scope 3 Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Indirect emissions that are not
controlled by the institution but occur as a result of that institutions
activities. Examples include commuting, waste disposal and embodied
emissions from extraction.
Sector Allocation Effect: The impact of over or underweighting
portfolio sectors relative to a benchmark. Negative value comes
from underweighting sectors with carbon footprints higher than the
benchmark or overweighting sectors with carbon footprints lower
than the benchmark.
Social investing/social impact investing: investments that seek to
achieve a positive social impact in addition to a financial return.
Stewardship: the promotion of the longterm success of companies in
such a way that the ultimate providers of capital also prosper, using
techniques including engagement and voting.
Stock Selection Effect: The impact of specific security selection
within a sector relative to the benchmark. A negative value indicates
the fund manager is choosing more carbon-efficient assets than
the benchmark.
TCFD: Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures. A body
established by Mark Carney in his remit as Chair of the Financial
Stability Board whose recommendations have come to be seen as the
best practice framework for climate-related disclosures by companies,
asset managers, asset owners, banks and insurance companies.
Transition risk/ climate transition risk: the financial risks and
opportunities associated with the anticipated transition to a lower
carbon economy. This can include technological progress, shifts
in subsidies and taxes, and changes to consumer preferences or
market sentiment.
Voting: the act of casting the votes bestowed upon an investor, usually
in virtue of the investor’s ownership of ordinary shares in publicly
listed companies.

Page 56
38

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

7.0 References
BankTrack et al, Banking on Climate Change 2020 Report, https://

National Climate Assessment. "Recent U.S. Temperature Trends".

www.ran.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Banking_on_Climate_

Available at: https://nca2014.globalchange.gov/report/our-changing-

Change__2020_vF.pdf

climate/recent-us-temperature-trends

Blackrock. Adapting Portfolios to Climate Change. Available at: https://

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. "Billion-Dollar

www.blackrock.com/corporate/literature/whitepaper/bii-climate-

Weather and Climate Disasters: Table of Events". Available at: https://

change-2016-us.pdf

www.ncdc.noaa.gov/billions/events

British Broadcasting Corporation. "Climate change: UK government

Nicholas Stern. 2006. The Economics of Climate Chang: The Stern

to commit to 2050 target". Available at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/

Review. Available at: https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.

science-environment-48596775

uk/20100407172811/http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/stern_review_
report.htm

Centre for Sustainable Systems. "Greenhouse Gases". Available at:
http://css.umich.edu/sites/default/files/Greenhouse%20Gasses_

Schroders. "How will physical risks of climate change affect companies".

CSS05-21_e2019.pdf

Available at: https://www.schroders.com/fr/insights/economics/howwill-physical-risks-of-climate-change-affect-companies/

Climate Action Tracker. "Global CAT Emissions Gaps". Available at:

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (TCFD). Available at:

https://climateactiontracker.org/global/cat-emissions-gaps/

https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/FINAL-2017-

Department of Work and Pensions. Clarifying and strengthening

TCFD-Report-11052018.pdf

trustees’ investment duties. Available at: https://assets.publishing.
service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_

The National Aeronautics and Space Administration. " The Causes of

data/file/739331/response-clarifying-and-strengthening-trustees-

Climate Change". Available at: https://climate.nasa.gov/causes/

investment-duties.pdf

The National Aeronautics and Space Administration. "Evidence of

Environmental Protection Agency. "Global Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Data". Available at: https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/global-

Climate Change". Available at https://climate.nasa.gov/evidence/
The National Aeronautics and Space Administration. "Scientific

greenhouse-gas-emissions-data

Consensus: Earth's Climate is Warming". Available at: https://climate.
nasa.gov/scientific-consensus/

Euractiv. "EU carbon prices expected to rise quickly and accelerate
energy transition". Available at: https://www.euractiv.com/section/

The Pensions Regulator: The Trustee Toolkit. Available at: https://www.

energy/news/eu-carbon-prices-expected-to-rise-quickly-and-

iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2019

accelerate-energy-transition/
Financial Reporting Council. The UK Stewardship Code 2020. Available
at: https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/5aae591d-d9d3-4⁰Cf4-814ad14e156a1d87/Stewardship-Code_Final2.pdf

United Nations Environment Programme. 2018. Emissions Gap Report.
Available at: https://www.unenvironment.org/resources/emissions-gapreport-2018
World Economic Forum. Global Risks Report 2019. Available at: http://

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. "Technical Summary".

www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Global_Risks_Report_2019.pdf

In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution
of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Available at: https://www.
ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/WG1AR5_TS_FINAL.pdf
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.. Special Report: Global
Warming of 1.5ºC. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/chapter/spm/
International Energy Agency. "Global EV Outlook 2019". Available at:
https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2019
International Renewable Energy Agency. Renewable Capacity Statistics
2019. Available at: https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/
Publication/2019/Mar/IRENA_RE_Capacity_Statistics_2019.pdf
Mercer. Investing in a Time of Climate Change The Sequel 2019.
Available at: https://www.mercer.com/our-thinking/wealth/climatechange-the-sequel.html

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 57
39

DE R BYS H I R E PENS IO N F UND 2 0 21 C LIMATE RIS K RE PORT

8.0 Important Information
MSCI DISCLAIMER:
Certain information ©2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission.
Although LGPS Central’s information providers, including without limitation, MSCI ESG Research LLC and its affiliates (the
“ESG Parties”), obtain information (the “Information”) from sources they consider reliable, none of the ESG Parties warrants
or guarantees the originality, accuracy and/or completeness, of any data herein and expressly disclaim all express or implied
warranties, including those of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. The Information may only be used for
your internal use, may not be reproduced or redisseminated in any form and may not be used as a basis for, or a component
of, any financial instruments or products or indices. Further, none of the Information can in and of itself be used to determine
which securities to buy or sell or when to buy or sell them. None of the ESG Parties shall have any liability for any errors or
omissions in connection with any data herein, or any liability for any direct, indirect, special, punitive, consequential or any
other damages (including lost profits) even if notified of the possibility of such damages.

LGPS CENTRAL DISCLAIMER:
This document has been produced by LGPS Central Limited and is intended solely for information purposes.
Any opinions, forecasts or estimates herein constitute a judgement, as at the date of this report, that is subject to change
without notice. It does not constitute an offer or an invitation by or on behalf of LGPS Central Limited to any person to buy or
sell any security. Any reference to past performance is not a guide to the future.
The information and analysis contained in this publication has been compiled or arrived at from sources believed to be
reliable, but LGPS Central Limited does not make any representation as to their accuracy or completeness and does not
accept any liability from loss arising from the use thereof. The opinions and conclusions expressed in this document are
solely those of the author.
This document may not be produced, either in whole or part, without the written permission of LGPS Central Limited.
All information is prepared as of 16/07/2021
This document is intended for PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS only.
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Registered in England
Registered No: 10425159. Registered Office: Mander House, Mander Centre, Wolverhampton, WV1 3NB

N OV EMBER 2 0 2 1
Prepared By LGPS Central Limited.

Page 58
40

Agenda Item 4(b)

PUBLIC

FOR PUBLICATION
DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
PENSIONS AND INVESTMENTS COMMITTEE
8 December 2021
Report of the Director of Finance & ICT
Climate-Related Disclosures
1. Purpose
1.1 To present Derbyshire Pension Fund’s (the Pension Fund/Fund) second
Climate-Related Disclosures Report (Disclosures Report), which has been
prepared in collaboration with LGPS Central Limited, to the Pensions and
Investments Committee.
2. Information and Analysis
2.1 Background
The Fund published its first Climate-Related Disclosures Report in March
2020. This report covers the Fund’s second Disclosures Report. It has been
prepared in collaboration with LGPS Central Limited (LGPSC), and describes
the way in which climate-related risks are currently managed by the Fund. It
includes the results of climate scenario analysis and carbon risk metrics
analysis undertaken on the Fund’s assets as part of LGPSC’s preparation of
an annual Climate Risk Report for the Pension Fund.
The Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (The Task
Force/TCFD) was commissioned in 2015 by Mark Carney in his remit as Chair
of the Financial Stability Board, in recognition of the risks caused by
greenhouse gas emissions to the global economy and the impacts that are
likely to be experienced across many economic sectors. The Task Force was
asked to develop voluntary, consistent climate-related financial disclosures

PHR-1275

Page1 59

PUBLIC

that would be useful to investors, lenders and insurance underwriters in
understanding material climate-related risks.
In 2017, the TCFD released its recommendations for improved transparency
by companies, asset managers, asset owners, banks, and insurance
companies with respect to how climate-related risks and opportunities are
being managed. Guidance was also released to support all organisations in
developing disclosures consistent with the recommendations, with
supplemental guidance released for specific sectors and industries, including
asset owners.
The Task Force divided climate-related risks into two major categories: risks
related to the transition to a lower-carbon economy; and risks related to the
physical impacts of climate change. The TCFD report noted that climaterelated risks and the expected transition to a lower carbon economy affect
most economic sectors and industries, however, opportunities will also be
created for organisations focused on climate change mitigation and adaptation
solutions. The report also highlighted the difficulty in estimating the exact
timing and severity of the physical effects of climate change.
The Task Force structured its recommendations around four thematic areas
that represent core elements of how organisations operate: governance;
strategy; risk management; and metrics and targets. The four overarching
recommendations are supported by recommended disclosures that build out
the framework with information that will help investors/stakeholders
understand how reporting organisations assess climate related risks and
opportunities.
Policy frameworks to guide pension funds in their approach to dealing with the
potential risks and opportunties of climate change have also been developed
by the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum and by the Pensions and Lifetime
Savings Association.
2.2 Climate-related Disclosures
The Disclosures Report, attached as Appendix 2, is aligned with the
recommendations of the TCFD. It describes the way in which climate-related
risks are currently managed by the Fund and includes information on the
Fund’s governance of climate risk and on the climate-related stewardship
activities of the Pension Fund which are an important part of the Fund’s

PHR-1275

Page2 60

PUBLIC

approach to managing climate risk. It also includes the results of recent
climate scenario analysis and carbon risk metrics analysis undertaken on the
Fund’s assets as part of LGPSC’s preparation of an annual Climate Risk
Report.
2.3 Climate Scenario Analysis
The Disclosures Report includes the climate scenario analysis included in
LGPSC’s first Climate Risk Report, using data at 31 July 2019 and completed
in 2020. Given the long-term nature of the scenario analysis, it is not
approriate to re-run the analysis on an annual basis. The scenario analysis
was carried out at the asset class level and estimates the effects of different
climate scenarios on key financial parameters (e.g. risk and return) over a
selection of time periods.
The analysis found that:
 A 2°C scenario would have a positive impact on the Fund’s returns
considering both a timeline to 2030 and to 2050. This positive impact is
boosted by the 29% allocation to Global Sustainable Equities in the
alternative allocation.
 A 3°C scenario (which is in line with the current greenhouse gas
trajectory) has a mildly positive impact on the Fund’s annual returns.
 A 4°C scenario would reduce the Fund’s annual returns, with most
asset classes expected to experience negative returns.
The scenario analysis supports the Fund’s ongoing transition to the new final
strategic asset allocation benchmark from 1 January 2022.
2.4 Carbon Risk Metrics
The carbon risk metrics analysis on the Fund’s listed equities and investment
grade bond portfolios from the latest LGPSC Climate Risk Report is included
in the Disclosures Report and considers: portfolio carbon footprint (weighted
average carbon intensity); fossil fuel exposure; thermal coal exposure; and
clean technology (portfolio weight in companies whose products and services
include clean technology).
The carbon risk metrics analysis reports the current exposure to the above
metrics and demonstrates the progress made over the last two years in
reducing the carbon footprint of the Fund’s equity portfolio and reducing the
Fund’s exposure to fossil fuel reserves.

PHR-1275

Page3 61

PUBLIC

2.5 Climate Strategy Targets
The Disclosures Report sets out the targets used by the Fund to manage
climate-related risks, which form part of the Pension Fund’s Climate Strategy
approved by Committee in November 2020, and sets out the performance
against the targets.
The following ‘top down’ targets were agreed by Committee to set direction
and appropriate ambition for an investment strategy towards net zero, and to
monitor whether that strategy is achieving expected outcomes:
 reduce the carbon footprint (Scope 1 & 2) of the Fund’s listed equity
portfolio by at least 30% relative to the weighted benchmark in 2020 by
the end of 2025; and
 invest at least 30% of the Fund portfolio in low carbon & sustainable
investments by the end of 2025.
The table below is included in the Disclosures Report to show the progress to
date in respect of the two targets:
Target
(1) Reduce the carbon footprint (Scope 1 & 2) of the
Fund’s listed equity portfolio by at least 30% relative to
the weighted benchmark in 2020 by the end of 2025
(2) Invest at least 30% of the Fund portfolio in low
carbon & sustainable investments by the end of 2025

Target by
end of 2025

Actual at 31
March 2021

(30%)

(37%)

30%

19%

2.6 DLUHC TCFD Consultation
The Occupational Pension Schemes (Climate Change Governance and
Reporting) Regulations 2021 which came into force on 1 October 2021,
introduced new requirements for private sector pension schemes with £5bn or
more in assets, and for all master trusts, to report in line with TCFD
recommendations to improve both the quality of governance and the level of
action by trustees in identifying, assessing and managing climate risk. The
requirements will be extended to private sector pension schemes with assets
of more than £1bn from 1 October 2022.
The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities is expected to
consult shortly on regulations which will require similar TCFD aligned reporting
by all LGPS funds. The Fund will assess its Disclosures Report against the
requirements when they are published.

PHR-1275

Page4 62

PUBLIC

3. Implications
3.1

Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the
preparation of the report.

4. Background Papers
4.1

Papers held in the Investment Section.

5. Appendices
5.1
5.2

Appendix 1 – Implications.
Appendix 2 – Disclosures Report.

6. Recommendation(s)
That Committee:
a) notes the Climate-Related Disclosures Report attached as Appendix 2.

Report Author:

PHR-1275

Peter Handford
Director of Finance & ICT

Page5 63

PUBLIC

Appendix 1

Implications
Financial
1.1 None
Legal
2.1 None
Human Resources
3.1 None
Information Technology
4.1 None
Equalities Impact
5.1 None
Corporate objectives and priorities for change
6.1 None
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability,
Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding)
7.1 None

PHR-1275

Page6 64

APPENDIX 2
Derbyshire Pension Fund
Climate-Related Disclosures
November 2021
Report prepared in alignment with the recommendations of
the Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

Report prepared in collaboration with LGPS Central Limited

1

Page 65

Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations
Anthropogenic
Anthropogenic in terms of climate change refers to the impact humans have
had on climate change, primarily through emissions of greenhouse gases.
Financial Stability Board
The Financial Stability Board is an international body that monitors and makes
recommendations about the global financial system. It was established after
the G20 London summit in April 2009 as a successor to the Financial Stability
Forum.
Greenhouse Gases
Greenhouse gases are gases in the Earth’s atmosphere that are capable of
absorbing infrared radiation and thereby trap and hold heat in the atmosphere.
The main greenhouse gases are: water vapour; carbon dioxide; methane; and
nitrous oxide.
Scope 1 Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Scope 1 emissions are direct emissions produced by the activities of the
emitter.
Scope 2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions generated by the electricity, heat, or
steam consumed and purchased by the emitter.
Scope 3 Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Scope 3 emissions are other indirect emissions, such as the extraction and
production of purchased materials and fuels, transport-related activities in
vehicles not owned or controlled by the reporting entity, electricity-related
activities not covered in Scope 2, outsourced activities, waste disposal, etc.
UNFCCC
The UNFCCC secretariat (UN Climate Change) is part of the United Nations
and was established in 1992 when countries adopted the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC).

2

Page 66

Abbreviations
CO2
Committee
CH4
DPF
ESG
GHG
IEA
LGIM
LGPSC
NDC
TCFD
WEF

Carbon Dioxide
Pensions & Investments Committee
Methane
Derbyshire Pension Fund
Environmental, Social & Governance
Greenhouse Gas
International Energy Agency
Legal & General Investment Management
LGPS Central Limited
Nationally Determined Contribution
Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
World Economic Forum

3

Page 67

Introduction to the TCFD
The Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (The Task
Force/TCFD) was commissioned in 2015 by Mark Carney in his remit as Chair
of the Financial Stability Board, in recognition of the risks caused by
greenhouse gas emissions to the global economy and the impacts that are
likely to be experienced across many economic sectors. The Task Force was
asked to develop voluntary, consistent climate-related financial disclosures
that would be useful to investors, lenders and insurance underwriters in
understanding material climate-related risks.
In 2017, the TCFD released its recommendations for improved transparency
by companies, asset managers, asset owners, banks, and insurance
companies with respect to how climate-related risks and opportunities are
being managed. Guidance was also released to support all organisations in
developing disclosures consistent with the recommendations, with
supplemental guidance released for specific sectors and industries, including
asset owners.
In his introduction to the final TCFD report, Michael Bloomberg (TCFD Chair)
noted: ‘it is difficult for investors to know which companies are most at risk
from climate change, which are best prepared, and which are taking action.
The Task Force’s report establishes recommendations for disclosing clear,
comparable and consistent information about the risks and opportunities
presented by climate change. Their widespread adoption will ensure that the
effects of climate change become routinely considered in business and
investment decisions. Adoption of these recommendations will also help
companies better demonstrate responsibility and foresight in their
consideration of climate issues. That will lead to smarter, more efficient
allocation of capital, and help smooth the transition to a more sustainable, low
carbon economy.’
The Task Force divided climate-related risks into two major categories: risks
related to the transition to a lower-carbon economy; and risks related to the
physical impacts of climate change. The TCFD report noted that climaterelated risks and the expected transition to a lower carbon economy affect
most economic sectors and industries, however, opportunities will also be
created for organisations focused on climate change mitigation and adaptation
solutions. The report also highlights the difficulty in estimating the exact timing
and severity of the physical effects of climate change.
The Task Force structured its recommendations around four thematic areas
that represent core elements of how organisations operate: governance,
strategy; risk management; and metrics and targets (see Figure 1).

4

Page 68

Figure 1: Core Elements of Recommended Climate-Related Financial Disclosures

The four overarching recommendations are supported by recommended
disclosures (see Appendix 1) that build out the framework with information that
will help investors/stakeholders understand how reporting organisations
assess climate related risks and opportunities. The disclosures are designed
to make TCFD-aligned disclosures comparable, but with sufficient flexibility to
account for local circumstances.
Derbyshire Pension Fund (the Pension Fund/Fund) supports the TCFD
recommendations as the optimal framework to describe and communicate the
steps the Fund is taking to manage climate-related risks and incorporate
climate risk management into investment processes. The Fund published its
first TCFD report in March 2020. The Fund is a long-term investor, diversified
across asset classes, regions and sectors. It is in the Fund’s interest that the
market is able to effectively price climate-related risks and that policy makers
are able to address market failure. The TCFD report noted the important role
that large asset owners have in influencing the organisations in which they
invest to provide better climate-related financial disclosures.
As of 6 October 2021, the Task Force had over 2,600 supporters globally,
including 1,069 financial institutions, responsible for assets of $194 trillion.
TCFD supporters now span 89 countries and jurisdictions and nearly all
sectors of the economy, with a combined market capitalisation of over $25
trillion – a 99% increase since 2020. Disclosure that aligns with the TCFD
recommendations currently represents best practice. The Fund believes
TCFD-aligned disclosure from asset owners, asset managers, and corporates,
is in the best interest of the Fund’s stakeholders.

5

Page 69

About this report
This is the second Climate-related Disclosures report published by Derbyshire
Pension Fund. The first report was published in March 2020, and the climaterelated disclosures will continue to develop over time.
The report has been prepared in collaboration with LGPS Central Limited
(LGPSC), and describes the way in which climate-related risks are currently
managed by the Pension Fund. It includes the results of climate scenario
analysis and carbon risk metrics analysis undertaken on the Fund’s assets as
part of LGPSC’s preparation of an annual Climate Risk Report for the Pension
Fund.
Climate scenario analysis carried out at the asset class level estimates the
effects of different climate scenarios on key financial parameters (e.g. risk and
return) over a selection of time periods.
The Task Force recognised that the use of scenarios in assessing climaterelated issues and their potential financial implications is relatively recent and
that practices will evolve over time, but believed that such analysis is
important for improving the disclosure of decision-useful, climate-related
financial information. Carbon risk metrics analysis on the Fund’s listed equities
and investment grade bond portfolios considers: portfolio carbon footprint
(weighted average carbon intensity); fossil fuel exposure; carbon risk
management; and clean technology (portfolio weight in companies whose
products and services include clean technology).
The challenges of measuring the potential impact of climate change on
investment portfolios are well recognised. The Fund believes that a suite of
carbon risk metrics and climate scenario analysis currently provides the most
appropriate method of analysing climate risk to support the development of a
detailed strategy for integrating climate risk into investment decisions.
The findings of the Climate Risk Report, together with the Fund’s own ongoing
climate research, which is structured around the TCFD’s four thematic areas
of governance, strategy, risk management and metrics and targets, were used
to support the development of the Fund’s Climate Strategy which was
approved by the Pensions and Investments Committee (the Committee) in
November 2020. In addition, high level climate change risk analysis from the
Fund’s actuary, Hymans Robertson LLP, which considers the potential effect
of climate change on the Fund’s liabilities as well as on the assets of the
Pension Fund, supported the development of the Climate Strategy. Guidance
on implementing the TCFD recommendations for asset owners from the TCFD
and the Principles for Responsible Investment have also been utilised.

6

Page 70

Climate-related risks
Human activities are estimated to have caused approximately 1.0°C of global
warming above pre-industrial levels (Source: NASA), most of which has
occurred in the last 35 years. Nineteen of the hottest recorded years have
occurred since 2000 (Figure 2) (Source: NASA), with the exception of 1998,
which was helped by a very strong El Niño. 2020 tied with 2016 for the hottest
year on record since record-keeping began in 1880.
Over 97% of climate scientists (Source: NASA) agree that this trend is the
result of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions which are being trapped in the
atmosphere and creating a ‘greenhouse effect’ – a warming that occurs when
the atmosphere blocks heat radiating from Earth towards space. These
climate scientists have observed that these climactic changes are primarily the
result of human activities including electricity and heat production, agriculture
and land use change, industry, and transport.
Figure 2: Graph showing Global Temperature Difference from 1951-80 average. Source: NASA

The principle source of GHG emissions, particularly carbon dioxide, is the
burning of fossil fuels for the production of energy. The second largest
contributor is methane, primarily related to agrarian activities (i.e. relating to
cultivated land or the cultivation of land), fossil fuel production and waste.
During the last 250 years, atmospheric concentrations of carbon dioxide (CO2)
and methane (CH4) have increased by 40% and 150%, respectively. As
shown in Figure 3 below, in October 2021, the global average concentration of
carbon dioxide was 417ppm compared to its pre-industrial equivalent of
280ppm.

7

Page 71

Figure 3: Levels of Atmospheric carbon dioxide. Source Nasa

Climate scientists believe that in order to mitigate the worst economic impacts
of climate change, there should be a globally co-ordinated policy response.
The majority of climate scientists anticipate that given the current level of
climate action, the world will be between 2°C and 4°C warmer by 2100, with
significant regional variations. This is substantially higher than the Paris
Climate Change Agreement (see Figure 4 for selected extracts of the Paris
Agreement), which reflects a collective goal to hold the increase in the
climate’s mean global surface temperature to well below 2°C above
preindustrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase to
1.5°C.
Figure 4: Selected extracts from the Paris Agreement on climate change. Source: UNFCCC.
Paris Agreement Article 2(1)a
Holding the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels
and pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels,
recognizing that this would significantly reduce the risks and impacts of climate change;
Paris Agreement Article 2(1)c
Making finance flows consistent with a pathway towards low greenhouse gas emissions and climateresilient development.
Paris Agreement Article 4(1)
In order to achieve the long-term temperature goal set out in Article 2, Parties aim to reach global
peaking of greenhouse gas emissions as soon as possible, recognizing that peaking will take longer
for developing country Parties, and to undertake rapid reductions thereafter in accordance with best
available science, so as to achieve a balance between anthropogenic emissions by sources and
removals by sinks of greenhouse gases in the second half of this century, on the basis of equity, and
in the context of sustainable development and efforts to eradicate poverty.

8

Page 72

The Paris Agreement commits signatories to the establishment of Nationally
Determined Contributions (NDCs), which are intended to be individually
equitable and collectively sufficient to achieve Article 2(1)a. It is estimated that
under current global policies (and assuming successful implementation), the
world is heading towards a warming of 3.2°C, albeit the International Energy
Agency (IEA) has estimated that the climate pledges announced at the 2021
United Nations Conference of the Parties (COP26) could keep the
temperature rise to within 1.8°C degrees on pre-industrial levels but only if the
commitments are implemented in full.
As set out in the Fund’s Climate Strategy, the Fund supports the ambitions of
the Paris Agreement, and aims to achieve a portfolio of assets with net zero
carbon emissions by 2050.
The low-carbon transition is already underway, with several governments and
institutions around the world intensifying their climate change policies, and
corporates responding in turn. One example is the recent UK declaration to
bring all greenhouse gas emissions to net zero by 2050, with a target of
cutting emissions by 78% by 2035 compared to 1990 levels.
Acknowledgement of the risks posed by climate change among business and
government leaders is reflected in the World Economic Forum (WEF) Global
Risks Report, which illustrates the increased focus on environmental and
social risks (compared with purely economic and political risks) over time.
Environmental risks, particularly those associated with climate change,
account for four of the top five risks of global business leaders by likelihood,
and three of the top five risks by impact.
Figure 5: WEF Top global risks. Source: World Economic Forum; The Global Risks Report 2021

The more attention business leaders pay to managing climate risk, the greater
the implications for investors. The WEF’s global risks are also highly
interconnected. For example, climate change potentially exposes businesses
9

Page 73

to more natural disasters, extreme weather and water shortages. These in
turn may lead to involuntary migration or conflict. Taking the interconnectivity
of risks into account will continue to be important for long-term investors
seeking to anticipate the effects of climate change and prepare their portfolios
for a changing global context.
Given its contribution to global GHG emissions, the energy sector is expected
to play a significant role in the long-term decarbonisation of the economy,
albeit fossil fuels are expected to continue to provide a large proportion of the
global energy mix for many years to come. The behaviour of private and stateowned energy companies will be as important as the actions taken by their
publicly traded counterparts. It is also important to recognise that the demand
for energy and the type of energy demanded will also play a crucial role in
global decarbonisation.
However, the potential climate-related issues faced by diversified investors
(such as pension funds) are not limited to the oil & gas and power generation
sectors. Investors focussing exclusively on primary energy suppliers could fail
to identify material climate risks in other sectors. There is considerable
uncertainty in the crystallisation pathway for climate risk.
Well known concepts such as stranded assets risk are not homogeneous
within certain sectors (e.g. oil & gas and power generation), and robust due
diligence will be required in order to identify the potential winners and losers.
The uncertainty of climate change stems from the complexity and interrelationship of value and supply chains, the flow through of fossil fuels to byproducts and services across multiple sectors and industries, the pass through
cost of carbon, policy fragmentation, and the consideration that certain
companies are too big to fail. The likelihood of asset stranding depends on
the commodity, the asset quality, the customer base, the rate of technology
change, cost curve dynamics, mitigating strategies (e.g. company diversifying
portfolio), and the ability of the market to price risk and timing thereof.
The Fund recognises that climate-related risks can be financially material and
that the due consideration of climate risk falls within the scope of the Fund’s
fiduciary duty. Given the Fund’s long-dated liabilities and the timeframe in
which climate risks could materialise, a holistic approach to risk management
covering all sectors and all relevant asset classes is warranted.

10

Page 74

Governance
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
a) Describe the board’s oversight of climate-related risks and
opportunities
Roles and responsibilities are clearly set out in the Pension Fund’s
Governance Policy & Compliance Statement.
The Pensions and Investments Committee, which meets six to eight times a
year, is responsible for approving the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement,
together with the standalone Responsible Investment Framework and Climate
Strategy. The Committee also receives a quarterly stewardship report setting
out the stewardship and voting activities of the Pension Fund’s largest
investment managers.
The Fund’s approach to managing climate risk, including the Fund’s beliefs,
objectives, metrics and targets, is set out in detail in the Climate Strategy.
The Committee receives an annual Climate Risk Report from LGPSC and
receives ongoing training in respect of responsible investment and climate
related risks and opportunities.
Derbyshire Pension Board has an oversight role in ensuring the effective and
efficient governance and administration of the Fund, including securing
compliance with the LGPS Regulations and any other legislation relating to
the governance and administration of the Scheme.
To support good decision-making, the Fund applies the Myners Principles.
Disclosure of compliance against the Myners Principles is made annually in
the Fund’s Annual Report.
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
b) Describe management’s role in assessing and managing climaterelated risks and opportunities.
The Head of Pension Fund and the Investments Manager have primary dayto-day responsibility for the way in which climate-related investment risks are
managed. As a largely externally managed fund, the implementation of much
of the management of climate-related risk is delegated to portfolio managers.
Each manager’s approach to Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
factors and how these are integrated into their investment process is
assessed as part of the manager selection process. The Fund’s external
11

Page 75

managers are monitored on a regular basis, and a Climate Stewardship Plan
has been developed.
A climate risk report is procured on an annual basis from LGPSC, the Fund’s
pooling company.
Strategy
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
a) Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the organisation
has identified over the short, medium and long term.
As a diversified asset owner, the range of climate-related risks and
opportunities, are varied and constantly evolving. A subset of risk factors is
presented in Table 1.
Table 1: Examples of Short, Medium & Long-Term Risks

Short & Medium Term

Long Term

Carbon prices
Policy change
Technological change
Risks
Consumer preferences
Stock selection
Timing

Resource scarcity
Extreme weather events
Sea level rise

Listed equities
Asset Growth assets
class Energy-intensity industry
Oil-dependent sovereign issuers
Carbon-intensive corporate issuers

Infrastructure
Property
Agriculture
Commodities
Insurance

Short-term risks include stock price movements resulting from increased
regulation to address climate change.
Medium-term risks include technology and policy changes leading to rapid
product obsolescence or changes in consumer behaviour (e.g. uptake in
electric vehicles), stock selection (there will be winners and losers across all
sectors) and timing (being the first adopter does not guarantee success or
better returns).
Long-term risks include stranded assets, physical damages to real assets and
resource availability. An example would be the risk to coastal infrastructure
assets from rising sea levels.
12

Page 76

The Fund receives an annual Climate Risk Report from LGPSC, the findings
of which, together with the Fund’s own ongoing climate research, support the
preparation of the Fund’s Climate Strategy.
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
b) Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the
organisation’s business, strategy and financial planning.
Consideration of climate related risks and opportunities has impacted the
formulation of the Fund’s new strategic asset allocation benchmark.
Diversification across asset classes, regions, and sectors is an important
investment risk management tool to reduce risk. However, the Fund
recognises that climate risk is systemic and is unlikely to be eliminated
through diversification alone.
As part of the latest review of the Fund’s long-term investment strategy, a 29%
allocation to Global Sustainable Equities was approved. This allocation targets
investments in global companies that are sustainable in financial,
environmental, social and governance terms and, where appropriate, that are
providing solutions to sustainability challenges.
Furthermore, the Fund has invested in several renewable energy
opportunities, and continues to actively assess and invest in these
opportunities. Research commissioned by LGPSC from Mercer (presented
below) suggests that these allocations could lead to a positive return impact
on the Pension Fund’s investment portfolio were a 2°C scenario to be
suddenly priced in by the market.
The Fund’s allocated weighting to the UK equity market has also been
reduced from 30% in December 2016 to 12% in the new final strategic asset
allocation benchmark which will become effective on 1 January 2022. This
has significantly reduced the exposure to companies with fossil fuel reserves.
The Fund’s carbon risk metrics analysis (Figure 8 below) shows that the UK
equity market has the highest exposure to fossil fuel reserves compared to
other regional equity markets, although it should be noted that some of the
largest UK companies with fossil fuel reserves are among the most
progressive in terms of factoring climate risk into their long-term strategy. In
each regional equity portfolio, the Fund has a lower exposure to fossil fuel
reserves companies than the benchmark.
The Fund is exploring options to further embed climate-related risks and
opportunities into its investment strategy.

13

Page 77

TCFD Recommended Disclosure
c) Describe the resilience of the organisation’s strategy, taking into
consideration different climate-related scenarios, including a 2°C or
lower scenario.

Analysis has been carried out by Mercer for LGPSC to understand the extent
to which the Fund’s risk and return characteristics could come to be affected
by a set of climate scenarios. This analysis was completed in 2020 on the
Fund’s assets at 31 July 2019. Given the long-term nature of the scenario
analysis, this analysis will be carried out every two years. The analysis
includes an estimation of the annual climate-related impact on returns and
climate stress tests (to explore the potential impact of a sudden climaterelated price movement). All asset classes are included in this analysis. The
climate scenarios considered are 2°C, 3°C and 4°C above pre-industrial
levels. Three asset allocations have been analysed:
 the actual asset allocation at 31 July 2019 (the reporting date used in
Fund’s first TCFD report);
 the strategic asset allocation benchmark at 31 July 2019 (the reporting
date used in the Fund’s first TCFD report); and
 an alternative strategic asset allocation which is a close proxy for the
Fund’s new final strategic asset allocation benchmark which will become
effective on 1 January 2022.
Since 31 July 2019, the Fund has made significant progress towards its new
final strategic asset allocation weightings, including further investment into
sustainable infrastructure, and expects to complete the move to the new final
strategic asset allocation benchmark in Q1 2022.

14

Page 78

The results of the climate scenario analysis are shown below:
Table 2: Annualised climate change impact on portfolio returns to 2030 and 20501

Timeline

Asset
Allocation at
31 Jul-19

Strategic Asset
Allocation
at 31 Jul-19

Alternative
Strategic Asset
Allocation

2030

+0.15%

+0.25%

+0.72%

2050

+0.02%

+0.08%

+0.36%

2030

0.02%

-0.01%

+0.03%

2050

-0.07%

-0.06%

+0.01%

2030

-0.06%

-0.06%

-0.07%

2050

-0.11%

-0.12%

-0.13%

4⁰C

3⁰C

2⁰C

Scenario

≤ -10 bps

> -10 bps, < 10bps

≥ 10 bps

Key findings of the climate scenario analysis in relation to the alternative
allocation are:
 A 2°C scenario would have a positive impact on the Fund’s returns
considering both a timeline to 2030 and to 2050. This positive impact is
boosted by the 29% allocation to Global Sustainable Equities in the
alternative allocation.
 A 3°C scenario (which is in line with the current greenhouse gas
trajectory) has a mildly positive impact on the Fund’s annual returns.
 A 4°C scenario would reduce the Fund’s annual returns, with most
asset classes expected to experience negative returns.
The scenario analysis produces more positive relative returns for the
alternative allocation under a 2°C and a 3°C scenario than the actual
allocation, and the benchmark allocation, at 31 July 2019. Under a 4°C
scenario, returns across all three scenarios are negatively impacted.
The scenario analysis supports the Fund’s ongoing transition to the new final
strategic asset allocation benchmark from 1 January 2022.

1

Extract from Mercer Limited’s (Mercer) report “Climate Change Scenario Analysis” prepared for and issued to
LGPS Central Limited for the sole purpose of undertaking climate change scenario analysis for Derbyshire
Pension Fund. Other third parties may not rely on this information without Mercer’s prior written permission.
The findings and opinions expressed are the intellectual property of Mercer and are not intended to convey
any guarantees as to the future performance of the investment strategy. Information contained herein has
been obtained from a range of third-party sources. Mercer makes no representations or warranties as to the
accuracy of the information and is not responsible for the data supplied by any third party.

15

Page 79

It should be noted that the climate scenario analysis only forecasts the climate
related impact on relative returns, and does not take account of any other
factors which may have an impact including economic and market conditions;
political and geopolitical events; monetary policy conditions, etc. It is also
important to note that the asset allocation required to capture the upside under
one scenario, may have a negative impact under an alternative scenario.
Climate stress testing analysis suggests that should a 2°C scenario suddenly
be priced in by the market, the Fund could benefit in terms of financial returns,
whereas the opposite is true should a 4°C scenario be priced in by the market.
Table 3: Impacts to returns based on the sudden pricing in of plausible climate-scenarios2

Stress Test
Actual Asset Allocation 31 July 2019
Strategic Asset Allocation Benchmark 31 July 2019
Alternative Final Strategic Asset Allocation Benchmark

2°C Shock
+0.8%
+1.8%
+7.7%

4°C Shock
-2.0%
-2.4%
-2.9%

Translating climate scenario analysis into an investment strategy is a
challenge as: there is a wide range of plausible climate scenarios; the
probability of any given scenario is hard to determine; and the best performing
sectors and asset classes in a 2°C scenario tend to be the worst performers in
a 4°C and vice versa. Despite the challenges, the Fund believes it is
worthwhile procuring climate-related research to support robust decision
making.
Risk Management
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
a) Describe the organisation’s process for identifying and assessing
climate-related risks.
The Pension Fund seeks to identify and assess climate-related risks at the
total portfolio level and at the individual asset level. Both ‘top-down’ and
‘bottom-up’ analysis has been received from LGPSC. The tools and
techniques for assessing climate-related risks in investment portfolios are an

2

Extract from Mercer Limited’s (Mercer) report “Climate Change Scenario Analysis” dated prepared for and
issued to LGPS Central Limited for the sole purpose of undertaking climate change scenario analysis for
Derbyshire Pension Fund. Other third parties may not rely on this information without Mercer’s prior written
permission. The findings and opinions expressed are the intellectual property of Mercer and are not intended
to convey any guarantees as to the future performance of the investment strategy. Information contained
herein has been obtained from a range of third-party sources. Mercer makes no representations or warranties
as to the accuracy of the information and is not responsible for the data supplied by any third party.

16

Page 80

imperfect but evolving discipline; the Fund aims to use the best available
information to assess climate-related threats to investment performance.
As far as possible climate risks are assessed in units of investment return, in
order to compare with other investment risk factors.
As a largely externally managed pension fund, the identification and
assessment of climate-related risks is also the responsibility of individual fund
managers appointed by the Fund. Existing fund managers are monitored on a
regular basis to review the integration of climate risks into the portfolio
management, and to understand their engagement activities.
Stewardship activity is conducted with investee companies by the Pension
Fund. The importance of shareholder voting as a stewardship tool is valued
and the services of a specialist third party voting service provider have been
retained. Historically, the Fund executed voting activities directly but following
the transition of the vast majority of its direct equity holdings into pooled
products, voting is executed by the Fund’s appointed fund managers (see
below).
The Fund has several selected stewardship partners including LGPSC,
Hermes EOS, and Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) (see Table 4
below). A Climate Stewardship Plan has been developed based on the results
of the LGPSC Climate Risk Report to focus the Fund’s engagement
resources.
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
b) Describe the organisation’s process for managing climate-related
risks.
The Fund manages risk by prioritising those risks which it believes will have
the biggest impact on the Pension Fund. For climate-related risks, this will
likely depend on analyses including climate scenario analysis and carbon risk
metrics. The Pension Fund’s approach to climate risk management is set out
in detail in the Fund’s Climate Strategy.
Stewardship activities will remain an important aspect of the Pension Fund’s
approach to managing climate risk. All investee companies are expected to
manage material risks, including climate change, and the Fund believes that
climate risk management can be meaningfully improved through focussed
stewardship activities by investors.
Either through its own membership, or through LGPSC’s membership, the
Fund has several engagement partners that engage investee companies on
climate risk.
17

Page 81

Table 4: The Fund’s Stewardship Partners

Organisation

Remit
Specialist third party voting service provider. ISS’ research includes
recommendations on casting votes on climate-related shareholder
resolutions.
The Fund is a 1/8th owner of LGPSC.
Climate change is one of LGPSC’s stewardship themes, with quarterly
progress reporting available on the website.
The Responsible Investment Team at LGPSC engages companies on
DPF’s behalf, including via the Climate Action 100+ initiative.
Hermes EOS is engaged by LGPSC to expand the scope of the
engagement programme, especially to reach non-UK companies.

DPF is a long-standing member of the LAPFF. LAPFF conducts
engagements with companies on behalf of local authority pension
funds.

The Pension Fund recognises that outcomes of engagement are of greater
importance than the volume of engagement. The outcomes of engagement
activities of the Fund’s stewardship partners are published on each provider’s
website.
The instruction of shareholder voting opportunities is an important part of
climate stewardship. Following the transition of the vast majority of its direct
equity holdings into pooled products, voting activity is largely carried out by
external fund managers.
Legal & General Investment Management (LGIM) currently manages a
sizeable proportion of the Fund’s assets on a passive basis. The votes in
respect of these assets are cast by LGIM. LGIM has a robust approach to
incorporating climate change factors in its voting decisions, including on
specific climate-related shareholder resolutions. The Pension Fund’s direct US
Equity portfolio is managed by an external manager, and the manager is
responsible for casting the votes in line with their policies, which include
specific consideration of climate change factors.
The stewardship and voting activities of the Fund’s largest investment
managers are reported to Committee on a quarterly basis.
Based on analysis prepared by LGPSC, the Pension Fund has developed a
Climate Stewardship Plan which, alongside the wide-scale engagement
activity undertaken by LGPSC, Hermes EOS, and LAPFF, will include
18

Page 82

targeted engagement at investee companies of particular significance to the
Fund’s portfolio.
Figure 6: Sectors to be included in proposed Climate Stewardship Plan

Energy
Materials
Diversified Mining
IT

The forward Climate Stewardship Plan comprises BP; CRH; Gazprom PA; Rio
Tinto; Shell; and Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing.
In order to support and improve the quality of data available to investors to
assess and monitor climate-related risks, the Fund, through its pooling
company, LGPS Central Limited, contributes to the funding of the Transition
Pathway Initiative (TPI). The TPI framework evaluates companies based on
their climate risk management quality and carbon performance in terms of
alignment of the Paris Agreement.
The climate risk management quality score includes an assessment of
policies, strategy, risk management and targets. The TPI award a quality level
to each company assessed under the framework, ranging from Level 0 –
unaware of (or not acknowledging climate change) to Level 4* - satisfies all
management quality criteria.
In terms of the climate risk management quality score, which covered 288 of
companies, the average TPI quality score was 2.7. In terms of carbon
performance and alignment to the Paris Agreement, which covered 194
companies, TPI assessed that 15% of the companies covered were below 2°C
aligned; 5% were 2°C aligned; 16% had Paris pledges; 4% had international
pledges; 45% were not Paris aligned; and 15% related to companies with no
or unsuitable disclosure.

19

Page 83

TCFD Recommended Disclosure
c) Describe how processes for identifying, assessing and managing
climate-related risks are integrated into the organisation’s overall risk
management.
Both ‘mainstream’ risks and climate-related risks are discussed by the
Pensions and Investments Committee. While specific macro-economic risks
are not usually included in isolation, climate risk is included as a separate risk
on the Fund’s Risk Register.
Climate risk is further managed through the Fund’s Climate Strategy and the
Climate Stewardship Plan.
Metrics and Targets
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
a) Disclose the metrics used by the organisation to assess climaterelated risks and opportunities in line with its strategy and risk
management process.
The Fund received its first report covering the carbon risk metrics of its listed
equities portfolios in February 2020. This report set out the carbon metrics of
the listed equity portfolio at 31 July 2019 (the 2020 benchmark). A subsequent
report was received in November 2021 covering the listed equity portfolio at
31 March 2021, together with the carbon metrics in respect of the Fund’s
investment grade bond investments at the same date. The poor availability of
data in asset classes other than listed equities and investment grade bonds
prevents a more complete analysis at this time.
Carbon risk metrics aid the assessment of potential climate-related risks to
which the Fund is exposed, and help to identify areas for further risk
management, including company engagement and fund manager monitoring.
The Fund additionally monitors stewardship data (see above).
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
b) Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and if appropriate, Scope 3 greenhouse
gas (GHG) emissions, and the related risks. TCFD Guidance: Asset
owners should provide the weighted average carbon intensity, where data
are available or can be reasonably estimated, for each fund or investment
strategy.

20

Page 84

In line with the TCFD guidance, the carbon footprints of the Fund’s listed
equity portfolios3 at 31 March 2021, which represented 52.9% of the Pension
Fund’s total investment assets at that date, are set out below:

Carbon Footprint (tC02e/$Mrevenue)

Figure 7: Portfolio Carbon Footprints in each regional equity portfolio 4
350

300
250
200
150
100

50
0
Total Quoted UK Equities US Equities European
Equities
Equities
2020
Portfolio Carbon Footprint

Japan
Equities

Asia-Pacific
Equities

Emerging
Market
Equities
Benchmark Carbon Footprint

Global
Total Quoted
Sustainable
Equities
Equities
2021

Note: The blended benchmark comprises the underlying regional benchmarks, weighted in proportion
to the current GBP amount in each equity region

Figure 7 shows that compared to the weighted benchmark, the Fund’s Total
Quoted Equities portfolio is around 27% less carbon intensive than the
benchmark, and 37% lower than the 2020 Benchmark. This means that, on
average, for every $m of economic output companies produce, the Fund’s
investee companies emit 27% fewer GHG emissions than the companies in
the benchmark. Each regional equity portfolio also has a lower portfolio
carbon footprint than its regional benchmark.
In addition, with the exception of Emerging Market Equities, each regional
equity portfolio has a lower than benchmark weight in companies with fossil
fuel reserves (the Total Quoted Equities portfolio has around 25% less weight
in fossil fuel companies that the blended benchmark - Figure 8 below, 44%
lower than the 2020 Benchmark). The Fund’s weight in thermal coal reserves
was also 29% lower than the weighted benchmark at 31 March 2021 – Figure
9 below).
The carbon footprint analysis above includes Scope 1 and 2 emissions (those
emitted either directly by a company or indirectly through its procurement of
electricity and steam) but does not include Scope 3 emissions (those emitted
by a company’s suppliers and customers). This means that for some
companies the assessment of their carbon footprint could be considered an

3
4

Analysis undertaken on the listed equities portfolios with holdings data as of 31 March 2021.
Certain information ©2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission.

21

Page 85

‘understatement’. Examples could include an online retailer whose logistics
emissions are not included in Scope 1 or 2.
The methodology used to calculate the weight in fossil fuel reserves and
thermal coal reserves includes the full weight of any company which has
either fossil fuel reserves, thermal coal reserves or derives more than 30% of
their energy mix from coal power, regardless of how much those
activities/reserves represent of the company’s total operations.
Figure 8: Exposure to companies with fossil fuel reserves in each regional equity portfolio 5
14

Percentage of Portfolio

12

10
8
6
4
2

0
Total Quoted UK Equities US Equities European
Equities
Equities
2020
Portfolio weight in companies with fossil fuel reserves

Japan
Equities

Asia-Pacific
Equities

Emerging
Global
Total Quoted
Market
Sustainable
Equities
Equities
Equities
2021
Benchmark weight in companies with fossil fuel reserves

Figure 9: Exposure to thermal coal reserves in each regional equity portfolio6
10
9

Percentage of Portfolio

8
7
6
5

4
3
2
1
0
Total Quoted UK Equities US Equities European
Equities
Equities
2020
Portfolio weight in thermal coal reserves

Japan
Equities

Asia-Pacific
Equities

Emerging
Global
Total Quoted
Market
Sustainable
Equities
Equities
Equities
2021
Benchmark weight in thermal coal reserves

Figure 10 below indicates that the Fund’s Total Quoted Equities portfolio has
around a 12% lower exposure to clean technology than the weighted portfolio
benchmark. This measure should be viewed with some caution as there
appears to be a moderate positive correlation in the dataset between sectors
that have a high carbon intensity (or a higher weight in fossil fuel reserves)
and those that have a higher weight in clean technology. For example,
5
6

Certain information ©2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission.
Certain information ©2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission.

22

Page 86

Utilities and Oil & Gas are the sectors with the third and fourth highest weight
in clean technology. This correlation means that it may be difficult to have a
diversified portfolio that is simultaneously carbon efficient, is underweight
fossil fuels, and overweight clean technology. The analysis takes no account
of the Fund’s unquoted onshore & offshore, solar and hydro renewable energy
infrastructure investments. These investments & commitments were in excess
of £275m at 31 March 2021.
Figure 10: Exposure to clean technology in each regional equity portfolio7
60

Percentage of Portfolio

50
40
30
20
10
0
Total Quoted UK Equities US Equities European
Equities
Equities
2020
Portfolio weight in clean technology

Japan
Equities

Asia-Pacific
Equities

Emerging
Global
Total Quoted
Market
Sustainable
Equities
Equities
Equities
2021
Benchmark weight in clean technology

Table 5 below sets out the carbon footprint in respect of the Pension Fund’s
investment grade bond investments at 31 March 2021, which represented
6.1% of total investment assets at that date.
Table 5: Carbon Metrics in respect of the Fund’s Investment Grade Bond Portfolio 8

Carbon Metric
Carbon Footprint

Portfolio
135.9

Benchmark
170.0

% Variance
(20.1)

The Fund’s investment grade bonds portfolio is around 20% more carbon
efficient than the benchmark.

7
8

Certain information ©2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission.
Certain information ©2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission.

23

Page 87

TCFD Recommended Disclosure
c) Describe the targets used by the organisation to manage climaterelated risks and opportunities and performance against targets.
The Pension Fund developed a standalone Climate Strategy which was
approved by Committee in November 2020 and sets out the Fund’s approach
to addressing the risks and opportunities related to climate change.
Portfolio-wide ‘top down’ targets are an important means to set direction and
appropriate ambition for an investment strategy towards net zero, and to
monitor whether that strategy is achieving expected outcomes. However, a
focus on just a single top down portfolio emissions reduction target can
incentivise a shift of assets within a portfolio from high to already lower carbon
assets and sectors, rather than driving additional ‘real world’ emissions
reductions from increasing investments in climate solutions that contribute to
the achievement of the net zero goal. As a result, the Fund will aim to:
 Reduce the carbon footprint (Scope 1 & 2) of the Fund’s listed equity
portfolio by at least 30% relative to the weighted benchmark in 2020 by the
end of 2025; and
 Invest at least 30% of the Fund portfolio in low carbon & sustainable
investments by the end of 2025.
The table below, shows the progress to date in respect of the two targets:
Target
(1) Reduce the carbon footprint (Scope 1 & 2) of the Fund’s
listed equity portfolio by at least 30% relative to the
weighted benchmark in 2020 by the end of 2025
(2) Invest at least 30% of the Fund portfolio in low carbon &
sustainable investments by the end of 2025

Target by
end of 2025

Actual at 31
March 2021

(30%)

(37%)

30%

19%

The Fund has already achieved the first target and expects to make further
progress on this measure and significant progress in respect of the second
target in 2021-22 as part of the ongoing move to the new final strategic asset
allocation benchmark. It is expected that additional material progress will need
to be supported by emissions reductions by companies in the Fund’s
investment universe in order to avoid the risk of unbalancing the equity
portfolio and limiting diversification.

24

Page 88

It should be noted that any improvement in the consistency, comparability and
quality of climate-related data is likely to have an impact on the Fund’s carbon
metrics relative to the targets noted above.
The targets will be reviewed in 2023, and at least every three years thereafter,
and are expected to increase in line with the stated ambition of achieving a
portfolio of assets with net zero carbon emissions by 2050. The impact of the
significant ongoing transitions on performance and risk within the investment
portfolio will be closely monitored and assessed.

25

Page 89

Appendix 1
TCFD Recommendations for Asset Owners
Governance

Recommended Disclosure (a) Describe the board’s oversight of climate-related risks and
opportunities.
Recommended Disclosure (b) Describe management’s role in assessing and managing
climate-related risks and opportunities.
Strategy

Recommended Disclosure (a) Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the
organisation has identified over the short, medium, and long term.
Recommended Disclosure (b) Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities
on the organisation’s businesses, strategy, and financial planning.
Recommended Disclosure (c) Describe the resilience of the organisation’s strategy, taking
into consideration different climate-related scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario.
Risk Management

Recommended Disclosure (a) Describe the organisation’s processes for identifying and
assessing climate-related risks.
Recommended Disclosure (b) Describe the organisation’s processes for managing climaterelated risks.
Recommended Disclosure (c) Describe how processes for identifying, assessing, and
managing climate-related risks are integrated into the organisation’s overall risk
management.
Metrics and Targets

Recommended Disclosure (a) Disclose the metrics used by the organisation to assess
climate-related risks and opportunities in line with its strategy and risk management process.
Recommended Disclosure (b) Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and, if appropriate, Scope 3
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and the related risks.
Recommended Disclosure (c) Describe the targets used by the organisation to manage
climate-related risks and opportunities and performance against targets.

26

Page 90

Important Information
Extract above from Mercer Limited’s (Mercer) report “Climate Change Scenario Analysis”
prepared for and issued to LGPS Central Limited for the sole purpose of undertaking climate
change scenario analysis for Derbyshire Pension Fund. Other third parties may not rely on
this information without Mercer’s prior written permission. The findings and opinions
expressed are the intellectual property of Mercer and are not intended to convey any
guarantees as to the future performance of the investment strategy. Information contained
herein has been obtained from a range of third-party sources. Mercer makes no
representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information and is not responsible for
the data supplied by any third party.
The following notices relate to Figures 7, 8, 9, & 10 and Table 5 (above), which are produced
for the Fund by LGPS Central Limited based on a product licensed by MSCI ESG Research
LLC. This report confers no suggestion or representation of any affiliation, endorsement or
sponsorship between LGPS Central and MSCI ESG Research LLC. Additionally:
Although LGPS Central’s information providers, including without limitation, MSCI ESG
Research LLC and its affiliates (the “ESG Parties”), obtain information (the “Information”)
from sources they consider reliable, none of the ESG Parties warrants or guarantees the
originality, accuracy and/or completeness, of any data herein and expressly disclaim all
express or implied warranties, including those of merchantability and fitness for a particular
purpose. The Information may only be used for your internal use, may not be reproduced or
redisseminated in any form and may not be used as a basis for, or a component of, any
financial instruments or products or indices. Further, none of the Information can in and of
itself be used to determine which securities to buy or sell or when to buy or sell them. None
of the ESG Parties shall have any liability for any errors or omissions in connection with any
data herein, or any liability for any direct, indirect, special, punitive, consequential or any
other damages (including lost profits) even if notified of the possibility of such damages.

27

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4(c)

PUBLIC

FOR PUBLICATION
DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
PENSIONS AND INVESTMENTS COMMITTEE
8 December 2021
Report of the Director of Finance & ICT
Investment Report
1. Purpose
1.1 To review the Fund’s asset allocation, investment activity since the last
meeting, long term performance analysis and to seek approval for the
investment strategy in the light of recommendations from the Director of
Finance & ICT and the Fund’s independent external adviser.
2. Information and Analysis
2.1

Report of the External Adviser

A copy of Mr Fletcher’s report, incorporating his view on the global economic
position, factual information for global market returns, the performance of the
Fund and his recommendations on investment strategy and asset allocation,
is attached as Appendix 2.
2.2

Asset Allocation and Recommendations Table

The Fund’s latest asset allocation as at 31 October 2021 and the
recommendations of the Director of Finance & ICT and Mr Fletcher, in relation
to the Fund’s new final strategic asset allocation benchmark, which comes into
effect on 1 January 2022, are set out on page 3.
The table also shows the recommendations of the Director of Finance & ICT,
adjusted to reflect the impact of future investment commitments. These

PHR-1276

Page1 93

PUBLIC

commitments (existing plus any new commitments recommended in this
report) relate to Private Equity, Multi-Asset Credit, Property and Infrastructure
and currently total around £365m. Whilst the timing of drawdowns will be
lumpy and difficult to predict, the In-house Investment Management Team
(IIMT) believes that these are likely to occur over the next 18 to 36 months.

PHR-1276

Page2 94

PUBLIC

Fund
Allocation

Benchmark

Fund
Allocation

Permitted
Range

Benchmark
Relative
Recommendation

Recommendation

AF
8/12/21

DPF
8/12/21

AF
8/12/21

DPF
8/12/21

(1)

(2)

Benchmark
Sterling
Return

Benchmark
Sterling
Return

DPF
8/12/21

3 Months to
30/9/21

3 Months to
31/10/21

Adjusted for
Commitments

Intermediate
(1)

Final
(1)

31/7/21

31/10/21

Final
(1)

Growth Assets

56.0%

55.0%

57.4%

57.2%

+/- 8%

-

-

55.0%

55.0%

56.0%

n/a

n/a

UK Equities

14.0%

12.0%

15.0%

14.7%

+/- 4%

-

+1.0%

12.0%

13.0%

13.0%

2.2%

3.5%

Overseas Equities:

38.0%

39.0%

38.4%

38.1%

+/- 8%

-

(1.0%)

39.0%

38.0%

38.0%

n/a

n/a

North America

6.0%

-

6.2%

5.7%

-

-

+1.5%

-

1.5%

1.5%

2.6%

6.5%

Europe

4.0%

-

4.3%

3.7%

-

-

+0.5%

-

0.5%

0.5%

0.6%

2.5%

Japan

5.0%

5.0%

4.7%

4.8%

+/- 2%

-

+0.5%

5.0%

5.5%

5.0%

7.0%

3.6%

Pacific ex-Japan

2.0%

-

1.9%

1.9%

-

-

+0.5%

-

0.5%

0.5%

(5.3%)

1.6%

Emerging Markets

5.0%

5.0%

4.7%

5.0%

+/- 2%

-

-

5.0%

5.0%

5.0%

(4.4%)

2.5%

Global Sustainable

16.0%

29.0%

16.6%

17.0%

+/- 8%

-

(4.0%)

29.0%

25.0%

25.0%

1.8%

4.9%

Private Equity

Page 95

4.0%

4.0%

4.0%

4.4%

+/- 2%

-

-

4.0%

4.0%

5.0%

2.5%

3.8%

Income Assets

24.0%

25.0%

20.4%

20.5%

+/- 6%

-

(2.5%)

25.0%

22.5%

26.2%

n/a

n/a

Multi-Asset Credit

6.0%

6.0%

6.8%

6.8%

+/- 2%

-

+1.1%

6.0%

7.1%

8.3%

0.7%

1.0%

Infrastructure

9.0%

10.0%

6.2%

6.3%

+/- 3%

-

(2.0%)

10.0%

8.0%

10.4%

0.5%

0.5%

Direct Property (4)

5.0%

6.0%

4.3%

4.3%

+/- 2%

-

(1.7%)

6.0%

4.3%

4.3%

4.1%

4.1% (3)

Indirect Property (4)

4.0%

3.0%

3.1%

3.1%

+/- 2%

-

+0.1%

3.0%

3.1%

3.2%

4.7%

4.7% (3)

Protection Assets

18.0%

18.0%

16.6%

16.7%

+/- 5%

(2.0%)

(1.0%)

16.0%

17.0%

17.0%

n/a

n/a

Conventional Bonds

6.0%

6.0%

4.6%

4.9%

+/- 2%

(1.0%)

(1.0%)

5.0%

5.0%

5.0%

(1.8%)

(2.4%)

Index-Linked Bonds

6.0%

6.0%

5.6%

5.5%

+/- 2%

(1.0%)

(0.5%)

5.0%

5.5%

5.5%

2.3%

0.7%

Corporate Bonds

6.0%

6.0%

6.4%

6.3%

+/- 2%

-

+0.5%

6.0%

6.5%

6.5%

(0.6%)

(1.7%)

Cash

2.0%

2.0%

5.6%

5.6%

0 – 8%

+2.0%

+3.5%

4.0%

5.5%

0.8%

0.0%

0.0%

Investment Assets totaled £6,194m at 31 October 2021.
(1) Intermediate benchmark effective from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021. Final benchmark effective from 1 January 2022. Recommendations are relative to the Final benchmark
(2) Adjusted for investment commitments at 31 October 2021, together with commitments placed post period-end. Presumes all commitments funded from cash.
(3) Benchmark Return for the three months to 30 September 2021.
(4) The maximum permitted range in respect of Property is +/- 3%.

PHR-1276

3

PUBLIC

The table above shows the current intermediate benchmark, together with the
new final benchmark approved by Committee in November 2020. The final
benchmark will become effective on 1 January 2022. The table above
reflects the following three categorisations:
 Growth Assets: largely equities plus other volatile higher return assets
such as private equity;
 Income Assets: assets which are designed to deliver an excess return,
but with more stable return patterns than Growth Assets because income
represents a large proportion of the total return of these assets; and
 Protection Assets: lower risk government or investment grade bonds.
Relative to the current intermediate benchmark, the Fund as at 31 October
2021, was overweight Cash and Growth Assets and underweight in
Protection Assets and Income Assets. However, should all the IIMT
recommendations set out in this report be implemented, together with the
expected level of commitment draw-downs, the cash balance would reduce
by 4.8% to 0.8%. However, in practice as these commitments are drawndown, they will be partly offset by new net cash inflows from investment
income, distributions from existing investments and changes in the wider
asset allocation.
The IIMT recommendations in respect of North American Equities (1.5%),
European Equities (0.5%) and Asia Pacific Ex-Japan Equities (0.5%) are
outside of the final benchmark’s permitted range. The IIMT believes that while
the investment vehicles required to support a full switch out of North
American Equities, European Equities and Asia Pacific Ex-Japan Equities to
Global Sustainable Equities will largely be in place by the end of the end of
January 2022, there is a risk that product launch delays prevent a full
transition and this is reflected in the IIMT recommendations. However, the
IIMT request flexibility to reduce the North American Equities, European
Equities and Asia Pacific Ex-Japan allocations to zero should the required
Global Sustainable Equity products be launched ahead of expectations. The
proposed regional mix of the allocations is designed to broadly match the
FTSE All World regional composition.

PHR-1276

4

Page 96

PUBLIC

2.3

Total Investment Assets

The value of the Fund’s investment assets increased by £159m (+2.6%)
between 31 July 2021 and 31 October 2021 to £6.194bn, comprising a noncash market gain of around £144m and cash inflows from dealing with
members & investment income of around £15m. Over the twelve months to
31 October 2021, the value of the Fund’s investment assets has increased by
£982m (+18.8%), comprising a non-cash market gain of around £892m, and
cash inflows from dealing with members & investment income of around
£90m. A copy of the Fund’s valuation at 31 October 2021 is attached at
Appendix 3.
Total Investment Assets
6,400

The Fund’s valuation can fluctuate
significantly in the short term,
reflecting market conditions, and
supports the Fund’s strategy of
focusing on the long term.

6,200
6,000
5,800

Portfolio Value - £ in millions

5,600
5,400
5,200
5,000
4,800
4,600
4,400
4,200
4,000

3,800
3,600
3,400
3,200
3,000
Nov-20

2.4

Dec-20

Jan-21

Feb-21

Mar-21

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

Sep-21

Oct-21

Market returns over the last 12 months

PHR-1276

5

Page 97

PUBLIC

The chart above shows market returns for Global Equities in Sterling and the
US dollar, UK Fixed Income and UK Index Linked bonds for the twelve
months to 15 November 2021.
Over the twelve-month period, Global Equities as measured by the FTSE All
World Index, returned 24.7%. In US dollar terms, the returns were slightly
higher at 27.3%, as Sterling strengthened by 1.6% against the US dollar over
the period (from £1:US$1.32 to £1:US$1.34). Equity markets have continued
to deliver positive returns since the last Committee meeting, and the FTSE All
World Index is now more than 25% above its pre-pandemic level.
Global Equities have returned 21.2% in the current year-to-date1 (YTD). The
returns are lower in US$ at 19.1%, with Sterling weakening from £1:US$1.42
to £1:US$1.34 between May and November 2021, almost 2% below where it
started the calendar year. The roll out of vaccination programmes continues
to support the strong global economic recovery that began in Q2-21. Over
69% of adults in the Group of Seven (G7) countries have now been fully
vaccinated, up from 54% at the previous reporting date. Despite this, Covid19 cases generally remain elevated. Whilst vaccines appear to offer weaker
protection from catching and spreading the more contagious Delta-variant,
the evidence suggests that there has been a significant positive impact in
reducing the health impact of the virus. As result, while cases generally rose
over Q2-21 and Q3-21, health care systems were not placed under the same
pressures as previously experienced. However, cases and hospitalisations
are now rising significantly in Europe, and several countries have, or are
considering, new localised and national lockdowns, to protect healthcare
systems.
Markets have largely looked through the risks surrounding the rise in new
Covid-19 cases, with investor attention focussed on the improving economic
conditions and business fundamentals. Headline GDP numbers have painted
a picture of a strong global economy recovery, albeit from a low base.
Corporate earnings have recovered much faster than anticipated, particularly
in the US where, in aggregate, companies posted record breaking Q2-21
earnings. This supported Global Equities, with the FTSE All World Index
hitting several all-time highs across July and August 2021. However, in
September 2021, Global Equities gave up the gains posted in July and
August 2021. Lingering concerns over slowing growth, rising inflation, global
supply chain bottlenecks and questions about whether there would be
another winter Covid-19 crisis eroded market confidence. In US$ terms, the

1

1 January 2021 to 15 November 2021

PHR-1276

6

Page 98

PUBLIC

FTSE All World Index returned -4.0% in September 2021, having previously
gained +3.2% between July and August 2021.
In the Government Bond Market, UK yields rose (i.e. prices fell) between
January and February 2021, and generally traded sideways in March and
April 2021. Between May and August 2021 Government Bond yields
unexpectedly fell to their lowest level since February 2021 (i.e. prices rose).
However, the reduction in yields started to reverse in September 2021 as
expectations grew that the US Federal Reserve (US FED) would shortly begin
tapering its bond-buying programme, which was seen by the market as a
potential precursor to higher interest rates. Meanwhile, hawkish comments
from the Governor of the Bank of England, cemented expectations that UK
interest rates would be increased in November 2021 by 15 basis points to 25
basis points.
During Q4-21 to date2, Global Equities have returned +7.2% in Sterling terms.
Whilst much of the gain in October 2021 reversed the losses posted in
September 2021, strong Q3-21 earnings have once again driven Global
Equities to new all-time highs in November 2021. Government bond yields
have also fallen back from October 2021 highs, as expectations around
aggressive policy action in the short term softened following the decision by
the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee not to raise the Base Rate
in November 2021. Recent comments from the US FED stating that they
would take a patient approach to rate rises has also damped down investor
expectations for monetary policy changes.
The IIMT notes that since 15 November 2021 (i.e. the YTD report covered by
this report) markets have fallen (FTSE All World -2.5%3 in Sterling terms) on
the back of concerns over the newly identified Covid-19 Omicron variant.
Whilst it remains early days in terms of data, early indications are that the
variant may be more transmissible, although its impact on health is not yet
fully understood.
Asset class weightings and recommendations are based on values at the end
of October 2021. As shown in the charts below, equity markets have now
largely recovered most of the March 2020 sell off, albeit this differs by market.
For example, the US market is now higher than at any time in the last five
years, whereas the recovery in the UK market has been much more muted
but has picked-up over the last six months, and is now back close to the level
reported immediately before the Covid-19 pandemic.

2
3

1 October 2021 to 15 November 2021
16 November to 26 November 2021

PHR-1276

7

Page 99

PUBLIC

2.5

Longer Term Performance

Figures provided by Portfolio Evaluation Limited show the Fund’s
performance over 1, 3, 5 and 10 years to 30 September 2021.
Per annum
1 year
3 years
5 years
10 years

DPF
15.7%
7.1%
7.8%
9.5%

Benchmark Index
14.4%
6.4%
7.0%
9.0%

The Fund outperformed the benchmark over all time periods.
The IIMT notes that the one-year return of 15.7% to 30 September 2021
benchmark 14.4%) reflected a catch-up following a sharp market sell-off in
response to the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic. This has been supported
by unprecedented levels of fiscal and monetary support provided by national
governments and central banks. The IIMT does not believe that these levels
of returns are sustainable in the long-term and going forward market returns
are likely to be much lower. The Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement is
based on an assumed average market return of 3.6% per annum over the
next 20 years.
PHR-1276

8

Page 100

PUBLIC

2.6

Category Recommendations
Intermediate
Benchmark

Final
Benchmark

Fund
Allocation
31 Oct-21

Permitted
Range

Recommendation (1)

Benchmark Relative Recommendation (1)

AF

DPF

AF

DPF

Growth Assets

56.0%

55.0%

57.2%

± 8%

55.0%

55.0%

-

-

Income Assets

24.0%

25.0%

20.5%

± 6%

25.0%

22.5%

-

(2.5%)

Protection Assets

18.0%

18.0%

16.7%

± 5%

16.0%

17.0%

(2.0%)

(1.0%)

Cash

2.0%

2.0%

5.6%

0 – 8%

4.0%

5.5%

+2.0%

+3.5%

(1)

Recommendation relative to the Final benchmark effective 1 January 2022

Page 101

At an overall level, the Fund was overweight Growth Assets and Cash at 30 September 2021, underweight Income Assets and
Protection Assets, although if commitments waiting to be drawn down were taken into account, the Fund would move to an
overweight position in Growth and Income Assets. The table on page 3 assumes that all new commitments will be funded out of the
current cash weighting; in practice as private market commitments are drawn down they are likely to be funded partially out of cash
and partially by distributions (income and capital) from existing investments and sales of public market assets. The Fund has
progressively reduced its benchmark exposure to Growth Assets into strength over the last two to three years, as equity valuations
have become increasingly stretched, and increased the benchmark allocation to Income Assets.
The IIMT recommendations reflected in this report: reduce Growth Assets by 2.2% to 55.0% (neutral), with some significant changes
to the regional composition: UK Equities -1.7%; North American Equities -4.3%; European Equities -3.1%; Japanese Equities +0.7%; Asia Pacific Ex-Japan
Equities -1.4%; Global Sustainable Equities + 8.0%; and Private Equity -0.4%; increase Income Assets by 2.0% (Multi-Asset Credit +0.3%; and Infrastructure
+1.7%); increase Protection Assets by 0.3% (Conventional Bonds +0.1%; and Corporate Bonds +0.2%), and reduce cash by 0.1%. The IIMT notes
that the recommendations, which are largely driven by the transition from the intermediate to final benchmark, are subject to market
conditions, liquidity, and product availability. The new benchmark will see the Fund fully divest from its North American Equities,
European Equities and Asia Pacific Ex-Japan Equities allocations and significantly increase the allocation to Global Sustainable
Equities. The IIMT continues to recommend a defensive cash allocation, reflecting both the general market uncertainty and cash
held to fund existing commitment drawdowns.
PHR-1276

9

PUBLIC

2.7 Growth Assets
At 31 October 2021, the overall Growth Asset weighting was 57.2%, down
from 57.4% at 31 July 2021, reflecting net divestment of £71m partly offset
by relative market strength. The IIMT recommends reducing the weighting
to 55.0%; a neutral weighting.

Page 102

The near-term outlook for equities remains mixed. Whilst there is evidence
that vaccinations are proving successful against existing variants (e.g.
Delta), reducing hospitalisation and mortality rates, the winter period is
likely to be challenging for global health care system. New cases are rising
sharply across Europe and several European countries have reintroduced
lockdown measures. The risk of new variants has become more apparent
with the identification of the new Omicron variant. Whilst it remains early
days in terms of data, early indications are that the variant may be more
transmissible, although the impact on health is not yet fully understood.
Other headwinds have emerged that have the potential to weigh on equity
returns in 2022. Central banks are expected to begin tapering bond-buying
programmes, withdrawing a key source of liquidity from financial markets.
Interest rates are expected to rise from record lows, which will benefit some
sectors (e.g. Financials) but hurt others (e.g. Technology stocks).
Nevertheless, any interest rate rises are expected to be implemented
gradually and cautiously, which should soften the impact on financial
markets. Other concerns include rising energy prices and wider inflationary
pressures (transitory or more permanent), tight global supply chains and
the fact that equity valuations which are expensive relative to historic
averages (particularly in the US).
PHR-1276

10

Benchmark Return

Currency Q4-21(*)

Q3-21 CYTD (*)

1 Year (**) 3 Year (**) 5 Year (**)

Since Last
Committee (*)

L3M
31-Oct-21

Sterling Returns
FTSE All World (***)
FTSE UK
FTSE North America
FTSE Europe
FTSE Japan
FTSE Asia Pacific Ex-Japan
FTSE Emerging Markets

GB£
GB£
GB£
GB£
GB£
GB£
GB£

7.4%
3.7%
9.3%
6.9%
(0.7%)
3.6%
3.7%

1.8%
2.2%
2.6%
0.6%
7.0%
(5.3%)
(4.4%)

22.2%
17.8%
27.9%
20.1%
7.0%
4.3%
6.3%

23.4%
27.9%
25.0%
21.7%
16.9%
13.9%
13.8%

12.0%
3.1%
15.1%
9.0%
6.4%
8.7%
8.5%

13.1%
5.4%
16.1%
10.1%
8.8%
9.4%
8.7%

4.7%
3.0%
6.4%
3.8%
(1.6%)
0.5%
1.4%

4.9%
3.5%
6.5%
2.5%
3.6%
1.6%
2.5%

Local Currency Returns
FTSE All World (***)
FTSE UK
FTSE North America
FTSE Europe
FTSE Japan
FTSE Asia Pacific Ex-Japan
FTSE Emerging Markets

US$
GB£
US$
€
¥
US$
US$

7.0%
3.7%
8.9%
8.1%
1.1%
3.2%
3.3%

(0.6%)
2.2%
0.2%
1.0%
5.0%
(7.6%)
(6.6%)

20.0%
17.8%
25.7%
26.5%
16.1%
2.5%
4.4%

27.9%
30.3%
29.8%
28.9%
18.8%
18.9%
28.5%

3.1%
16.3%
10.7%
6.9%
10.0%
9.7%
13.3%

5.4%
16.9%
10.6%
11.8%
10.2%
9.5%
14.0%

2.4%
3.0%
4.0%
4.9%
(0.6%)
(1.7%)
(0.9%)

3.5%
3.5%
5.0%
3.6%
6.1%
0.1%
1.1%

Source: Performance Evaluation Limited & DPF analysis
(*) To 15 Nov-21
(**) To 30 Sept-22
(***) 50% FTSE All World & 50% FTSE Developed
CYTD = Calendar Year To Date

PUBLIC

There are also several sizeable tailwinds supporting equity market returns,
including strong corporate earnings, with sectors that struggled during the
Covid-19 pandemic playing ‘catch-up’ with the wider market as the global
economy gradually returns to ‘normal’.
The chart on the previous page shows the relative regional equity returns in
Sterling terms over the last twelve months, and the charts opposite show
the sterling and local currency returns since the last Committee meeting.

Page 103

After delivering positive returns in July and August, Global Equity markets
fell during September, as the market weakened over concerns about
slowing growth, rising inflation, Central Bank tapering and possible interest
rate rises. These concerns quickly reversed in October, with equity returns
boosted by strong third quarter earnings.
Since the last Committee meeting, the FTSE All World has returned 4.5%
in Sterling terms, supported by strong returns from North American Equities
(6.4%). The one exception to this performance trend has been Japanese
Equities, which returned -1.6% over the period. In contrast to other equity
regions, Japanese Equities continued to struggle throughout October 2021
due to the uncertainty surrounding the Prime Ministerial elections. Now that
these elections have concluded, and the ruling party has won a working
majority, the uncertainty has subsided, and Japanese Equities have started
to show signs of recovering.

PHR-1276

11

PUBLIC

2.8 United Kingdom Equities
DPF Weightings
Intermediate Neutral

14.0%

Final Neutral

12.0%

Actual 31.10.21

14.7%

AF Recommendation

12.0%

IIMT Recommendation

13.0%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)
Q3 21/22 to 15 Nov-21

3.7%

Q2 21/22

2.2%

1 Year to Sept-21

27.9%

3 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

3.1%

5 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

5.4%

The Fund’s UK Equity allocation reduced from 15.0% at 31 July 2021 to
14.7% at 31 October (0.7% overweight relative to the intermediate
benchmark) reflecting net divestment of £27m, partly offset by relative market
strength.
Mr Fletcher notes the upcoming transition to the new final benchmark which
comes into effect on 1 January 2022, and given the quantum of the transition,
Mr Fletcher does not recommend making any tactical or temporary changes
in the regional equity allocations relative to the new benchmark but notes that
the ability of the Fund to transition to the new final benchmark will in part be
dependent upon the availability of suitable investment vehicles, some of
which have yet to be launched.
UK Equities have performed strongly YTD, returning 17.8% so far this year.
The UK’s vaccination programme has been one of the most successful in the
world, allowing the UK Government to lift Covid-19 restrictions. Despite the
strong YTD performance, the FTSE All Share is the only regional equity
market that the Fund invests in which has yet to recover to its pre-pandemic
level. UK Equities significantly underperformed in 2020, reflecting a
combination of the Covid-19 pandemic and Brexit uncertainty. However, the
market’s focus on Brexit has faded, and the economic outlook is improving. In
terms of valuation, the FTSE All Share appears to offer value relative to its
global peers.
The IIMT continues to believe that UK Equity valuations are attractive on a
relative basis and recommends a 1.0% overweight allocation of 13.0%,
PHR-1276

12

Page 104

PUBLIC

relative to the new final benchmark with a modest tilt towards small and midcap stocks.
2.9 North American Equities
DPF Weightings
Intermediate Neutral
Final Neutral
Actual 31.10.21
AF Recommendation
IIMT Recommendation

6.0%
5.7%
1.5%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)
Q3 21/22 to 15 Nov-21

9.3%

Q2 21/22

2.6%

1 Year to Sept-21

25.0%

3 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

15.1%

5 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

16.1%

The Fund’s North American Equity allocation reduced from 6.2% at 31 July
2021 to 5.7% at 31 October 2021 (0.3% underweight relative to the
intermediate benchmark), reflecting net divestment of £42m partly offset by
relative market strength.
Mr Fletcher recommends a neutral weighting relative to the new final
benchmark across all of the Fund’s regional equity allocations; 0% in respect
of North American Equities.
The IIMT believes that while the investment vehicles required to support a full
switch out of North American Equities to Global Sustainable Equities will
largely be in place by the end of the end of January 2022, there is a risk that
product launch delays prevent a full transition. As a result, the IIMT
recommends a 1.5% allocation to North American Equities (1.5% overweight
relative to the new final benchmark) to allow for expected product launch
delays.

PHR-1276

13

Page 105

PUBLIC

2.10 European Equities
DPF Weightings
Intermediate Neutral
Final Neutral
Actual 31.10.21
AF Recommendation
IIMT Recommendation

4.0%
3.7%
0.5%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)
Q3 21/22 to 15 Nov-21

6.9%

Q2 21/22

0.6%

1 Year to Sept-21

21.7%

3 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

9.0%

5 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

10.1%

The Fund’s European Equity weight fell by 0.6% between 31 July 2021 and
31 October 2021, principally reflecting net divestment of £30m.
Mr Fletcher recommends a neutral weighting relative to the new final
benchmark across all of the Fund’s regional equity allocations; 0% in respect
of European Equities.
The IIMT believes that while the investment vehicles required to support a full
switch out of European Equities to Global Sustainable Equities will largely be
in place by the end of the end of January 2022, there is a risk that product
launch delays prevent a full transition. As a result, the IIMT recommends a
0.5% allocation to European Equities (0.5% overweight relative to the new
final benchmark) to allow for expected product launch delays.

PHR-1276

14

Page 106

PUBLIC

2.11 Japanese Equities
DPF Weightings
Intermediate Neutral

5.0%

Final Neutral

5.0%

Actual 31.10.21

4.8%

AF Recommendation

5.0%

IIMT Recommendation

5.5%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)
Q3 21/22 to 15 Nov-21

(0.7%)

Q2 21/22

7.0%

1 Year to Sept-21

16.9%

3 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

6.4%

5 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

8.8%

Whilst there were minimal transactions in the period, relative market strength
increased the Fund’s allocation to Japanese Equities by 0.1% to 4.8% at 31
October 2021 (0.2% underweight relative to the intermediate benchmark).
Mr Fletcher recommends a neutral weighting relative to the new final
benchmark across all of the Fund’s regional equity allocations; 5% in respect
of Japanese Equities.
Japanese Equities have under-performed the FTSE All World YTD (7.0% vs.
21.2% in sterling terms), reflecting general market weakness and a weaker
Japanese Yen (JP¥). Since the start of 2021, the JP¥ has fall by 8.5% relative
to the Sterling. Notwithstanding the cumulative YTD weakness, Japanese
Equities returned 7.0% in Q3-21 (versus 1.5% FTSE World) as Japan’s
Covid-19 vaccination programme picked-up pace, allowing the Japanese
Government to lift some of the restrictions on activity. However, political
uncertainty weighed on returns in October following the decision by PM Suga
to call a snap-election, an election he was widely expected to lose. As a
result, Japanese Equities fell sharply (-5.0% in October 2021 versus 3.3%
FTSE World). PM Suga won a surprise majority in October 2021, providing
him with a strong mandate to enact his domestic and economic policies.
Japanese Equities have since started to recover and appear attractive relative
to their global peers. As a result, the IIMT recommends that the Fund’s
allocation to Japanese Equities is increased from 4.8% to 5.5%; 0.5%
overweight relative to the new final benchmark.

PHR-1276

15

Page 107

PUBLIC

2.12 Asia Pacific Ex-Japan and Emerging Market Equities
DPF Weightings
Intermediate Neutral
Final Neutral
Actual 31.10.21
AF Recommendation
IIMT Recommendation

Benchmark Returns
(GB£)
Q3 21/22 to 15 Nov-21

Asia-Pac

EM

2.0%

5.0%

-

5.0%

1.9%

5.0%

-

5.0%

0.5%

5.0%

Asia-Pac

EM

3.6%

3.7%

Q2 21/22

(5.3%)

(4.4%)

1 Year to Sept-21

13.9%

13.8%

3 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

8.7%

8.5%

5 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

9.4%

8.7%

The Fund’s allocation to Asia Pacific Ex-Japan Equities remained flat over the
period at 1.9%; 0.1% underweight relative to the intermediate benchmark.
Net investment of £25m increased the Fund’s weighting in Emerging Market
Equities from 4.7% at 31 July 2021 to 5.0% at 31 October 2021; neutral
relative to the intermediate benchmark.
Mr Fletcher recommends a neutral weighting relative to the new final
benchmark across all of the Fund’s regional equity allocations; 0% in the case
of Asia Pacific Ex-Japan and 5% in Emerging Market Equities.
The IIMT believes that while the investment vehicles required to support a full
switch out of Asia Pacific Ex-Japan Equities to Global Sustainable Equities
will largely be in place by the end of the end of January 2022, there is a risk
that product launch delays prevent a full transition. As a result, the IIMT
recommends a 0.5% allocation to Asia Pacific Ex-Japan Equities (0.5%
overweight relative to the new final benchmark) to allow for expected product
launch delays.
The IIMT continues to believe in the long-term growth potential of Emerging
markets, noting that these markets have accounted for well over half of global
growth over the last ten years. However, the recovery from the Covid-19
pandemic has been uneven and China’s growth rate appears to be slowing.
Furthermore, increased regulatory intervention by the Chinese government
across several sectors, together with growing investor concern about the
Chinese property market, has weighed on Chinese equities, albeit
performance has improved of late. As a result, the IIMT recommends a
PHR-1276

16

Page 108

PUBLIC

neutral allocation of 5.0% relative to the new final benchmark in respect of
Emerging Market Equities, with current valuations slightly above long-term
averages.
2.13 Global Sustainable Equities
DPF Weightings
Intermediate Neutral

16.0%

Final Neutral

29.0%

Actual 31.10.21

17.0%

AF Recommendation

29.0%

IIMT Recommendation

25.0%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)
Q3 21/22 to 15 Nov-21

7.4%

Q2 21/22

1.8%

1 Year to Sept-21

23.4%

3 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

12.0%

5 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

13.1%

Relative market strength increased the Fund’s allocation to Global
Sustainable Equites from 16.6% at 31 July 2021 to 17.0% at 31 October
2021.
Mr Fletcher recommends a neutral weighting relative to the new final
benchmark across all of the Fund’s regional equity allocations; 29% in respect
of Global Sustainable Equities.
The IIMT remains confident about the long-term investment case for the
Fund’s allocation to Global Sustainable Equities, which typically favour growth
stocks relative to value stocks. A growth stock relates to a company that is
forecast to growth at a rate significantly above the average growth rate for the
market (e.g. high growth information technology stocks), whereas a value
stock relates to a company that appears to trade at a lower price relative to its
fundamentals (e.g. pro-cyclical stocks such as industrials). The charts below
shows that growth stocks have significantly out-performed value stocks over
the last three years, particularly since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic, as
investors favoured quality growth stocks over pro-cyclical stocks, in part
supported by low forward interest rate expectations.

PHR-1276

17

Page 109

PUBLIC

Value stocks enjoyed a rally in Q1-21 (outperforming growth stocks by 7.2%
in sterling terms), as economic activity increased and forward interest rate
expectations picked-up. However, this largely reversed in Q2-21 & Q3-21, a
trend which has continued into Q4-21, as fears over the Delta variant and
falling bond yields supported growth stocks relative to value stocks. On a
one-year basis to 15 November 2021, Growth stocks have returned 25.5%
versus 23.7% from Value stocks.
Value stocks typically out-perform at the start of an economic cycle (as
investors position portfolios for the uptick in economic activity) but the period
of out-performance tends to be relatively short-lived (generally less than
twelve months), and investors start to rotate back into growth stocks. Whilst
the IIMT believes that equity markets may experience a further value rally in
the next six to twelve months (which potentially will have an adverse shortterm performance impact), the IIMT remains confident that the Fund’s
allocation to Global Sustainable Equities will out-perform over the long-term.
The IIMT believes that while the investment vehicles required to support a full
switch out of North American Equities; European Equities and Asia Pacific
Ex-Japan Equities to Global Sustainable Equities will largely be in place by
the end of the end of January 2022, there is a risk that product launch delays
prevent a full transition. As a result, the IIMT recommends a 25.0% allocation
to Global Sustainable Equities (4.0% underweight relative to the new final
benchmark) to allow for expected product launch delays. However, the IIMT
request flexibility to increase the allocation towards a neutral weighting should
products be launched ahead of expectations.
The IIMT notes that one of the options being considered to support the
increase in the Fund’s allocation to Global Sustainable Equities is the use of a
LGPS Central Limited (LGPSC) Climate Factor Fund. The LGPSC Climate
Factor Fund tilts investments based on a five style factors (quality, size, low
PHR-1276

18

Page 110

PUBLIC

volatility, momentum and value) and climate-related factors (carbon intensity,
weight in fossil fuel reserves and weight in green technology) and is subject to
a product specific benchmark. It is proposed that any allocation to the LGPSC
Climate Factor Fund should be benchmarked against the product specific
benchmark.
2.14 Total Quoted Equity Portfolio Carbon Footprint
The Fund’s latest LGPSC Climate Risk Report indicates that the Fund’s Total
Quoted Equities portfolio at 31 March 2021 was around 27% less carbon
intensive than the benchmark, and 37% lower than the 2020 Benchmark.
The IIMT expects that the transition to the new final benchmark will lead to a
‘step-up’ in the carbon footprint reduction of the Fund’s Total Quoted Equities
portfolio relative to the current benchmark and the 2020 Benchmark, and will
update Committee following the completion of the transition, including an
internal IIMT assessment of the carbon reduction relative to the current
benchmark and the 2020 Benchmark.
2.15 Private Equity
DPF Weighting
Intermediate
Netural

Final Neutral

Actual
31.10.21

Committed
31.10.21

AF Recommendation

IIMT Recommendation

4.0%

4.0%

4.4%

5.0%

4.0%

4.0%

Q3 21/22 to 15
Nov-21

Q2 21/22

1 Year to
Sept-21

3 Years to
Sept-21 (pa)

5 Years to
Sept-21 (pa)

4.0%

2.5%

28.9%

4.1%

6.4%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)

The Private Equity weighting increased from 4.0% at 31 July 2021 to 4.4% at
31 October 2021 (0.4% overweight relative to the intermediate benchmark),
reflecting relative market strength and net investment of £5m; 5.0% on a
committed basis.
Mr Fletcher recommends a neutral weighting of 4% in Private Equity.
The IIMT notes that the Fund is overweight to Private Equity on a committed
basis and is not reviewing further opportunities at this stage. The IIMT
believes that the Fund’s outstanding private equity commitments of around
£65m are well positioned to benefit from any market opportunities resulting
from the recovery from the coronavirus outbreak with a strong focus on small
and mid-cap deals.

PHR-1276

19

Page 111

PUBLIC

The Fund’s listed (i.e. liquid) private equity investments (around 40% of the
total private equity portfolio) have performed strongly over the last 12 months
(+45%), and the IIMT recommends that the Fund ‘locks-in’ some of these
profits, and reduces the overall Private Equity allocation by 0.4% to 4.0%
(neutral relative to the new final benchmark).
2.16 Income Assets
At 31 October 2021, the overall weighting in Income Assets was 20.5%, 0.1%
higher than that reported at 31 July 2021, reflecting net investment of £14.5m,
partly offset by relative market weakness. The IIMT recommendations below
would take the overall Income Asset weighting to 22.5%, and the committed
weighting to 26.2%.
2.17 Multi Asset Credit
DPF Weighting
Intermediate Neutral

Final Neutral

Actual 31.10.21

AF Recommendation

IIMT Recommendation

6.0%

6.0%

6.8%

6.0%

7.1%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)
Q3 21/22 to
15 Nov-21

Q2 21/22

1 Year to
Sept-21

3 Years to
Sept-21 (pa)

5 Years to
Sept-21 (pa)

0.4%

0.7%

6.9%

4.0%

3.8%

The Fund’s allocation to Multi-Asset Credit remained flat between 31 July
2021 and 31 October 2021 at 6.8%, with net investment of £11m being offset
by relative market weakness; 0.8% overweight relative to the intermediate
benchmark.
Mr Fletcher notes that whilst the spread available from high-yield bonds and
loans, together with emerging market debt, has widened slightly in the period
to mid-November 2021, the return from these assets has been better than
those from conventional gilts and investment grade credit. Mr Fletcher notes
that the income from these asset classes provides most of the return and
expects this to continue for some time going forward. As a result, Mr Fletcher
recommends a 6% neutral allocation to Multi-Asset Credit.
The IIMT continues to be positive about the long-term attractions of the asset
class and favours a strong bias towards defensive forms of credit (e.g. senior
secured debt and asset backed securities). The IIMT recommends increasing

PHR-1276

20

Page 112

PUBLIC

the current allocation by 0.3% to 7.1% (1.1% overweight), reflecting expected
commitment drawdowns in the upcoming quarter.
Since 31 October 2021, the Fund has finalised a £50m commitment to a
LGPSC Private Debt Fund. The time critical commitment, which principally
relates to the provision of senior secured loans to finance private equity
transactions, was approved by the Director of Finance & ICT in conjunction
with the Chair of the Pensions and Investments Committee. The LGPSC
Private Debt Fund is a fund-of-fund product, with LGPSC making underlying
commitments to externally managed private debt funds to increase
diversification and reduce default risk. The commitment increases the
committed weighting to 8.2%. Whilst this implies that the Fund is 2.2% overcommitted to the asset class, the draw-down of these commitments will take
several years, and as these commitments are drawn-down, they will be partly
offset by distributions/realisations from existing investments.
2.18 Property
DPF Weighting
Intermediate Neutral

Final Neutral

Actual 31.10.21

AF Recommendation

IIMT Recommendation

9.0%

9.0%

7.4%

9.0%

7.4%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)
Q3 21/22 to
15 Nov-21

Q2 21/22

1 Year to
Sept-21

3 Years to
Sept-21 (pa)

5 Years to
Sept-21 (pa)

Not Available

4.3%

11.8%

3.6%

5.5%

The Fund’s allocation to Property remained flat at 7.4% at 31 October 2021.
Direct Property accounted for 4.3% (1.7% underweight against the new final
benchmark) and Indirect Property accounted for 3.1% (0.1% overweight
against the new final benchmark). The committed weight was 7.5% at 31
October 2021.
Mr Fletcher notes that the performance of the Fund’s property allocation has
proved to be resilient over the last 12 to 18 months despite the impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic. Mr Fletcher recommends a neutral overall allocation to
property but notes that the Direct Property allocation has outperformed the
Indirect Property allocation. Mr Fletcher would like to see the Direct Property
allocation increased, funded from realisations out of the Indirect Property
allocation, but acknowledges that this should be done with caution as it is a
very long-term investment decision, and property transactions tend to be quite
expensive.
PHR-1276

21

Page 113

PUBLIC

The Fund’s Direct Property Manager notes that the recovery in the UK
economy means that GDP is now virtually on a par with the pre-pandemic
level. However, the economy is forecast to slow once again next year, with
staff shortages in some sectors and transportation problems in others causing
supply side issues. Inflation is beginning to rise sharply, and interest rates
are forecast to rise to combat this.
Returns from commercial property have been much improved from last year.
The benchmark return from UK commercial property was 4.1%, with an
income return of 1.1% and capital value growth of 3.0%. The total one-year
return was 10.7%, comprising an income return of 4.5% and capital value
growth of 6.0%. The current void rate is 7.8% (-0.2% relative to the
benchmark), down from 8.8% in the previous quarter. Forward investment
focus is on industrial, retail warehouse and alternatives, albeit the manager
notes that the weight of money flowing into industrial investments and the
consequential increase in pricing levels in this sector is making it increasingly
difficult to find value in the sector.
The IIMT recommends that in the short term the Fund’s current allocations to
Direct Property (4.3%; 1.7% underweight) and Indirect Property (3.1%; 0.1%
overweight) are maintained but liquidity of up to £100m is made available to
the Direct Property manager to make further investments at the right time
should suitable investment opportunities be identified. The IIMT continues to
believe that Indirect Property increases the options available to the Fund to
deploy capital into a relatively illiquid asset class and increases portfolio
diversification, including exposure to overseas assets, private rented
accommodation, student accommodation, development capital and medical
centres.
2.19 Infrastructure
DPF Weighting
Intermedidate
Neutral

Final
Neutral

Actual
31.10.21

Committed
31.10.21

AF Recommendation

IIMT Recommendation

9.0%

10.0%

6.3%

9.7%

10.0%

8.0%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)
Q3 21/22 to
15 Nov-21

Q2 21/22

1 Year to
Sept-21

3 Years to
Sept-21 (pa)

5 Years to
Sept-21 (pa)

0.3%

0.5%

2.1%

2.5%

2.5%

PHR-1276

22

Page 114

PUBLIC

The Fund’s allocation to Infrastructure increased from 6.2% at 31 July 2021 to
6.3% at 31 October 2021 reflecting net investment of £14m, partly offset by
relative market weakness.
Mr Fletcher recommends a neutral weighting relative to the new final
benchmark of 10% allocation, although Mr Fletcher acknowledges that
because of the nature of the infrastructure investment process, it takes time to
deploy capital to the asset class.
The IIMT continues to view Infrastructure as an attractive long-term asset
class and favours a bias towards core infrastructure assets or renewable
energy assets. These assets can offer low volatility; low correlation to equity
and fixed income; and reliable long-term cash flows. Notwithstanding the
noted favourable long-term characteristics of the asset class, the IIMT
continues to believe that infrastructure assets are exposed to increased
political and regulatory risk, and this risk is managed through asset type and
geographical diversification. It should also be noted that the current market
valuation of some infrastructure assets, particularly renewable infrastructure
assets, are becoming increasingly stretched driven by strong investor
demand.
The IIMT recommends that the invested weighting is increased by 1.7% to
7.3% in the next quarter, reflecting expected upcoming commitment
drawdowns and continued investment into listed infrastructure; 10.4% on a
committed basis.

PHR-1276

23

Page 115

PUBLIC

2.20 Protection Assets

Page 116
The weighting in Protection Assets at 31 October 2021 was 16.7%, 0.1% higher than that reported at 31 July 2021 reflecting net
investment of £43m, partly offset by market weakness. The IIMT recommendations below increase the weighting by 0.3% to 17.0%.
UK Government bond yields have increased since the last Committee meeting (i.e. lower prices), reflecting increasing concerns
about the inflation outlook. Yields were relatively volatile over the period, in part reflecting messaging from the Bank of England
which initially indicated that rates would rise in November, a rise which did not materialise.

PHR-1276

24

PUBLIC

2.21 Conventional Bonds
DPF Weightings
Intermediate Neutral

6.0%

Final Neutral

6.0%

Actual 31.10.21

4.9%

AF Recommendation

5.0%

IIMT Recommendation

5.0%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)
Q3 21/22 to 15 Nov-21

2.6%

Q2 21/22

(1.8%)

1 Year to Sept-21

(6.8%)

3 Years to Jun-21 (pa)

3.0%

5 Years to Jun-21 (pa)

1.2%

The Fund’s allocation to Conventional Bonds increased by 0.3% between 31
July 2021 and 31 October 2021, reflecting net investment of £31m partly offset
by relative market weakness; 1.1% underweight relative to the intermediate
benchmark.
Mr Fletcher has maintained his 1.0% underweight recommendation to
Conventional Bonds, with the 1% being allocated to an increase in the Cash
weighting. Whilst Mr Fletcher continues to expect government bond yields to
rise over the medium term (i.e. supporting a 1% underweight allocation), Mr
Fletcher believes that yields are as likely to fall as they are to rise in the shortterm. Mr Fletcher believes that the Bank of England could increase the Base
Rate as early as its next MPC meeting in December 2021, unless they can
see slower growth and moderating, if still elevated, inflation. Whilst Mr
Fletcher recognises the benefit of holding government bonds as protection
against an equity market sell-off and to match the Fund’s liabilities, he
believes that at their current low level of yield, government bonds provide
neither income or the level of protection as they have in the past.
The IIMT continues to believe that whilst conventional sovereign bonds do not
appear to offer good value at current levels with yields around historic lows,
they are diversifying assets and continue to afford greater protection than
other asset classes in periods of market uncertainty as evidenced during the
Covid-19 pandemic. Furthermore, with Global Equities trading at all-time
highs, Growth Assets look potentially vulnerable to a correction, especially

PHR-1276

Page
25117

PUBLIC

with the uncertainty surrounding a general rise in worldwide new Covid-19
cases. The IIMT recommends increasing the weighting slightly by 0.1% to
5.0%; 1.0% underweight relative to the new final benchmark.
2.22 Index-Linked Bonds
DPF Weightings
Intermediate Neutral

6.0%

Final Neutral

6.0%

Actual 31.10.21

5.5%

AF Recommendation

5.0%

IIMT Recommendation

5.5%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)
Q3 21/22 to 15 Nov-21

8.2%

Q2 21/22

2.3%

1 Year to Sept-21

0.5%

3 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

6.1%

5 Years to Sept-21 (pa)

3.1%

There were no transactions in the period and the Fund’s allocation to IndexLinked Bonds fell from 5.6% at 31 July 2021 to 5.5% at 31 October 2021
(0.5% underweight relative to the intermediate benchmark), reflecting relative
market weakness. The Fund’s allocation at 31 October 2021 comprised 80%
UK Index-Linked Bonds (UK Linkers) and 20% US Treasury Inflation
Protected Bonds (US TIPS).
Mr Fletcher has maintained his recommended allocation to UK Linkers at 5%
(1% underweight), with the 1% being allocated to an increase in the Cash
weighting. Mr Fletcher continues to believe that UK Linkers are over-valued
and long-term investors should look elsewhere for inflation protection.
Markets have become increasingly concerned about higher inflation over the
last few months’ driven by the ‘post Covid-19’ economic recovery; supply
constraints; high-savings rates (which could reverse and lead to a spending
surge), and US policy stimulus. However, it is unclear whether this will be a
short-term increase or lead to longer term inflation pressures. The IIMT
believes that the potential for higher inflation, either in the short or longer term,
supports the Fund’s current Index-Linked bonds allocation, and therefore
recommends that the weighting is maintained at 5.5%. The IIMT recommends

PHR-1276

Page26
118

PUBLIC

maintaining the Fund’s current exposure to US TIPS, noting that these offer
diversification and protection against rising US inflation expectations.
2.23 Corporate Bonds
DPF Weightings
Intermediate Neutral

6.0%

Final Neutral

6.0%

Actual 31.10.21

6.3%

AF Recommendation

6.0%

IIMT Recommendation

6.5%

Benchmark Returns (GB£)
Q3 21/22 to 15 Nov-21
Q2 21/22
1 Year to Sept-21

0.4%
(0.6%)
0.8%

3 Years to Sept-21 (pa) (1)

n/a

5 Years to Sept-21 (pa) (1)

n/a

(1)

Benchmark returns for the LGPS Central Limited Investment Grade Bonds Sub-Fund only available since the launch of the
product in February 2020

Net investment of £12m in September 2021 was offset by relative market
weakness and the Fund’s allocation to Global Investment Grade bonds fell
from 6.4% at 31 July 2021 to 6.3% at 31 October 2021; 0.3% overweight
relative to the intermediate benchmark.
Mr Fletcher notes that low government bond yields and central bank policy
rates, suggest the extra yield spread for non-government (i.e. investment
grade bonds) and high yield bonds and loans may be attractive but spreads in
aggregate are now back to the lows seen prior to the Covid-19 pandemic. Mr
Fletcher recommends at 6% neutral allocation to investment grade bonds.
The IIMT notes that investment grade bond spreads are low and have
narrowed significantly since spiking in March 2020. Furthermore, it is unclear
whether the current level of yield spread compared to government bonds is
sufficient to compensate for the increased default, particularly when the shape
of the recovery is unknown, and the recovery cannot easily be benchmarked
to previous trends. However, investment grade bonds are likely to be more
defensively positioned relative to Growth Assets, should markets experience
any period of weakness. As a result, the IIMT recommends increasing the
current allocation to the asset class by 0.2% to 6.5%; 0.5% overweight.

PHR-1276

Page
27119

PUBLIC

2.24 Cash
The Cash weighting at 31 October 2021 was 5.6% (3.6% overweight relative
to the intermediate benchmark), unchanged from 31 July 2021.
Mr Fletcher has maintained his 4% weighting in Cash (2% overweight) funded
from underweight positions in Conventional Bonds (1%) and Index-Linked
Bonds (1%), reflecting the extremely low yield and high duration risk currently
attached to those asset classes. Mr Fletcher notes that given the current
valuation of all investment markets, together with the Fund’s upcoming
contractual commitments, he is not in a hurry to reduce the cash allocation.
The IIMT notes that whilst global markets have recovered strongly following
the sharp sell-off in Q1-20, the recovery has been heavily dependent on
substantial and unprecedented central bank monetary support and national
government fiscal support. Any change of tone from the central banks,
potentially in response to higher inflation expectations, is likely to have a
material effect on markets. Furthermore, whilst the roll-out of vaccines
continues to progress, a number of countries continue to face rising new
cases (i.e. a potential fourth wave), and the impact of new variants remains a
sizeable risk (e.g. Omicron). The recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic is
likely to be uneven, and markets appear to be ignoring significant headwinds
including considerable uncertainty about the shape of the economic recovery;
continuing high levels of coronavirus cases in some countries (including the
risk of new variants); rising inflationary pressures; tight global supply chains;
rising geopolitical uncertainty; and the potential uncertainty caused by the
relatively new Biden administration in the US.
The IIMT recommends a defensive cash allocation of 5.5% (3.5% overweight
relative to the new final benchmark) due to the uncertain economic outlook,
and the current rich valuations across most asset classes. This will also
ensure that the Fund has sufficient operational headroom after adjusting for
term-loan maturities (i.e. short-term loans provided by the Fund to other public
sector bodies) to cover upcoming investment commitment drawdowns
(expected to be in excess of £180m over the course of 2021-22), and to cover
the likelihood that cash inflows into the Fund, particularly, from investment
income, will reduce as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.

PHR-1276

Page28
120

PUBLIC

It should be noted that in the quarter to 31 October 2021, the Fund switched
£50m of the Fund’s cash balance from money market deposits into shortdated investment grade bond funds. These highly liquid funds should allow the
Fund to pick-up additional yield relative to money market deposits.
3
3.1

4
4.1
5
5.1
5.2
5.2
6

Implications
Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the
preparation of the report.
Background Papers
Papers held in the Investment Section.
Appendices
Appendix 1 – Implications.
Appendix 2 – Report of independent external adviser.
Appendix 3 – Portfolio Valuation Report at 31 October 2021.
Recommendation(s)

That Committee:
a)
b)
c)
d)

7

note the report of the independent external advisor, Mr Fletcher.
note the asset allocations, total assets and long-term performance
analysis set out in the report.
approve the IIMT recommendations outlined in the report.
approve the benchmarking of any allocation to the LGPSC Climate
Factor Fund to the product specific benchmark.
Reasons for Recommendation(s)

7.1 Both Mr Fletcher’s report and the analysis set out in this report in
respect of asset allocation, total assets and long-term performance provide an
overview of the Fund’s investment strategy and performance track-record on
which to assess the asset allocation positioning for the Fund for the upcoming
quarter.
7.2 The rationale for each of the IIMT asset allocation recommendations
included in this report is set out in Section 2.
Report Author:

PHR-1276

Peter Handford
Director of Finance & ICT

Page
29121

PUBLIC

Appendix 1

Implications
Financial
1.1 None
Legal
2.1 None
Human Resources
3.1 None
Information Technology
4.1 None
Equalities Impact
5.1 None
Corporate objectives and priorities for change
6.1 None
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability,
Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding)
7.1 None

PHR-1276

Page30
122

Appendix 2

Third Quarter 2021 Investment Report
PREPARED FOR:

Derbyshire County Council Pension Fund: Pensions and
Investment Committee Meeting
DECEMBER 2021

This document is directed only at the person(s) identified on the front cover of this document and is governed
by the associated agreements we have with that person. No liability is admitted to any other user of this report
and if you are not the named recipient you should not seek to rely upon it.
This document is issued by MJ Hudson Allenbridge a trading name MJ Hudson Investment Advisers Limited,
an appointed representative of MJ Hudson Advisers Limited which is Authorised and Regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority. The Registered Office of MJ Hudson Advisers Limited is 1 Frederick's Place,
Page 123
London, United Kingdom, EC2R 8AE.

Investment Report for Derbyshire County
Council Pension Fund
This report has been prepared by Anthony Fletcher “External Investment Advisor” of Derbyshire
County Council Pension Fund (the Fund). At the request of the Pension and Investment Committee
the purpose of the report is to fulfil the following aims:  Provide an overview of market returns by asset class over the last quarter and 12 months.
 An analysis of the Fund’s performance by asset class versus the Fund specific benchmark for the
last quarter and the last 12 months.
 An overview of the economic and market outlook by major region, including consideration of the
potential impact on the Fund’s asset classes
 An overview of the outlook for each of the Funds asset classes for the next two years; and
recommend asset class weightings for the next quarter together with supporting rationale.
The report is expected to lead to discussions with the in-house team on findings and recommendations
as required. The advisor is expected to attend quarterly meetings of the Pensions and Investment
Committee to present his views and actively advise committee members. To the extent this report
contains advice it is intended as strategic advice to inform the investment strategy statement rather
than investment advice.
Meeting date 8th December 2021
Date of paper 25th November 2021

Page 124
2

1.

Market Background (Third quarter 2021)

As I suggested in the outlook section of my last report, sentiment in the third quarter was being
impacted by a number of “less” positive factors. Namely: the rising covid Delta variant infection
rates in the Asia-pacific region; the decision by governments in the region to put in place local
lockdown measures; further worsening the impact on already stretched global supply chains; and at
the macro-economic level, a fear that inflation would morph from transitory into persistent inflation,
and finally concerns that GDP growth rates had peaked. All contributed to much lower and more
varied market returns than we have seen in previous quarters.
On the back of these concerns developed market equity performance was modest. Emerging Markets
returns were disappointing, primarily the result of government interventions and high corporate debt
in China. China’s decision to reign in some of the excesses of recent growth and to roll out its policy
of “shared prosperity” had a significant impact on certain sectors of the stock market. Its decision to
pursue tighter credit conditions also impacted the property sector, which in my view has grown
disproportionately in recent years and if it continued uncontrolled could have led to a wider contagion
effect in the region.
Global supply shortages led to sharp price increases across energy and commodity markets.
Government bond performance was mixed, the highly interest rate sensitive, UK conventional gilts
saw the largest increases in yield, whereas index-linked gilts performed well on rising inflation
expectations. Higher quality and longer duration Investment grade credit bonds were generally
weaker, whereas higher yielding less interest rate sensitive, European and US high yield bonds
outperformed despite a slight widening of spreads over the quarter.
While GDP growth understandingly slowed from the extremely positive second quarter bounce back
last year, annualised growth rates remain well above the rates seen prior to the pandemic. However,
growth is expected to slow further in the fourth quarter and into next year. This expectation is due to
tight labour markets, supply constraints and the withdrawal of government emergency support
packages.
Chart 1: - Annualised rates of quarter on quarter GDP growth.

Source: - Bloomberg

Page 125
3

Table 1, below shows the total investment return in pound Sterling for the major asset classes, using
FTSE indices except where noted; for the month of October 2021 and the 3 and 12 months to the end
of September 2021.
% TOTAL RETURN DIVID ENDS REINVESTED
MARKET RETURNS
Period end 30th September 2021
October 2021

3 months

12 months

Global equity FTSE All-World

3.3

1.8

23.4

Regional indices
UK All Share
North America
Europe ex UK
Japan
Pacific Basin
Emerging Equity Markets

1.8
5.3
3.0
-5.0
0.0
-0.5

2.2
2.6
0.6
7.0
-5.3
-4.4

27.9
25.0
21.7
16.9
13.9
13.8

UK Gilts - Conventional All Stocks
UK Gilts - Index Linked All Stocks
UK Corporate bonds*
Overseas Bonds**

1.6
3.9
0.1
-0.3

-1.9
2.3
-1.0
0.0

-7.0
0.5
0.2
-2.1

UK Property quarterly^
Sterling 7 day LIBOR

0.0

4.1
0.0

10.7
0.0

^ MSCI indices * ICE £ Corporate Bond; **ICE global government ex UK LOC

Chart 1: - UK bond and equity market returns - 12 months to 30th September 2021

Source: - Bloomberg

Page 126
4

Table 2: - Change in Bond Market yields over the quarter and 12 months.
BOND MARKET
% YIELD TO
MATURITY

30th June
2021

30th
September
2021

Quarterly
Change
%

30th
September
2020

Current 12th
November
2021

UK GOVERNMENT BONDS (GILTS)
10 year

0.72

1.02

0.30

0.23

0.91

30 year

1.24

1.37

0.13

0.78

1.06

All Stocks ILG

-2.37

-2.54

-0.17

-2.47

-2.84

OVERSEAS 10 YEAR GOVERNMENT BONDS
US Treasury

1.47

1.49

0.02

0.68

1.57

Germany

-0.20

-0.19

-0.01

-0.52

-0.24

Japan

0.05

0.07

0.02

0.02

0.08

NON-GOVERNMENT BOND INDICES
Global corporates

1.59

1.66

0.07

1.63

1.75

Global High yield

4.09

4.43

0.34

5.74

4.74

Emerging markets

3.56

3.77

0.21

3.76

3.80

Source: - Trading economics and ICE Indices G0LI, G0BC, HW00, EMGB, 12th November 2021.

Chart 2: - UK Bond index returns, 12 months to 30th September 2021.

Source: - Bloomberg

Page 127
5

Chart 3: - Overseas equity markets returns in Sterling terms, 12 months to 30th September 2021

Source: - Bloomberg

Recent developments (October and early November 2021)
After a weak start, equity markets regained momentum throughout October with many equity indices
making new highs during the course of the month. US stocks were supported by a strong start to the
Q3 earnings season. Chinese indices also rebounded, in part thanks to progress in the beleaguered
property sector.
Bond markets were volatile. The combination of persistent bottlenecks in the global supply chain and
booming energy prices added to concerns that inflation may be persistent rather than transitory. This
was not helped by bad messaging from the Bank of England, suggesting they may raise rates in
November, only for this not to happen. As a result, UK and US government bond yields made new
post pandemic highs, only to fall after the respective central bank meetings in early November,
thereafter rates were left unchanged. However, it has led to a marked flattening of yield curves,
suggesting that bond investors believe we are closer to a rate hike.
The main feature of the quarter to date has been a combination of strong demand and supply
constraints in energy markets, that has created price volatility and record highs in October and
November. Demand has been driven by growth and supply has been impacted by a combination of
the intermittency of renewables, lack of contingency planning and unhelpful regulation especially in
the UK and Europe. In Asia, coal shortages induced many governments to take steps to ration energy
supplies, especially in China.
Consumer Price Indices in all developed economies hit new highs in October and November with
higher energy prices now the main contributor. Core inflation measures were also higher as
bottlenecks in the supply of goods persist.

Page 128
6

2.

Investment Performance

Table 3 shows the performance of the Derbyshire Pension Fund versus the Fund specific benchmark
for the quarter and year to 30th September 2021. Over 12 months all the broad asset class categories
and most of Derbyshire’s selected asset managers outperformed their respective benchmarks.
Over 10 years the Fund has achieved a total return of 9.5% per annum, net of fees.
Table 3: - Derbyshire Pension Fund and Benchmark returns
% TOTAL RETURN (NET)
30 T H SEPTEMBER 2021

3 MONTHS

12 MONTHS

Derbyshire
Pension Fund

Benchmark

Derbyshire
Pension Fund

Benchmark

Total Growth Assets

2.5

1.6

25.5

23.5

UK Equity
Total Overseas Equity
North America
Europe
Japan
Pacific Basin
Emerging markets
Global Sustainable Equity
Global Private Equity

2.5
1.7
2.5
0.6
5.9
-4.4
-4.3
3.0
10.6

2.2
1.3
2.6
0.6
7.0
-5.3
-4.4
1.8
2.5

31.2
21.2
25.6
21.6
14.2
14.5
17.8
24.5
47.0

27.9
21.1
25.0
21.7
16.9
13.9
13.8
23.4
28.9

Total Protection Assets

0.3

0.0

-0.6

-1.9

UK & Overseas Government
UK & Overseas Inflation Linked
Global Corporate bonds

-1.3
2.6
-0.5

-1.8
2.3
-0.6

-5.0
1.3
1.4

-6.8
0.5
0.8

Total Income Assets

2.6

2.0

8.6

6.9

Multi-asset Credit
Infrastructure
Property (all sectors)

1.5
2.7
3.4

0.7
0.5
4.3

8.2
4.7
12.6

6.9
2.1
11.8

Internal Cash

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.0

Total Fund

2.0

1.4

15.7

14.4

Total fund value on 30th September 2021 £6,110 million

The Fund remains overweight growth assets and underweight protection assets relative to the strategic
benchmark which has made a positive contribution to total return over the last 3 and 12 months.

Growth assets – Equity performance
Page 129
7

In the 3rd quarter of 2021, at the aggregate level, the equity portfolio outperformed its benchmark.
Returns were generally lower and more mixed over 3 months especially compared to the
exceptionally positive returns over 12 months. The only regional allocation to underperform its
benchmark was Japan, with all other regional allocations either ahead or in-line with benchmarks in
both periods. The poor performance of the Chinese equity market impacted the returns of the Pacific
basin and emerging benchmarks either directly or via contagion, returns from these markets were
negative over 3 months and lower than other markets over 12 months.
Over 3 years growth assets have delivered an aggregate return of 9.1% p.a., 0.9% more each year than
the strategic benchmark, net of fees. Only the US, Japan and Emerging market equity portfolios
underperformed their respective benchmarks. Over 10 years growth assets have returned on average
11.8% p.a. compared to 11% for the benchmark.

Protection assets - Fixed Income Performance
Over 3 months rising inflation expectations caused bond yields to rise, over 12 months the recovery of
global growth was a greater influence. Stronger growth resulted in negative returns from highly
interest rate sensitive conventional government bonds and investment grade credit, but higher
inflation resulted in positive returns from Inflation linked government bonds both in the UK and the
US. The Fund remains underweight its allocation to UK government bonds and has less interest rate
sensitivity than the benchmark as a result the allocation outperformed the benchmark. Over 3 years
protection assets have delivered 4.9% p.a. 0.5% more than the benchmark, over longer periods
performance is slightly behind the benchmark.

Income assets – Property, Infrastructure and MAC
Over the year, the combined portfolio of income assets has outperformed the benchmark, mainly due
to the strong performance of Direct Property and MAC. Infrastructure outperformed its benchmark
but delivered much lower levels of absolute return than previously. Over 3 years Income assets have
on average delivered 5.6% p.a. more than double the benchmark, over all longer time periods,
infrastructure has delivered the highest absolute returns.

Page 130
8

3.

Economic and Market outlook

Economic outlook
I continue to believe that while the pace of growth is likely to slow from the sharp rebound seen
earlier in the year, growth will be higher this year and next than before the pandemic. This is because
of the huge increase in government spending and super-easy monetary policy. These policies
combined with excess savings accumulated by households during the pandemic remain the key forces
driving growth.
The unequal pressure on the demand for goods over services as led to higher prices especially for
commodities and labour. In turn this is leading to sharply higher inflation especially compared to last
year. I still believe this is transitory, inflation may run at the higher end of forecasts for another 6
months or so but I expect it to start to fall, from the middle of next year as the global economy and
supply chains continue to get back to “normal” and discretionary spending between goods and
services rebalances. Inflation could remain sticky, but by 2023, I expect inflation to be much closer to
2 % in the major economies than it is today.
The risks to this reasonably positive outlook remain a new covid variant or a waning of vaccination
effectiveness or a failure to get vaccination levels high enough globally. The other high impact risk is
higher energy prices leading to reduced consumption and ultimately an economic recession or
stagflation. I believe the recession/stagflation risks are much smaller than the risks of covid changing
in some way or much more likely an overly restrictive government response to rising infection rates
which are not accompanied by higher hospitalisations and mortality.

Inflation
Inflation has picked up in all economies due to the impact of supply bottle-necks, higher energy
prices, and the willingness of consumers to spend without too much concern for cost. As chart 4,
shows US inflation increases have been led by goods prices not services, the EU and UK show a
similar pattern.
Chart 4: - Inflation – Annual rate, all items and split by goods and services (2% = Central Bank
Target rate).

Source: - BCPP November 2021

Page 131
9

In September and October inflation in all major economies is higher after moderating during the
summer. I still expect Inflation to be a “tax on growth” as non-discretionary spending eats into
incomes and savings especially if energy costs continue to rise.

Central Banks
Over the quarter there were no actual policy changes by the major central banks, however in October
as inflation data was starting to pick up again on higher energy prices, Andrew Bailey, governor of the
Bank of England (BoE); appeared to suggest that the Base rate may be increased at the November
monetary policy meeting. At the meeting the MPC voted 7 : 2 to leave rates and QE policy
unchanged. With UK inflation now running at over 4% and expected to be 5% early next year the
market is speculating that the BoE will raise rates in December 2021. I have no doubt that the BoE
would like to raise rates but with the economy losing momentum after the sharp rebound earlier this
year I suspect rates may not rise until the 1st quarter of 2022. In the US inflation is running at over
6% but full employment has not been reached and the Fed continues to buy bonds as part of its QE
programme. This is clear sign to me that the Fed is still a long way from increasing US interest rates.

Politics
The only significant election in the last few months has been in Germany where the Federal election
as expected produced no overall majority. Support for Mrs Merkel’s Conservative party declined by
8.9%, far Left and Right parties also saw their share of the vote decline. The main beneficiaries of the
change were the Social Democratic Party and the Greens which both increased their share of the vote
by over 5%. There will now be months of negotiation on the shape of the new ruling coalition, which
is expected to include the Greens as they are now the 3rd largest party by number of seats.
China continues to make life uncomfortable for Taiwan, with regular incursions of territory by sea
and air. Russia also seems intent on raising tensions, through its ally Belarus along the border with
Poland, indirectly in the Baltic states and directly through its military exercises close to the Ukrainian
Border. It would also appear that Russia is manipulating the supply of gas to Western Europe via
Ukraine and NordStream2 a new pipeline through the Baltic sea. Germany in particular is most
vulnerable to the supply of gas from Russia as it has almost completely shut down its fleet of nuclear
power stations and is also trying to reduce its dependence on coal fired generation to comply with
plans to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. If the new coalition is with the Greens, then this pressure is
likely to increase.
Some progress was made at COP26 in Glasgow, but not as much as hoped by the UK government
ahead of the conference. Notable more by their absence, China, Russia and Saudi Arabia, undermined
the possibility of a global and binding response. Based on the commitments made the planet is on a
trajectory for +1.8 degrees of warming, somewhat higher than the +1.5 hoped for in Paris in 2015.

Page 132
10

Government bonds
Government bond yields troughed in August and at the end of the quarter they were back up to the
levels seen at the end of June in the US, Europe and Japan. In the UK conventional Gilt yields made
new highs, because the BoE is expected to be the first major central bank to raise interest rates.
Inflation Linked Gilt yields fell, because the increase in inflation expectations had a greater impact.
Yields spiked even higher in the UK in October because the market thought the BoE was going to
raise rates at the November MPC, when they didn’t yields fell, but along with the rest of the worlds
government bonds, yields are at the time of writing rising again. The increased expectations of
central bank rate hikes has caused shorter maturity yields to rise more flattening the yield curve.
None of this news should come as a surprise to readers of this report as I have been predicting a
medium term trend to increasing government bond yields for some time. I accept that I thought it was
growth rather than inflation that would spook the bond markets, but the outcome is the same, yields
are going to trend higher to levels that reflect the strength of the recovery and an end to the need for
extraordinary levels of monetary stimulus.
I have not changed my view that it is highly likely that government bonds could deliver a near zero or
even negative returns in the next 12 months. Notwithstanding this because of the way Scheme
liabilities are calculated the Fund any such losses are likely to be more than offset by a reduction in
Scheme liabilities, hence improving the funding position .
Chart 5: - Government bond yields, last 10 years.

Source: - Bloomberg

Page 133
11

Non-government bonds
Chart 6 below, shows the excess yield spread for both investment grade non-government and high
yield bonds. Over the quarter yield spreads widened from their lows, but because of their lower
interest rate sensitivity and higher yield they outperformed government bonds. While these bonds are
more sensitive to the economy, the key to success with this asset class is avoiding defaults, provided
the economy continues to recover non-government bonds are likely to continue to outperform.
Chart 6: - Credit spreads, extra yield over government bonds, last 5 years.

Source: - Bloomberg

Page 134
12

Equities
Market returns in the 3rd quarter were much more muted than over the previous 12 months, yet despite
the supply side issues and the resurgence of covid infection rates, corporate profits are proving to be
very strong in 2021. JP Morgan Asset Management estimate that worldwide in a good year company
profits prior to the pandemic were US$ 2.3 trillion. In 2020, profits slumped to USD 2.0 trillion, but
they are currently expecting profits of US$ 2.9 trillion in 2021, more than 25% higher than prepandemic level. These estimates are being revised higher each quarter, see chart 7 below.
However, this may be as good as it gets. So far, many companies have managed to mitigate the impact
of covid and the bounce back in demand, but this is getting more difficult as cost pressures increase,
(see chart 8) and the momentum of the bounce and government stimulus packages subside. Sectors
that can continue to do well include industrials, commodities and financials. Outside the US where
valuations appear especially stretched, multiples in Europe and Japan look closer to historical norms,
and the recent poor performance of the Chinese market have left emerging markets appearing more
attractive.
Looking at valuations by investment theme, the conclusion is that the price for investing in the fastestgrowing companies remains very high. In contrast, value and quality stocks in aggregate are
reasonably priced or cheap when compared to past averages. Meanwhile, some of the speculative
excesses observed especially in the US are starting to fade after the unsustainable gains achieved in
2020. In the last 12 months markets have been exceptionally willing to embrace the riskiest names in
many industries and this is starting to change with investors focussing on quality and sustainability.
Chart 7: - Analyst corporate earnings estimates

Source: - JP Morgan Asset Management

Page 135
13

Chart 8: - Cost pressures may eat into Profitability

Source: - JP Morgan Asset Management

The left hand side of chart 8 above show the components of company costs in the US, all areas except
taxes at the moment are experiencing upward pressure. As the right hand chart shows many
companies are planning to raise the prices of their products to offset these increased costs. Price rises
can be only be passed on if either incomes rise or savings are consumed, with higher energy prices
running faster than higher incomes the risk is discretionary consumption falls.
Looking forward over the next 12 months, I expect to see more general equity market volatility due to
macro factors like inflation and interest rates and more stock specific risk as investors focus on stock
selection rather than just buying the market.

Page 136
14

GDP
Table 4 shows the consensus forecasts for GDP growth in calendar 2021 and 2022 and my
expectations in August and November 2021.
Table 4: - GDP forecasts - Consensus versus Advisor expectations.
% CHANGE YOY
2021
A UG US T

US
UK
Japan
EU
China
SE Asia

Consensus
6.2
6.8
2.4
4.6
8.6
4.0

AF
7.0
6.0
2.6
5.0
9.0
4.3

2022
NO V EM BE R

Consensus
5.5
6.9
2.2
5.0
8.0
3.3

AF
6.0
6.0
2.4
5.0
9.0
4.3

A UG US T

Consensus
4.4
5.4
3.0
4.3
5.6
5.5

AF
4.4
5.4
3.0
4.5
5.6
5.5

NO V EM BE R

Consensus
4.0
4.7
3.0
4.2
5.1
5.3

AF
4.4
5.0
3.0
4.5
5.6
5.5

Source: - Consensus Economics November 2021

Consensus forecasts for GDP growth have been revised lower for 2021 except in the UK and Europe,
in 2022 growth has been revised lower in all regions outside of Europe and Japan where they are
unchanged. This is consistent with the pro-cyclical nature of these economies where manufacturing
dominates especially in Germany where it is estimated that the shortages of components have slowed
growth by as much as 7% in the last year. The US and UK economies are much more dependent on
personal consumption and services.
I still believe growth will most likely be stronger than the consensus for the following reasons: there is
still some headroom for economies to grow beyond their pre-pandemic levels, I believe orders for
manufactured goods will be filled, just later than anticipated, the impact of higher fiscal spending and
finally because savings rates remain high enabling personal consumption activity to remain strong
even against a backdrop of higher energy prices. The risks to this outlook, are that delayed orders get
cancelled and inflation expectations increase discouraging consumption as real incomes fall and
discretionary spending is curtailed.
The Chinese economy grew by 4.9% in the year to 30th September 2021, 3% slower than in the year
the end of June. The headwinds to growth came from power shortages and supply chain bottlenecks,
caused by bad weather and regional covid outbreaks and the government’s attempt to deflate a
persistent property bubble. Domestic consumption dominated economic activity. While Exports
surprised to the upside, industrial production slowed as power supplies had to be rationed, due to
shortages of coal.
In the US, second quarter growth was confirmed at 6.7% and 3rd quarter growth estimated at only
2.0%, quite a bit weaker than expected. Personal consumption expenditures fell to 1.6% from 12% in
the second quarter. As I noted in my last report increased covid infection rates and global supply

Page 137
15

constraints weighed on consumption and production. Over 12 months the annual rate of growth was
4.9%.
In the UK, 2nd quarter growth was revised higher from 4.8% to 5.5% driven by Hospitality and Arts
and Recreational spending, following the further easing of covid related restrictions. The advance
report of 3rd quarter growth was by contrast a much more muted 1.3%. The year over year growth
rate was 6.6% down from 23.6%, in the 2nd quarter, the economy is still 2.1% smaller than it was
before the pandemic.
The Japanese economy remains weak as fear of the Delta variant and a low vaccination rate kept
consumers at home and cautious. First quarter growth was revised down to -1.1% from -0.9%,
whereas second quarter growth was revised higher from +0.3% to +0.5%. It will be interesting to see
if 3rd quarter growth enjoyed much of a benefit from the Olympic games. I suspect not given the
lockdown conditions for most of the Athletes and the absence of international spectators. The
Japanese economy is still 1% smaller than it was before the pandemic.
The Euro-area recovered from its confirmed “double-dip” recession with growth rising by 2.1% in the
second quarter and 2.2% in the third quarter. Growth was mainly supported by strong domestic
demand and exports, while supply chain disruptions, shortages of raw materials, and rising consumer
prices weighed on the recovery. Among the bloc's biggest economies, France posted the fastest pace
of expansion, advancing by 3.0 percent in the third quarter, followed by Italy (2.6 percent), Spain (2.0
percent), and Germany (1.8 percent). At the end of September 2021, the Euro-area economy is
roughly the same size as it was before the pandemic.

Page 138
16

Consumer Price Inflation
Table 5 shows the consensus forecasts for Consumer Price Inflation in calendar 2021 and 2022 and
my expectations in August and November 2021.
Table 5: - Consumer Price Inflation forecasts - Consensus versus Advisor expectations
% CHANGE YOY
2021
A UG US T

US
UK
Japan
EU
China
SE Asia

Consensus
4.1
2.2
0.1
2.1
1.4
2.2

AF
4.3
2.5
0.5
2.5
2.0
2.4

2022
NO V EM BE R

Consensus
4.4
2.4
-0.2
2.4
1.0
2.0

AF
5.0
2.5
0.5
2.8
1.5
2.4

A UG US T

Consensus
2.9
2.2
0.5
1.7
2.3
2.4

AF
2.5
2.5
0.8
1.7
2.5
2.5

NO V EM BE R

Consensus
3.7
3.7
0.7
2.3
2.1
2.5

AF
4.0
3.7
0.8
2.5
2.5
2.5

Source: - Consensus Economics November 2021

Once again, the consensus forecasts for inflation in calendar 2021 and 2022 have been revised higher.
As I said last quarter, I expect inflation reports over the next few months will be worryingly high.
Due to the recovery and base effects from 12 months ago. But what seems to be becoming clear is the
global supply chain was more disrupted than previously believed and regional increases in covid
infection rates and restrictions “upstream” are extending the period of shortages in the supply of
goods, services and workers. Add to this the sharp increase in global energy prices especially in
October and it would appear inflation could be higher than even the forecasts above and may be
longer in duration than previously expected. I still believe higher energy costs are more likely to have
a negative impact on discretionary consumption, ie lead to lower growth, but the risks in the short
term do seem to point to higher inflation than I previously expected. Once we are past the next 12
months, I continue to expect inflation to fall back to a level of 2% to 3% over the medium term
somewhat higher than the 1% to 2% we have become accustomed to over the last 10 years, but still
low.
The annual rate of US headline inflation surged to 6.2% in October after running at over 5% for the
previous 4 months. While the increase over the summer could be explained by base effects and supply
shortages caused by the rapid re-opening of the economy. October’s price increases are the result of
higher global energy costs driven by increased consumption, low inventories and lower oil and gas
production levels, as a result the energy component was 30% higher. The supply side issues are still
an influence but with energy costs consuming a greater amount of non-discretionary spending, price
increases for most goods and services were subdued except for Used Car and Truck prices which are
still seeing price increases of 26% compared to last year. Core inflation which excludes food and
energy was 4.6% in October compared to an average of 4.2% over the summer months.

Page 139
17

Euro Area headline inflation for October was 4.1% up from 3.4% in September and 2.2% in July,
October’s jump like the USA’s was linked to energy prices. Core inflation which excludes food and
energy was also higher at 2.1% compared to 0.7% in July.
The UK headline annual inflation rate (CPIH) which includes housing costs was 3.1% in September
up from 2.5% in June and 1.5% in April. Transport, recreation and culture were the main drivers
pushing up the inflation rate. I expect that October’s rate of inflation will be somewhat higher due to
higher global energy prices but also the phased increase in VAT on hospitality from 5% to 12%. Core
inflation rate which excludes food, energy, alcohol and tobacco, was up from 2.3% in June to 2.9% in
September.
Japan’s headline inflation rate was revised down over the summer, while the September rate has been
reported at +0.2%, Japan saw monthly deflation of between -0.3% and -1.2% in the previous 12
months. The main driver of September’s increase was housing costs and food, but again just as with
the GDP data mentioned above the changes were from small negative to small positive numbers.
Core inflation which only excludes fresh food was +0.1% p.a. after 12 months of deflation.

Page 140
18

4.

The outlook for the securities markets

In my last report I suggested that the easy part of the recovery with rapid rebound in growth and
securities markets is over. The economic recovery is underway and remains on track, but one cannot
just turn off a “just in time” global supply chain dependent upon high and uniform levels of
production and free flowing trade from one part of the globe to another and turn it back on again and
expect everything to just return to normal immediately. And that is before one factors in the variation
in the impact of covid, the time taken for the migration of covid variants to move around the world,
the different responses (lockdown/vaccination) and the implications of these differences on logistics.
I believe we are approaching the end of the period of “super easy monetary policy” in the US and in
the UK, but it is likely to continue in Europe for a bit longer because of the much smaller amounts of
money being deployed and because of the scale of the issues outside of the EU’s northern block. This
should have implications for government and higher quality non-government bonds which have
become increasingly sensitive to interest rates. Inflation is clearly a cause for concern over the next
12 to 18 months but I still believe higher inflation is a “tax on growth” and that supply chain issues
are temporary. I expect inflation will fall back to around 2% to 3% rather than the 1% to 2% we have
become accustomed to over the last 10 years.
I do not expect equity markets to deliver the high double digit returns we have seen in the last 12 to 18
months but a more moderate pace of growth and inflation and a slowly rising interest rate
environment in the medium term is constructive for equity markets. Some markets and sectors are
clearly over valued and a rising interest rate environment is a head wind for growth stocks, but
overall, I expect equity markets to be higher even if company and sector leadership is different.

Page 141
19

Bond Markets
In table 6, below I have set out my expectations for 3 month LIBOR interest rates and benchmark 10
year government bond yields, over the next 6 and 12 months. They are not meant to be accurate
point forecasts, more an indication of the possible direction of yields from November 2021.
Table 6: - Interest rate and Bond yield forecasts
%

CURRENT

JUNE 2022

DECEMBER 2022

0.15
1.56

0.25
2.0

0.25
2.25

0.11
0.92

0.25
1.25

0.50
1.50

-0.09
0.08

-0.10
0.10

-0.10
0.10

-0.57
-0.26

-0.50
0.0

-0.50
0.0

UNITED STATES
3month LIBOR
10 year bond yield
UNITED KINGDOM
3month LIBOR
10 year bond yield
JAPAN
3month LIBOR
10 year bond yield
GERMANY
3month EURIBOR
10 year bond yield

Source: - Trading Economics; 12th November 2021

UK Government 10 year bond yields have been volatile since June, falling to a low of 0.5% in August
before peaking at 1.2% in October and then falling back to 0.9% currently. 2 year yields have
increased from 0.1% to a peak of 0.7% in October and they too have fallen back to 0.5%. The cause
of the volatility and the overall increase in shorter dated yields is inflation and the poor messaging of
the Bank of England governor, who suggested that a rate rise in November was likely. Outside of the
UK, government yields and curve shapes in Europe and Japan are broadly unchanged, but
significantly in the US the yield curve has also flattened implying that bond markets are now
expecting interest rate hikes.
I mentioned in my last report that I expected government yields to increase and yield curves to
potentially steepen as central bank interest rates would remain anchored until QE programmes were
completely ended. I still believe this to be the case in US, as the Fed has a dual mandate of “Full
employment and Stable inflation”. However, the BoE does not have that luxury and while it has
adopted a more flexible approach to inflation, it only has an inflation target. Hence, I anticipate that
the BoE could increase the base rate as early as it’s MPC meeting in February 2022, if not before
unless they can see slower growth and moderating if still elevated inflation.
I have not changed my forecasts I still expect government bond yields to rise over the medium term
but I believe at their current levels yields are just as likely to fall as they are to rise in the short term. I
am also willing to stick with the risk that yield curves could steepen as the recovery continues.

Page 142
20

Low, central bank policy rates, refinancing costs and government bond yields, all suggest the extra
yield spread for non-government and high yield bonds and loans may be attractive, but spreads in
aggregate are now back to the lows seen prior to the global financial crisis. These bonds have other
attributes, their low interest rate sensitivity means the are less impacted by rate hikes and their linkage
to the economic recovery means issuers should be better able to avoid default. Manager selection in
this area is extremely important and the take on of these risks needs to be carefully balanced.

Bond Market (Protection Assets) Recommendations
The total allocation to Protection assets in the strategic benchmark is 18%. After the recent volatility
in government bonds, I believe the direction is just as likely to be down in yield as up in yield.
However, over the medium term still believe yields will rise hence I am happy to remain underweight
protection assets. I continue to suggest 2% underweight gilts, in favour of holding a higher weight in
cash. I would keep the weight to investment grade corporates neutral at 6% in recognition of the
higher income and lower duration.

I recognise the benefit of holding government bonds as protection against a selloff in equity markets
and to match the Scheme’s liabilities but at their current low level of yield government bonds neither
provide the income they did in the past whilst protection against falling interest rates is less of a
benefit when yields are so low.
As usual in table 7 below I have updated the data and recalculated my estimates of the total return
impact of rising yields for government and non-government bond indices based on their yield and
interest rate sensitivity (Duration) over 3 and 12 months. The estimates show that there is very little
income protection even for small increases in yield at current durations and spreads.
Table 7: - Total returns from representative bond indices

INDEX

Y IEL D TO
MA TU R IT Y
%

DU R AT IO N

Y IEL D
I NC RE A S E
%

% TO T AL R ET UR N ,
HOL D I NG PE R IO D
3
MO NT H S

12
MO NT H S

All Stock Gilts

0.86

13.0

0.5

-6.3

-5.6

All Stocks Linkers

-2.85

16.6

0.5

-8.2

-8.3

Global IG Corporate

1.76

7.3

0.5

-3.2

-1.9

Global High Yield

4.73

4.0

0.5

-0.8

+2.73

Source: - ICE Indices 12th November 2021

Page 143
21

Equity Markets
Chart 9 below, left hand side, shows the consensus earnings per share growth estimates, for 2022 and
2023 compared to the annual average between 2011 and 2019. The right hand side shows, the current
forward looking estimates of price / earnings ratio of the same market indices compared to the range
and the average since 1990, except for China where the data only goes back to 1996, provided by JP
Morgan Asset Management.
Chart 9: - LHS - Earnings per Share estimates, RHS - Price/Earnings Ratios, since 1990, China 1996

Source: - JPM Asset Management., October 2021

As can be seen earnings per share for the next couple of years is expected to be stronger or in-line
with the average between 2011 and 2019 despite covid, and the recent supply side issues impacting
the pace of recovery and causing higher energy and commodity prices. The right hand chart shows
that p/e ratios are well above the 30 year average in the US, above average in Europe, fair value in
emerging markets and China, with only the UK and Japan looking cheap.
If we focus on just the p/e ratios the chart suggests to me is that a lot of the good news on the earnings
recovery is already in the price especially in the US. However, this is typical of the way equity
markets perform after a shock as they move quickly to discount the future. What the left hand chart is
suggesting is based on what equity analysts are hearing from companies, they can see earnings
continuing to improve as the supply side disruptions dissipate. According to the equity analysts the
expansion in the business cycle is currently described as “mid-cycle”. If this is the case then the
equity markets can continue to perform well especially those which are pro-cyclical and /or cheap on
p/e, valuation basis.
After a very strong 2nd quarter, US 3rd quarter earnings have again beaten expectations with more than
80% of companies outperforming analyst expectations. At the moment pent-up demand and excess
savings means that companies are able to pass on the higher costs being caused by supply side
disruptions and while order delivery times are being extended the orders are not being cancelled.

Page 144
22

Ironically if inflationary expectations continue to increase, orders may rise in order to try and beat
price increases, but there is also a tipping point beyond which higher non-discretionary spending eats
into discretionary consumption. It’s a bit more difficult to see that tipping point this time round
because personal earnings have also risen faster, but also because we do not know how much the last
18 months has impacted consumers’ willingness to save.
On balance I still believe there is upside in equity markets, but the returns will be harder won, with
more volatility and lower aggregate returns to those we have seen over the last year. I believe it pays
to look at valuations and earnings, both of which suggest to me there are easier gains to be had outside
the US especially when the economic cycle is factored in. Finally, if the bond markets are right about
the direction of interest rates sector leadership could change and this may favour “quality” companies,
ie the stuff you have to buy, and at the margin lower leveraged “value” companies over highly levered
“growth” companies.

Equity Market (Growth Assets), Recommendations
At the start of the 2021 substantial changes were made in the mix of growth assets to fit with the
Fund’s new Investment Strategy. The Fund is now approaching the time when the second part of the
transition will be executed. From 1st January 2022 the Fund’s Strategic Asset Allocation Benchmark
will be as set out in column 2 of Table 8 below. Ultimately this change will see the complete
disinvestment from the direct USA, European and Pacific Basin ex Japan portfolios and a further
reduction in the allocation to UK equity, with an increased investment in Global Sustainable Equity.
Once the transition is complete the combination of remaining regional and the new global funds will
better match the Funds overall desired Strategic Asset Allocation to growth assets. The total allocation
to Growth Assets will also fall by 1% in favour of increasing the exposure to Infrastructure in the
Fund’s Income Asset allocation.
While the In House Team (IHT] will be ready for this second stage of the transition it is likely that
some of the new investment vehicles may not be available at the beginning of the year, hence the
transition may take place later in the quarter. The size of the transition required is so significant that I
would not propose making any tactical or temporary changes in the asset allocation, preferring instead
to wait for the new vehicles to become available. This may have a positive or negative impact on the
relative performance of the Fund compared to its benchmark in the short term, but I believe the
transaction costs that may be associated with a temporary or tactical change in allocation could be
larger and could also make the process more complicated to manage.
I would also suggest that if the transition needed to be phased over the quarter that sales and
purchases should be executed in a proportional way. Rather than selling out of one region or fund
before another.

Income Assets
Ideally, I would like the exposure to Income assets to be neutral to the strategic allocation. Looking at
the current allocations Infrastructure remains the main underweight and this will increase when the
benchmark changes in January 2022. Building the allocation to Infrastructure takes time and at the
moment this asset class is attracting strong demand from investors, so I am happy that the IHT is not

Page 145
23

rushing to increase exposure, the appropriate returns are being sought and investment due diligence is
being done.
The spread available from high yield bonds and loans, and emerging market debt has widened slightly
again in the period to mid-November yet despite this the return has been better than conventional gilts
and investment grade credit. This is because the income from these assets classes provides the
majority of the return, I believe this will continue for some time so I am happy to suggest a neutral
allocation to Multi-asset Credit.
The performance of the property allocation has proved to be resilient over the last 12 to 18 months
despite the impact of covid. As could have been expected the direct property allocation has outperformed the indirect allocation. I would like to see the direct allocation increase funded using net
sales from the in-direct exposure, but again as with infrastructure this needs to be done with caution as
it is a very long term investment decision, and in the case of property transactions quite expensive.
As noted above in “protection assets” I would suggest a 2% overweight to cash from Gilts because of
the extremely low yield and the high duration risk currently attached to the asset class. At the end of
October, the Fund was holding around 5.5% in cash, but more than 3% of this figure is already
promised for future private market investments. Given the current valuation of all investment markets
I am not in hurry to reduce the cash allocation.
The asset allocation set out in table 8 below, shows the new Interim Benchmark and my suggested
asset allocation weights relative to this benchmark as of the 18th August and 12th November 2021.
These allocations represent an ideal objective for the Fund based on my expectations for economic
growth and market performance, but they do not take into consideration the difficulty in reallocating
between asset classes and the time needed by the In-house Team and their investment managers to
find correctly priced assets for inclusion in the Fund.

Page 146
24

Table 8: - Recommended asset allocation against the Strategic Benchmark.
The 2 righthand columns show my suggested allocations relative to the interim benchmark that came
into effect on the 1st January 2021. I have also included the new strategic benchmark that comes into
effect on the 1st January 2022. This change completes for benchmarking purposes the migration to the
new allocations for growth assets. Given the magnitude of the changes I do not propose taking a
tactical position, other than to note the US remains expensive and the UK cheap on a relative
valuation basis.

% AS S ET
CA TE GO R Y

DE R B YS H I RE
ST R AT EG IC
WE IG HT 1 S T
JA N U A R Y
2021

DE R B YS H I RE
ST R AT EG IC
WE IG HT 1 S T
JA N U A R Y
2022

A NT H O N Y
FL ET C HE R
1 8 T H AU GU ST
2021

A NT H O N Y
FL ET C HE R
12TH
NO V EM BE R
2021

Growth Assets
UK Equity
Overseas Equity
North America
Europe ex UK
Japan
Pacific ex Japan
Emerging markets
Global Sustainable
Private Equity

56
14
42
6
4
5
2
5
16
4

55
12
43
0
0
5
0
5
29
4

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Income Assets
Property
Infrastructure
Multi-asset Credit

24
9
9
6

25
9
10
6

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

Protection Assets
Conventional Gilts
UK index Linked
US TIPS
UK corporate bond

18
6
6
0
6

18
6
6
0
6

-2
-1
-1
0
0

-2
-1
-1
0
0

Cash

2

2

+2

+2

Anthony Fletcher
Senior Adviser
DD: +44 20 7079 1000

Page 147
25

anthony.fletcher@mjhudson.com

Appendix
References
Source material was provided by, including but not limited to, the following suppliers: 









Derbyshire Pension Fund, PEL performance services
FTSE and ICE Indices
JP Morgan, Asset Management
Bank of England, UK Debt Management Office, UK OBR, UK Treasury, ONS
US Bureau of Labour Statistics, US Commerce Dept. The US Federal Reserve.
Bank of Japan, Japan MITI
ECB, Eurostat
Bloomberg, FactSet, Markit and Trading Economics
Financial Times, Daily Telegraph, Wall Street Journal, New York Times, Washington Post

1 Frederick's Place, London, United Kingdom, EC2R 8AE | +44 20 7079 1000 | london@mjhudson.com| mjhudson-allenbridge.com

Page 148
26

Page 149

Page 150

Page 151

Page 152

Page 153

Page 154

Page 155

Page 156

Page 157

Page 158

Page 159

Page 160

Page 161

Page 162

Page 163

Page 164

Agenda Item 4(d)

PUBLIC

FOR PUBLICATION
DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
PENSIONS AND INVESTMENTS COMMITTEE
8 December 2021
Report of the Director of Finance & ICT
Stewardship Report
1. Purpose
1.1 To provide the Pensions & Investments Committee with an overview of the
stewardship activity carried out by Derbyshire Pension Fund’s (the Fund)
external investment managers in the quarter ended 30 September 2021.
2. Information and Analysis
2.1 LGIM & LGPSC Reports
This report attaches the following two reports to ensure that the Pensions &
Investments Committee is aware of the engagement activity being carried out
by Legal & General Investment Management (LGIM) and by LGPS Central
Limited (the Fund’s pooling company) (LGPSC):
 Q3 2021 LGIM ESG Impact Report (Appendix 2)
 Q2 2021/22 LGPSC Quarterly Stewardship Update (Appendix 3).
LGIM manages around £1.6bn of assets on behalf of the Fund through
passive products covering: UK Equities; Japanese Equities; Emerging Market
Equities; and Global Sustainable Equities. LGPSC currently manages around
£0.6bn of assets on behalf of the Fund through its Global Emerging Market
Equities Sub-Fund and Global Investment Grade Bonds Sub-Fund. The Fund
also recently made a £50m commitment to a private debt fund managed by
LGPSC, although no capital has been drawn to date. It is expected that

PHR-1277

Page1 165

PUBLIC

LGPSC will manage a growing proportion of the Fund’s assets going forward
as part of the LGPS pooling project.
These two reports provide an overview of the investment managers’ current
key stewardship themes and voting and engagement activity over the last
quarter.
3. Implications
3.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the preparation
of the report.
4. Background Papers
4.1 Papers held in the Investment Section.
5. Appendices
5.1
5.2
5.3

Appendix 1 - Implications.
Appendix 2 – Q3 2021 LGIM ESG Impact Report.
Appendix 3 – Q2 2021/22 LGPSC Quarterly Stewardship Update.

6 Recommendation(s)
That Committee:
(a) notes the stewardship activity of LGIM and LGPSC.

Report Author:

PHR-1277

Peter Handford
Director of Finance & ICT

Page 2166

PUBLIC

Appendix 1

Implications
Financial
1.1 None
Legal
2.1 None
Human Resources
3.1 None
Information Technology
4.1 None
Equalities Impact
5.1 None
Corporate objectives and priorities for change
6.1 None
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability,
Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding)
7.1 None

PHR-1277

Page3 167

This page is intentionally left blank

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Page 169

Q 3 2021

ESG
Impact
Report
Global engagement to
deliver positive change

For professional investors only.
Not to be distributed to retail investors. Capital at risk.

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Our mission
We aim to use our influence to ensure:

1. Companies integrate
environmental, social and
governance (ESG) factors
into their culture and
everyday thinking
Page 170

2. Markets and regulators
create an environment in
which good management
of ESG factors is valued
and supported

In doing so, we seek to fulfil LGIM’s
purpose: to create a better future
through responsible investing.

2

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Our focus
Holding boards to account

To be successful, companies need to have people at the helm who are wellequipped to create resilient long-term growth. By voting and engaging directly with
companies, we encourage management to control risks while seeking to benefit
from emerging opportunities. We aim to safeguard and enhance our clients’
assets by engaging with companies and holding management to account for
their decisions. Voting is an important tool in this process, and one which we use
extensively.

Page 171

Creating sustainable value

We believe it is in the interest of all stakeholders for companies to build
sustainable business models that are also beneficial to society. We work to ensure
companies are well-positioned for sustainable growth, and to prevent market
behaviour that destroys long-term value. Our investment process includes an
assessment of how well companies incorporate relevant ESG factors into their
everyday thinking. We engage directly and collaboratively with companies to
highlight key challenges and opportunities, and support strategies that can deliver
long-term success.

Promoting market resilience

As a long-term investor for our clients, we believe it is essential that markets are
able to generate sustainable value. In doing so, we believe companies should
become more resilient to change and therefore seek to benefit the whole market.
We use our influence and scale to ensure that issues impacting the value of our
clients’ investments are recognised and appropriately managed. This includes
working with key policymakers, such as governments and regulators, and
collaborating with asset owners to bring about positive change.

3

| Active
| ESG
Q3 2021
2021
ownership
impact report

Page 172

Action
and impact
In the third quarter of 2021, we continued
to engage with companies on a wide range
of topics, from diversity to anti-microbial
resistance. This report contains details of
our key activity during the period, including
engagement campaigns, key votes and our
ongoing collaboration with policymakers.

4

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Page 173

Environmental | Social | Governance
55

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

ESG: Environment

Page 174

IPCC report

Physical risk campaign

In August, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) – the
United Nations body for assessing the science related to climate
change – released the first instalment of its Sixth Assessment Report
on climate change. Released ahead of the upcoming climate summit in
Glasgow, known as COP26, it served as a timely reminder that climate
change is already a reality, and that recent heat waves, flash floods and
wildfires can be directly linked to it. It is also going to get worse as more
greenhouse gas emissions are released into the atmosphere.

The Sixth Assessment Report gave a stark message that global
warming is expected to exceed 1.5°C within 20 years and that we must
increase planning for the physical impacts of climate change. Even if
global warming is limited to 1.5°C, there would still be a tangible impact
felt globally. Flooding and wildfires across Europe, the US and Australia
in recent months highlight the urgency of understanding the physical
risks and assessing the direct and indirect impacts on companies and
investment portfolios.

However, alongside this stark message, the report establishes a clear
solution that would ensure we do not have to face the worst of these
climate impacts. In short, reduce emissions rapidly, and reach net-zero
emissions by around 2050 in order to stabilise temperatures at 1.5°C
above pre-industrial levels.

That is why we joined more than 50 investors representing US$10tn in
collective assets¹ to set out expectations of companies when it comes
to addressing physical climate risks and opportunities. The group of
investors wrote to 50 highly exposed companies to ask them to meet
these expectations, including planning for multiple climate scenarios,
integrating adaptation into business decisions, and providing enhanced
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) reporting.

We know this is not an easy feat but the report reinforces our
commitment to working with clients, investee companies, tenants and
policymakers to support this goal. The cost of global inaction will
rapidly become unbearable. Policymakers, investors and companies
must step up – inaction is not an option.

1. As of September 2021

6

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Flooding and wildfires across
Europe, the US and Australia
highlight the physical risks,
with direct and indirect
impacts, on companies and
investment portfolios.

Page 175
7

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Future World Protection List letters
LGIM has long prioritised company engagement over exclusion.
However, when combined with engagement and voting, targeted
exclusions can also be a very powerful tool.

Page 176

Through LGIM’s Future World Protection List (FWPL), we
exclude from our Future World fund range and select funds –
including the L&G ETF core equity range – perennial violators of
UN Global Compact Principles.² Through engagement with UN
Global Compact violators, we aim to improve standards and
support them to make the changes required to come off the list.
Over the past two years we have seen nine companies
reinstated into funds after having made necessary
improvements to become ‘UNGC compliant’. They include
Mitsubishi Motors Corporation*, Volkswagen AG*, and
Severstal PAO*.
Following the publication of the updated FWPL earlier this year
and ahead of the forthcoming half-yearly update, we have
written to the chairs of 11 companies at risk of non-compliance,
or already non-compliant, to communicate our expectations and
request further dialogue.

2. As well as coal and controversial weapons companies.

Through engagement with UN
Global Compact violators, we
aim to improve standards and
support them to make the
changes required to come off
the list.

*For illustrative purposes only. Reference to any particular security is on a historical basis and does not mean that the security is currently held or will be held within an LGIM portfolio.
Such references do not constitute a recommendation to buy or sell any security. Capital at risk.
8

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Page 177

Environmental | Social | Governance
9

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

ESG: Social
Nasdaq ruling on diversity
In December 2020 in the US, Nasdaq proposed a new
listing rule to require all companies on its US exchange
to publicly disclose consistent, transparent, diversity
statistics on their board of directors. Additionally, the
rules would require companies to have, or explain why
they do not have, at least two diverse directors, including:

•
Page 178

•

one who self-identifies as female
one who self-identifies as either an underrepresented
minority (based on a US-centric definition) or LGBTQ+

LGIM publicly supported the proposal as it aligns with our
diversity expectations for company boards. These rules
will give investors a better understanding of the approach
that companies take to board diversity. The US Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) approved the ruling in
August 2021.³

FCA consultation on diversity on
boards and executive committees
In July, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) released a
consultation paper on ‘Diversity and inclusion on
company boards and executive committees’.4 The
purpose of the consultation is to improve transparency
for investors around the diversity of listed company
boards and executive management teams.
Under the proposals, companies will be required to
disclose in their annual financial report whether they
meet specific board diversity targets on a ‘comply or
explain’ basis.
The proposed targets are:

•

at least 40% of the board should be women (including
those who self-identify as women)

•

at least one senior board position (chair, CEO, CFO or
SID) should be a woman (including those who
self-identify as women)

•

at least one board member should be from a nonwhite ethnic minority background

Companies will also be required to publish data on the
composition of their board and most senior level of
executive management by gender and ethnic
background. They will also need to provide detail on how
any diversity policies apply to the key committees of the
board, and take into account wider diversity
characteristics (such as ethnicity, sexual orientation,
disability and socio-economic background).
The proposed targets align with the Hampton-Alexander
review – a government-backed initiative into increasing
the number of women in senior positions in FTSE 350
companies – and the Parker Review – a look at the
ethnic diversity of UK boards. However, the FCA is
suggesting a target of 40% women on boards, which is
higher than the 30% target specified by the HamptonAlexander review. The proposals are intended to increase
transparency for investors by establishing comparable
information on the diversity of boards and executive
management, which can be used to assess progress.
LGIM will be submitting a response to the consultation
and it is proposed that the changes will apply to
accounting periods starting on or after 1 January 2022,
so reporting will start to be seen in annual financial
reports in early 2023. However, the FCA is encouraging
companies to consider making disclosure on a voluntary
basis in annual financial reports published before then.

3. US Securities and Exchange Commission as at 6 August 2021: SEC.gov | Statement on the Commission’s Approval of Nasdaq’s Proposal for Disclosure about Board Diversity and Proposal for Board Recruiting Service
4. Financial Conduct Authority as at 27 July 2021: CP21/24: Diversity and inclusion on company boards and executive committees | FCA

*For illustrative purposes only. Reference to any particular security is on a historical basis and does not mean that the security is currently held or will be held within an LGIM portfolio.
Such references do not constitute a recommendation to buy or sell any security. Capital at risk.
10

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

The proposals are intended to increase
transparency for investors by
establishing comparable information
on the diversity of boards and
executive management, which can be
used to assess progress.

FCA/PRA/Bank of England consultation on
diversity and inclusion in the financial sector
In July, the FCA, Prudential Regulation Authority and the Bank of England
released a consultation paper entitled ‘Diversity and inclusion in the
financial sector'.5 These organisations’ aim is for the financial system to
better support the economy through well run firms and sound financial
markets that can meet the diverse needs of their consumers. Topics on
which the consultation sought input included: data; measuring progress;
accountability; policies and practices; linking diversity and inclusion to
remuneration.

Page 179

LGIM has responded with input from relevant parts of the business,
including the Investment Stewardship team.

Transformation in the real estate sector
John Hoeppner, head of US stewardship and sustainable investments,
Legal & General Investment Management America, participated in a
series of meetings organised by the Institute for Market Transformation
(IMT) to establish a framework to help transform the real estate sector to
be more sustainable and resilient for all stakeholders. Our team, along
with large real estate firms, regulators and advocacy groups contributed
to the ambitious vision which was ultimately grounded in 10 principles for
real estate leadership. See the full report here.

5. Financial Conduct Authority as at 8 October 2021: DP 21/2: Diversity and inclusion in the financial sector – working together to drive change | FCA

11

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

We seek to address AMR with
our investee companies in
sectors that can play a key role.
We have started by focusing on
the often-overlooked water
utility companies.

AMR - Water utilities
In our first blog on anti-microbial resistance (AMR), we highlighted the phenomenon as an
increasingly material issue for investors. We continue to believe that without coordinated action today,
AMR may be the next global health event and the financial impact could be significant. As such, we
seek to address this issue with our investee companies in sectors that can play a key role. We have
started by focusing on the often-overlooked water utility companies.

Page 180

The overuse and inappropriate use of many antimicrobials (including antibiotics) in human and
veterinary medicine, animal agriculture and aquaculture, as well as discharges from pharmaceutical
production facilities are often associated with an uncontrolled release and disposal of antimicrobial
agents. These include antibiotics into our water systems, be that our clean water, wastewater, or
rivers and seas. This process leads to the extensive presence of agents, which can persist for
extended periods of time and, if not treated correctly, can reappear in the water systems that provide
our drinking water. In other words, there needs to be a monitoring system in place. While the
infrastructure of, for example, wastewater treatment plants has improved over the last century, waste
sanitation and management systems have not been designed to manage AMR concerns. We believe
a first step is to ensure that water utility companies have effective monitoring systems in place to
detect agents such as antibiotic resistant bacteria and antibiotic resistant genes.
In order to better understand standard global market practices, we sent an open letter to over 20
investee companies in the regions of Asia, Europe (including UK), North and South America, setting
out our concerns and seeking dialogue. We have met and had open and frank discussions with
several of these companies. We were disappointed to learn that very little monitoring is currently
undertaken in this area, mainly because there are no national (or international) regulatory
requirements or incentive to do so. Going forward, we will look at how we might influence the
regulatory landscape in his area. We are also working together with our peers within the Investor
Action on AMR initiative on this area.
Solving the AMR challenge within water systems is complex and is a challenge that will require
collaboration and knowledge-sharing across the water sector itself, but also across other sectors and
stakeholders. As we learn more about AMR and ways to address it, the window of opportunity in
which to act remains open, but we must act soon.

12

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Nutrition – Access to Nutrition Initiative
LGIM signed up to the Access to Nutrition Initiative (ATNI) in February 2021. ATNI aims
to drive change by tracking and guiding the food industry’s attempts to tackle
undernutrition, obesity and diet-related chronic diseases at the local and global levels.
ATNI publishes a global Access to Nutrition index (the Global Index) every two to three
years. The purpose of the Global Index is to track the contribution of the world’s largest
food and beverage manufacturers to address the interrelated global nutrition challenges
of undernutrition, micro-nutrient deficiencies, obesity and diet-related diseases. The
2021 Global Index is its fourth iteration. The companies included are assessed on their
commitments, practices, and disclosures with regards to governance and management;
the production and distribution of healthy, affordable, accessible products; and how they
influence consumer choices and behaviour.

Page 181
13

Following the launch of ATNI’s 2021 Global Index we are now actively involved in the
2021-2022 collaborative investor engagement programme that engages with 20 global
food companies. We have participated in the first round of initial contact with all
companies via written communications and have now started to have one-to-one
meetings with investee companies, challenging them on their current scores and how
they can improve.

Medical oxygen roundtables – a follow-up
In the second quarter of 2021 we highlighted our participation in and support to the
Access to Medical Oxygen roundtables, organised by the Access to Medicine Foundation
and Every Breath Counts Coalition. Following the latest roundtable in June and the
announcement of the world’s largest medical oxygen suppliers to collaborate with the
COVID-19 ‘Oxygen Emergency Taskforce’ we decided to write to all of those investee
companies who participated to clearly confirm our support for actions they are taking.
We have been encouraged by the responses we received.

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Significant votes
Company name: Frasers Group plc*
ISIN: GB00B1QH8P22

Market cap: £3.2bn as at 18 October 2021 (Refinitiv)

Sector: General retail

Issue identified:

Frasers did not meet the requirements of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. LGIM views this as a failure of governance.

Summary of the resolution:

To receive and adopt the report & accounts (Resolution 1). 29 September 2021.

How LGIM voted:

LGIM voted against.

Rationale for the decision:

LGIM’s corporate governance policy requires all UK-listed companies to meet the requirements of the Modern Slavery Act 2015.

Page 182

Section 54 of the Act requires companies to provide a statement setting out the steps they have taken to ensure that slavery and human trafficking is not
taking place in their own operations or within their supply chain. In addition, the statement should be signed by the board of directors.
LGIM will sanction any company that has failed to meet the requirements of the Act for two consecutive years. Not only do we consider this to be serious
governance failing, we see this as both a humanitarian crisis and a risk to a company’s operating model. In 2016, it is estimated that there were more than
40 million cases of modern slavery globally; the true figure today is thought to be significantly higher,
LGIM is part of a collaborative engagement group that is trying to ensure UK companies comply with this legislation.

Outcome:

While engagement with the company suggests it will be compliant with the requirements of section 54 by the end of this year, we considered this to be
insufficient cause to change our vote.
Only 0.41% of the shareholders voted against this resolution. That said, over 64% of the company’s issued share capital is owned by the founder of the
company.6

Why is this vote
significant?

This vote was significant because it relates to one of LGIM’s engagement themes: Human Rights/Inequality.

6. Frasers Group PLC, 9 September 2021

*For illustrative purposes only. Reference to any particular security is on a historical basis and does not mean that the security is currently held or will be held within an LGIM portfolio.
Such references do not constitute a recommendation to buy or sell any security. Capital at risk.

14

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Page 183

Environmental | Social | Governance
15

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

ESG: Governance
LGIM again acknowledged as UK
Stewardship Code signatory
LGIM has been a signatory to the UK Stewardship Code
since the Code’s inception in 2012. We were involved in
the consultation ahead of the publication of the 2020 UK
Stewardship Code, to improve stewardship disclosures
in the industry to the benefit of clients and, more
broadly, to ensure an effective market.

2021
| Acti
ve own

ership

Not to

Activ
owne e
rship

Globa
deliverl engagem
en
posit
ive ch t to
ange

Active
create ownership
clients sustainable means str
how . Our annu value for iving to
we ac
hieved al report de our
tai
this in
2020 ls
.

Page 184

In our response to the 2020 Code, this year we again provided full
disclosures of our stewardship activities for the year, underlying policies
and outcomes on behalf of our clients and stakeholders. We did so via
the publication of our 2020 Active Ownership Report, which is provided
– alongside additional case studies – on our website landing page and
is updated annually.
On 6 September 2021, the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) published
the list of confirmed signatories to the UK Stewardship Code, which
included LGIM alongside a much-reduced cadre of asset managers,
asset owners and service providers. We are proud to again be
nominated a signatory and will seek to continually improve our
disclosures to clients and the market ahead of next year’s application.
A summary table showing how LGIM applies the 12 Principles of the
Stewardship Code is available on our website, here.

16

For prof
be dist essiona
l clie
ributed
to reta nts only.
il clie
nts.

We are proud to again be
nominated a signatory and
will seek to continually
improve our disclosures to
clients and the market ahead
of next year’s application.

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Updated Japan Stewardship Code
statement

Page 185

LGIM is an active proponent of the benefits of
stewardship codes globally to improve the quality of
stewardship and ownership across the markets in which
we invest. For example, we have been a strong supporter
of the Japan Stewardship Code since its inception in
2014. LGIM’s statement on how Legal & General
Investment Management (Holdings) and its subsidiary
companies in the institutional investment and/or asset
management business comply with the principles and
guidance of the Code is updated annually. The most
recent update was made this summer and is available on
the LGIM and LGIM Japan websites.

Changes to pay principles
Every year, in the third quarter, LGIM publishes its revised
principles on executive pay for the UK market. This year,
we also updated the standalone principles on executive
pay for North America.
Income inequality is a material ESG theme for LGIM
because we believe there is a real opportunity for
companies to help employees feel more valued, lead
healthier lives and be more productive if they are paid
fairly.
This year, both the UK and North American principles on
executive pay emphasise the importance remuneration
committee being aware of the real living wage rates in
the regions in which the majority of their employees are
located and to question management if the company is
not meeting these expectations. Similarly, they should
question management whether all employees are offered
the opportunity to work at least 15 hours per week.
These are small but important steps to help lift low paid
employees out of in-work poverty.
In the UK policy, we expanded the section on ESG and
pay to help those companies that were looking to
introduce an ESG metric into their executive
compensation.

17

The shareholding requirement section of the UK policy
was simplified by removing all aspirational targets and
any disincentive for companies to set meaningful and
high shareholding guidelines because of concerns of
having to set equally high post exit shareholding
requirements.
The North American policy makes clear that LGIM will no
longer support compensation payments being made
when the total shareholder return is below the company’s
median peer benchmark. In addition, we want companies
to stop the annual release of share options; these should
be held for a longer period to ensure they are considered
a long-term incentive. We have also asked for
performance-based pay to represent 65% of the total
long-term incentive pay.

Non-executive director event
We held our annual non-executive event in September,
where almost 200 non-executive directors from the UK,
EU and US heard our views on the hot ESG topics that top
of our agenda going into 2022. We covered a range of
topics including climate strategies and disclosures,
future ESG regulation, the importance of paying a living
wage, as well as areas such as biodiversity, tax and
political donations.

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Significant votes
Company name: Volkswagen AG*
ISIN: DE0007664039

Market cap: EUR 122bn, as at 18 October 2021

Sector: Automobiles

Page 186

Issue identified:

Continued engagement regarding the diesel emissions scandal.

Summary of the resolution:

Resolution 3.1 to 4.21 – approve discharge of management board and supervisory board members.

How LGIM voted:

Against.

Rationale for the decision:

We voted against the annual formal discharge of the management board and supervisory board. While LGIM notes the progress made by the company in its
strategy towards the transition to a lower emission world, we remain concerned about the company’s handling of the diesel emissions scandal of 2015 and
its overall governance structure.
In particular, we note a lack of transparency regarding the handling of the crisis, including any lessons learnt by the boards, how sufficient internal control
mechanisms have been put in place, and any progress made around improvement of corporate culture.

Outcome:

99.5% of shareholders supported the resolutions. LGIM will continue to monitor and engage with the company.

Why is this vote
significant?

A vote against the discharge of responsibility of both the management and supervisory boards is a rare step in LGIM's escalation policy.

*For illustrative purposes only. Reference to any particular security is on a historical basis and does not mean that the security is currently held or will be held within an LGIM portfolio.
Such references do not constitute a recommendation to buy or sell any security. Capital at risk.

18

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

M&A – Vectura Group plc* & Philip
Morris International*

Page 187

This is a very controversial deal. At the end of May the board of
Vectura Group plc (Vectura) disclosed that The Carlyle Group
(Carlyle)*, a private equity firm, had put in a bid for the company,
which the board had accepted. In July, the board was surprised to
receive a higher bid from Philip Morris International (PMI), the
tobacco company. Carlyle increased its bid a month later and
received unequivocal support from some of Vectura’s top 10
shareholders. A few days later PMI increased its bid further.
Following PMI’s increase, the UK Takeover Panel announced a
five-day auction. The last time this happened was in 2018 during
the Comcast* and Walt Disney* bidding war for Sky plc*. The
auction was called off a day later when Carlyle indicated that their
bid was final.
During this highly sensitive bid process, LGIM spent considerable
time reviewing the competing ESG factors and financials, while
engaging with the senior management at both Vectura and PMI.
We came to the conclusion that, based on the information
available to us, the sale of our shares was the optimal result for our
clients, investors and the futures of both companies. Furthermore,
we have consistently engaged with PMI up to this point to
encourage it to broaden the business and to diversify its interests
away from tobacco.
We will continue to monitor, engage and hold the PMI board to
account on the execution of its global transition strategy, including
Beyond Nicotine and moving towards a smoke-free future.

*For illustrative purposes only. Reference to any particular security is on a historical basis and does not mean that the security is currently held or will be held within an LGIM portfolio.
Such references do not constitute a recommendation to buy or sell any security. Capital at risk.

19

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Public policy update
As a long-term investor, LGIM has a responsibility to ensure that global markets operate
efficiently, to protect the integrity of the market, and to foster sustainable and resilient
economic growth. LGIM helps to identify key systemic failures and providing practical
advice in the early stages of policymaking. In this regard, LGIM focuses its ESG policy
engagements on three key pillars that we believe are of greatest importance to the
market and the global economy: i) Corporate governance and stewardship standards; ii)
Achieving Paris Agreement and net-zero targets; and iii) Green and sustainable finance
policy and regulation. Below is a summary of key engagements over the past quarter.

Page 188

LGIM has a responsibility to
ensure that global markets
operate efficiently, to protect
the integrity of the market,
and to foster sustainable and
resilient economic growth.

20

United Kingdom
Over the past quarter, LGIM has engaged with the UK government on some
key ESG issues. For example, we contributed to the Department for Business, Energy &
Industrial Strategy’s (BEIS) long-awaited consultation on ‘Restoring trust in audit and
corporate governance’. Overall, we are supportive of the intentions of the government’s
consultation and share its desire to make the UK an attractive market for shareholders,
investors and broader stakeholders through high quality and transparent audit and
corporate governance activities. Our view is that the approach and timelines that are
adopted for their implementation are critical to success, and that the early establishment
and empowerment of the Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority (ARGA) is crucial
to ensure the reforms and the associated standards are suitably embedded in the
relevant professional and corporate bodies.
LGIM has been engaging with the various ESG-related workstreams and consultations
that the FCA have launched. For example, LGIM recently inputted into two consultations
relating to the expansion of reporting in accordance with the recommendations of the
Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). Overall, we welcome these
proposals and the direction of travel the FCA is taking, although, we have highlighted
some areas of concerns. One particular area of concern is the availability of reliable,
consistent, and comparable ESG data from corporates across the both public and
private markets.
LGIM, both independently and in collaboration with partners, is also engaging on other
ESG topics in the UK, including but not limited to: next steps in the Lord Hill review e.g.
the FCA’s CP21/21: Primary Markets Effectiveness Review (that is looking at limited dual
class share structures and free float requirements); the UK Taxonomy; say on climate;
sustainability labelling; green and sustainable bond standards; ESG data providers; and
broader sustainability disclosure requirements.

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

European Union
Over the last quarter, LGIM has been engaging
the European Commission (EC) on various ESG policy
related topics. For example, we have collaboratively
engaged with other investors on the EU Taxonomy,
particularly in relation the agricultural sector, alignment
on net zero, and ensuring that the original independent
scientific-based recommendations are not weakened
through political processes.

Page 189

We have also engaged through the UN’s Principles for
Responsible Investment team on ensuring the EC
develops a robust Corporate Sustainability Reporting
Directive (CRSD). We outlined six important areas which
the EU should consider when taking their proposal
forward, specifically on: extension of scope; double
materiality and integrated reporting; assurance; standard
setting and harmonisation; single electronic formatting;
and the timeline for development.
In July, we also provided some thoughts on the release
of the EU’s new sustainable finance strategy.

Japan
LGIM was invited to participate in a one-onone interview earlier this year to provide input for a study
commissioned by the Ministry of Economy, Trade and
Industry (METI) on corporate governance and
stewardship in Japan. The final report is now available
on the METI website with additional details provided by
PwC* Japan.

United States
In July, LGIM America and the Environmental
Defense Fund (EDF) announced a partnership to activate
business leadership to net zero. The two organisations
will collaborate on policy and corporate engagements
and leverage each other’s expertise and influence.

Separately, LGIM responded to a Tokyo Stock Exchange
survey on institutional investor perceptions of English
disclosures by Japanese companies. We stated our
expectation for English disclosures and audited financial
statements to be made available to investors before the
AGM. We also emphasised that companies that move the
AGM to later in the year will have our support, which is
consistent with our past messaging.
LGIM also took part in a public consultation on the draft
Sixth Strategic Energy Plan. LGIM’s submission
presented views on the share of renewables in the power
mix, the phasing out of coal-fired power plants regardless
of efficiency, the need for a transparent and inclusive
discussion on nuclear power, the addition of intensity
targets, and our support for science-based carbon
pricing, while also endorsing the public statement from
the Japan Climate Leaders’ Partnership.

*For illustrative purposes only. Reference to any particular security is on a historical basis and does not mean that the security is currently held or will be held within an LGIM portfolio.
Such references do not constitute a recommendation to buy or sell any security. Capital at risk.
21

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Regional updates
UK - Q3 2021 voting summary
Total
against

Total
abstentions

Anti-takeover related

100

0

0

Capitalisation

533

27

0

Directors related - 54

Directors related

988

54

0

Remuneration-related - 58

Non-Salary compensation

169

58

0

Reorganisation and mergers

40

4

0

Routine/Business

665

11

0

Shareholder Proposal - Compensation

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Directors related

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human rights

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social

0

0

0

2495

154

0

Page 190

Total
Total resolutions

2649

No. AGMs

146

No. EGMs

50

No. of companies voted on

181

No. of companies where voted against
management/abstained on at least one resolution

77

% of companies where at least one vote against
management (includes abstentions)

22

Votes against management

Total
for

Proposal category

Anti-takeover related - 0
Capitalisation - 27

Reorganisation and mergers - 4
Routine/Business - 11
Shareholder Proposal - Compensation - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Directors related - 0
Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human Rights - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Social - 0

Number of companies voted for/against management

104
No. of companies where we supported management
No. of companies where we voted against management

LGIM voted against at least one
resolution at 43% of UK
companies over the quarter.

43%

Source for all data: LGIM as at 30 September 2021. The votes on this page and in the pages that follow represent voting instructions for our main FTSE pooled index funds.

77

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Europe - Q3 2021 voting summary
Total
against

Total
abstentions

Anti-takeover related

0

0

0

Capitalisation

37

4

0

Directors related - 68

Directors related

96

68

1

Remuneration-related - 20

Non-Salary compensation

44

20

0

Reorganisation and mergers

4

0

0

117

13

0

Shareholder Proposal - Compensation

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Directors related

0

1

0

Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business

1

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human rights

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social

0

0

0

299

106

1

Routine/Business

Page 191

Total
Total resolutions

406

No. AGMs

20

No. EGMs

13

No. of companies voted on

32

No. of companies where voted against
management/abstained on at least one resolution

21

% of companies where at least one vote against
management (includes abstentions)

23

Votes against management

Total
for

Proposal category

66%

Anti-takeover related - 0
Capitalisation - 4

Reorganisation and mergers - 0
Routine/Business - 13
Shareholder Proposal - Compensation - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Directors related - 1
Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous -0
Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human Rights - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Social - 0

Number of companies voted for/against management

11

21

No. of companies where we supported management
No. of companies where we voted against management

LGIM voted against at least one
resolution at 66% of European
companies over the quarter.

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

North America - Q3 2021 voting summary
Total
against

Total
abstentions

Anti-takeover related

7

1

0

Capitalisation

8

2

0

Directors related - 55

Directors related

195

55

0

Remuneration-related - 29

Non-Salary compensation

13

29

0

Reorganisation and mergers

4

0

0

Routine/Business

17

15

0

Shareholder Proposal - Compensation

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance

0

1

0

Shareholder Proposal - Directors related

3

2

0

Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous

0

3

0

Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business

0

2

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human rights

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social

0

0

0

247

110

0

Page 192

Total
Total resolutions

357

No. AGMs

28

No. EGMs

6

No. of companies voted on

33

No. of companies where voted against
management/abstained on at least one resolution

28

% of companies where at least one vote against
management (includes abstentions)

24

Votes against management

Total
for

Proposal category

85%

Anti-takeover related - 1
Capitalisation - 2

Reorganisation and mergers - 0
Routine/Business - 15
Shareholder Proposal - Compensation - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance - 1
Shareholder Proposal - Directors related - 2
Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous - 3
Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business - 2
Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human Rights - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Social - 0

Number of companies voted for/against management

5

28

No. of companies where we supported management
No. of companies where we voted against management

LGIM voted against at least one
resolution at 85% of North
American companies over the
quarter.

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Japan - Q3 2021 voting summary
Total
against

Total
abstentions

Anti-takeover related

0

0

0

Capitalisation

0

0

0

Directors related - 15

108

15

0

Remuneration-related - 1

Non-Salary compensation

7

1

0

Reorganisation and mergers

6

2

0

Routine/Business

10

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Compensation

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Directors related

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human rights

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social

0

0

0

131

18

0

Directors related

Page 193

Total
Total resolutions

149

No. AGMs

13

No. EGMs

3

No. of companies voted on

16

No. of companies where voted against
management/abstained on at least one resolution

9

% of companies where at least one vote against
management (includes abstentions)

25

Votes against management

Total
for

Proposal category

56%

Anti-takeover related - 0
Capitalisation - 0

Reorganisation and mergers - 2
Routine/Business - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Compensation - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Directors related - 0
Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human Rights - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Social - 0

Number of companies voted for/against management

7
No. of companies where we supported management
No. of companies where we voted against management

LGIM voted against at least one
resolution at 56% of Japanese
companies over the quarter.

9

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Asia Pacific - Q3 2021 voting summary
Total
against

Total
abstentions

Anti-takeover related

0

0

0

Capitalisation

35

18

0

Directors related - 32

Directors related

113

32

0

Remuneration-related - 14

Non-Salary compensation

28

14

0

Reorganisation and mergers

11

1

0

Routine/Business

72

8

0

Shareholder Proposal - Compensation

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Directors related

4

3

0

Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment

0

1

0

Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business

3

7

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human rights

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social

0

0

0

266

84

0

Page 194

Total
Total resolutions

350

No. AGMs

35

No. EGMs

14

No. of companies voted on

48

No. of companies where voted against
management/abstained on at least one resolution

29

% of companies where at least one vote against
management (includes abstentions)

26

Votes against management

Total
for

Proposal category

60%

Anti-takeover related - 0
Capitalisation - 18

Reorganisation and mergers - 1
Routine/Business - 8
Shareholder Proposal - Compensation - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Directors related - 3
Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment - 1
Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business - 7
Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human Rights - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Social - 0

Number of companies voted for/against management

19
No. of companies where we supported management
No. of companies where we voted against management

LGIM voted against at least one
resolution at 60% of Asia
Pacific companies over the
quarter.

29

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Emerging markets - Q3 2021 voting summary
Total
against

Total
abstentions

1

0

0

Capitalisation

837

90

0

Directors related - 337

Directors related

1008

337

32

Remuneration-related - 243

Non-Salary compensation

108

243

0

Reorganisation and mergers

467

168

0

Routine/Business

889

84

0

Shareholder Proposal - Compensation

0

3

0

Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance

3

1

0

130

19

0

Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business

21

1

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human rights

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social

0

0

0

3464

946

32

Anti-takeover related

Page 195

Shareholder Proposal - Directors related

Total

27

Votes against management

Total
for

Proposal category

Total resolutions

4442

No. AGMs

209

No. EGMs

393

No. of companies voted on

569

No. of companies where voted against
management/abstained on at least one resolution

292

% of companies where at least one vote against
management (includes abstentions)

51%

Anti-takeover related - 0
Capitalisation - 90

Reorganisation and mergers - 168
Routine/Business - 84
Shareholder Proposal - Compensation - 3
Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance - 1
Shareholder Proposal - Directors related - 19
Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business - 1
Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human Rights - 0
Shareholder Proposal - Social - 0

Number of companies voted for/against management

277
No. of companies where we supported management
No. of companies where we voted against management

LGIM voted against at least one
resolution at 51% of emerging
market companies over the
quarter.

292

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Global - Q3 2021 voting summary
Total
against

Total
abstentions

Total

Anti-takeover related

108

1

0

109

Capitalisation

1450

141

0

1591

Directors related

2508

561

33

3102

Non-Salary compensation

369

365

0

734

Reorganisation and mergers

532

175

0

707

60

Routine/Business

1770

131

0

1901

50

Shareholder Proposal - Compensation

0

3

0

3

40

Shareholder Proposal - Corporate governance

3

2

0

5

30

137

25

0

162

20

Shareholder Proposal - General economic issues

0

0

0

0

10

Shareholder Proposal - Health/Environment

0

1

0

1

0

Shareholder Proposal - Other/Miscellaneous

0

3

0

3

Shareholder Proposal - Routine/Business

25

10

0

35

Shareholder Proposal - Social/Human rights

0

0

0

0

Shareholder Proposal - Social

0

0

0

0

6902

1418

33

8353

Page 196

Shareholder Proposal - Directors related

Total resolutions

28

% of companies with at least one vote against
(includes abstentions)

Total
for

Proposal category

No. AGMs

451

No. EGMs

479

No. of companies voted on

879

No. of companies where voted against management/abstained on at least one resolution

456

% of companies where at least one vote against management (includes abstentions)

52%

100

85%

90
80

66%

70

60%

56%
43%

UK

North
America

Europe

Japan

Asia
Pacific

51%

Emerging
markets

Number of companies voted for/against management

423

456

No. of companies where we supported management
No. of companies where we voted against management

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Global engagement summary
In Q3 2021, the Investment Stewardship team held

153

143
with

engagements

companies

(vs. 112 engagements with 91 companies last quarter)

Page 197
29

Q3 2021 | ESG impact report

Breaking down the engagement numbers
Breakdown of engagement by themes

Regional breakdown of engagements

Social

73

20

Page 198

60

in Europe ex-UK

7

in Africa

in Central and
South America

Governance

12

in Japan

22

1

in Asia Pacific
ex-Japan

6

in Oceania

Top five engagement topics*

Engagement type

57

44

29

25

14

52

101

Public
health

Remuneration

Water

Climate
change

Board
composition

Company
meetings

Emails /
letters

*Note: an engagement can cover more than a single topic

30

16

in UK

in North America

69

Environmental

52

37

Other

Contact us
For further information about LGIM, please visit lgim.com or contact your usual LGIM representative

Important information
Views expressed are of Legal & General Investment Management Limited as at September 2021.
The information contained in this document (the ‘Information’) has been prepared by LGIM Managers Europe Limited
(‘LGIM Europe’), or by its affiliates (‘Legal & General’, ‘we’ or ‘us’). Such Information is the property and/or confidential
information of Legal & General and may not be disclosed by you to any other person without the prior written consent of
Legal & General.

Page 199

No party shall have any right of action against Legal & General in relation to the accuracy or completeness of the
Information, or any other written or oral information made available in connection with this publication. Any investment
advice that we provide to you is based solely on the limited initial information which you have provided to us. No part of
this or any other document or presentation provided by us shall be deemed to constitute ‘proper advice’ for the purposes
of the Investment Intermediaries Act 1995 (as amended). Any limited initial advice given relating to professional services
will be further discussed and negotiated in order to agree formal investment guidelines which will form part of written
contractual terms between the parties.
Past performance is no guarantee of future results. The value of an investment and any income taken from it is not
guaranteed and can go down as well as up; you may not get back the amount you originally invested.
The Information has been produced for use by a professional investor and their advisors only. It should not be distributed
without our permission.
The risks associated with each fund or investment strategy are set out in this publication, its KIID, the relevant prospectus
or investment management agreement (as applicable) and these should be read and understood before making any
investment decisions. A copy of the relevant documentation can be obtained from your Client Relationship Manager.
Confidentiality and limitations:
Unless otherwise agreed by Legal & General in writing, the Information in this document (a) is for information purposes
only and we are not soliciting any action based on it, and (b) is not a recommendation to buy or sell securities or pursue a
particular investment strategy; and (c) is not investment, legal, regulatory or tax advice. Any trading or investment
decisions taken by you should be based on your own analysis and judgment (and/or that of your professional advisors)
and not in reliance on us or the Information. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we exclude all representations,
warranties, conditions, undertakings and all other terms of any kind, implied by statute or common law, with respect to
the Information including (without limitation) any representations as to the quality, suitability, accuracy or completeness
of the Information.
Any projections, estimates or forecasts included in the Information (a) shall not constitute a guarantee of future events,
(b) may not consider or reflect all possible future events or conditions relevant to you (for example, market disruption
events); and (c) may be based on assumptions or simplifications that may not be relevant to you.
The Information is provided ‘as is' and 'as available’. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Legal & General accepts no
liability to you or any other recipient of the Information for any loss, damage or cost arising from, or in connection with,
any use or reliance on the Information. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Legal & General does not accept
any liability for any indirect, special or consequential loss howsoever caused and, on any theory, or liability, whether in
contract or tort (including negligence) or otherwise, even if Legal & General has been advised of the possibility of such
loss.

D002340

Third party data:
Where this document contains third party data ('Third Party Data’), we cannot guarantee the accuracy, completeness or
reliability of such Third-Party Data and accept no responsibility or liability whatsoever in respect of such Third-Party
Data.
Publication, amendments and updates:
We are under no obligation to update or amend the Information or correct any errors in the Information following the date
it was delivered to you. Legal & General reserves the right to update this document and/or the Information at any time and
without notice.
Although the Information contained in this document is believed to be correct as at the time of printing or publication, no
assurance can be given to you that this document is complete or accurate in the light of information that may become
available after its publication. The Information may not take into account any relevant events, facts or conditions that
have occurred after the publication or printing of this document.
Telephone recording:
As required under applicable laws Legal & General will record all telephone and electronic communications and
conversations with you that result or may result in the undertaking of transactions in financial instruments on your behalf.
Such records will be kept for a period of five years (or up to seven years upon request from the Central Bank of Ireland (or
such successor from time to time)) and will be provided to you upon request.
In the United Kingdom and outside the European Economic Area, it is issued by Legal & General Investment Management
Limited, authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority, No. 119272. Registered in England and Wales No.
02091894 with registered office at One Coleman Street, London, EC2R 5AA.
In the European Economic Area, it is issued by LGIM Managers (Europe) Limited, authorised by the Central Bank of
Ireland as a UCITS management company (pursuant to European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment
in Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2011 (S.I. No. 352 of 2011), as amended) and as an alternative investment fund
manager with “top up” permissions which enable the firm to carry out certain additional MiFID investment services
(pursuant to the European Union (Alternative Investment Fund Managers) Regulations 2013 (S.I. No. 257 of 2013), as
amended). Registered in Ireland with the Companies Registration Office (No. 609677). Registered Office: 33/34 Sir John
Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin, 2, Ireland. Regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland (No. C173733).
LGIM Managers (Europe) Limited operates a branch network in the European Economic Area, which is subject to
supervision by the Central Bank of Ireland. In Italy, the branch office of LGIM Managers (Europe) Limited is subject to
limited supervision by the Commissione Nazionale per le società e la Borsa (“CONSOB”) and is registered with Banca
d’Italia (no. 23978.0) with registered office at Via Uberto Visconti di Modrone, 15, 20122 Milan, (Companies’ Register no.
MI - 2557936). In Germany, the branch office of LGIM Managers (Europe) Limited is subject to limited supervision by the
German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (“BaFin”). In the Netherlands, the branch office of LGIM Managers
(Europe) Limited is subject to limited supervision by the Dutch Authority for the Financial Markets (“AFM“) and it is
included in the register held by the AFM and registered with the trade register of the Chamber of Commerce under
number 74481231.Details about the full extent of our relevant authorisations and permissions are available from us upon
request. For further information on our products (including the product prospectuses), please visit our website.
© 2021 Legal & General Investment Management Limited. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be
reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying and recording, without the written
permission of the publishers.

This page is intentionally left blank

Stewardship Update
S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1-2 2

(J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1)

Page 201
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

Responsible Investment
& Engagement:
LGPS Central’s approach

LGPS Central’s approach to Responsible Investment & Engagement carries two objectives:
OBJECTIVE #1

OBJECTIVE #2

Support investment
objectives

Be an exemplar for RI within the ﬁnancial
services industry, promote collaboration
and raise standards across the marketplace

These are met through three pillars:

Our Selection
of assets

Our Stewardship
of assets

Our commitment to
Transparency &
Disclosure

This update covers LGPS Central’s (LGPSC) stewardship activity. Our stewardship efforts are supplemented by global engagement
and voting services provided by EOS at Federated Hermes (EOS). For more information, please refer to our Responsible Investment &
Engagement Framework and Annual Stewardship Report.

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES
Responsible
Investment &
Engagement
Framework

Annual
Stewardship
Report

S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Voting
Principles

Page 202

Voting
Disclosure

Voting
Statistics

2

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

01 Summary of engagement
and voting activity

Below is a high-level summary of key engagements and voting that have taken place during Q2 of the financial year 2021-22. These and
other engagements and voting examples will be covered in more detail later in this update.

ENVIRONMENTAL

SOCIAL

GOVERNANCE

Climate and biodiversity engagement
with 68 banks: LGPS Central has co-signed
letters to banks setting out expectations
for Paris-alignment and protection and
restoration of biodiversity. 45 banks
have so far responded with 19 setting or
confirming Paris-aligned climate targets.

30-month engagement project on social
media content control is closed after
good progress. The Initiative engaged
the world’s three largest social media
companies (Facebook, Alphabet and
Twitter). Progress has been made by
each of the social media companies to
stop the spread of objectionable material,
but a continued focus on the evolution of
preventative safeguards is needed.

A Japanese bank has responded
positively to investor engagement on
board diversity and recently appointed a
female director to the company’s Board.
Discussions continue on diversity barriers
in the Japanese market.

Microplastics
engagement
continues, including good
in dialogue with a UK retailer
committed to introducing
with microplastic filters within
18 months.

project
progress
that has
products
the next

Human rights risks engagement with
Amazon taking promising steps to build
out its Human Rights program and carry
out human rights’ due diligence across
its operations.

S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Page 203

We have initiated dialogue with an
Anglo-Irish consumer credit reporting
company on tax transparency and
responsible tax behaviour. We would
like to see the company share taxrelevant Country-by-Country Reporting
(CBCR) with shareholders so that we can
make a meaningful assessment of their
tax behaviour.

3

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

Voting highlights:

FRASERS GROUP, PREVIOUSLY SPORTS DIRECT

SSE LIMITED (UTILITY COMPANY)

We voted against the remuneration policy and report. In FY2021,
while the company took assistance from the government to
pay furloughed staff and accessing business rates relief, the
CFO was granted a significant salary increase and was paid a
bonus which was not based on pre-set performance conditions.
Maximum opportunity for executive directors under the Executive
Share Scheme has a market value of GBP 100 million. There was
notable opposition to the remuneration policy and report at the
AGM, 13.7% and 15.1% respectively.

We voted for the company’s Climate Change Action Plan. By tabling
this Plan at the AGM, SSE is one of the early adopters of an advisory
‘say-on-climate’. The Board also intends to provide shareholders
with an annual vote on its climate strategy. The climate strategy
aims to deliver a Paris-aligned emissions reduction pathway
over the short, medium and long term. We have some concerns
regarding the short-term emissions reduction targets to 2025,
but the company commits to regularly update interim emissions
reduction targets based on latest scientific developments.

ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITY DURING THE QUARTER

0

100

200

300

400

500

The total number of engagements cover all live engagements undertaken directly, in collaboration, and via our Stewardship
Provider, also engagements that did not have activity during the quarter but are ongoing. Engagement activity relates
to any interaction with a company, both specific to engagement objectives and to ad-hoc issues. Progress is counted
relative to specific engagement objectives. There was some or full achievement of 220 engagement objectives.

600
Progress

700

800
Activity

900
No Activity

GLOBAL VOTING

GLOBAL VOTING

We voted at 353 meetings (3,781 resolutions) over the
last quarter.

We voted against or abstained 439 resolutions over the
last quarter.
Board structure 45.1%
Remuneration 33.0%

Total meetings in favour 53.8%

Shareholder resolution 4.1%

Meeting against (or against AND
abstain) 42.5%

Capital structure and dividends 8.2%

Meetings with management by
exception 3.7%

Audit and accounts 1.8%

Amend articles 3.6%
Poison pill/Anti-takeover device 0.2%
Other 3.9%

S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Page 204

4

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

02 Engagement
Case Studies

Below, we give more detailed examples of ongoing or new
engagements which relate to the four Stewardship Themes that
have been identified in collaboration with our Partner Funds.
While the bulk of our engagement effort is centred around these
themes, we also regularly cover other key ESG issues such as fair
remuneration, board composition, and human rights. We have
included one such example in this update.
Our Stewardship Themes over the current three-year period
(2020 – 23) are:
•
•
•
•

This quarter our engagement set1 comprised 440 companies.
There was engagement activity on 767 engagement issues
and objectives2. There was achievement of some or all specific
engagement objectives on 229 occasions. Most engagements
were conducted through letter issuance or remote company
meetings, where we, our partners or our stewardship provider in a
majority of cases met or wrote to the Chair, a Board member or a
member of senior management.

Climate change
Plastic
Fair tax payment and tax transparency
Technology and disruptive industries

1
2

This includes engagements undertaken directly, in collaboration, and via our contracted Stewardship Provider.
There can be more than one engagement issue per company, for example board diversity and climate change.

S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Page 205

5

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

CLIMATE CHANGE ENGAGEMENTS
This quarter, our climate change engagement set comprised
269 companies with 326 engagements issues3. There was
engagement activity on 295 engagement issues and achievement
of some or all specific engagement objectives on 136 occasions.
In dialogue with senior management of a utility company we
provided views on the company’s draft climate transition plan.
The company falls under the scope of ClimateAction100+ and
LGPS Central is a co-lead alongside EOS at Federated Hermes for
this engagement. The company is very receptive to investor views
and we were pleased to see a clear net-zero by 2050 commitment
accompanied by short- and medium-term targets in the transition
plan. We also welcome their clear ambition to help customers
decarbonise, e.g., through decarbonisation of heat. We explained
our expectations relating to the indicators of the CA100+
benchmark and pointed to areas where the company would need
to make further commitments to align with the benchmark. This
includes short-term target setting (up to 2025) that substantiates
a clear Net-Zero pathway this decade. We would also like to see
a commitment from the company to decarbonise its electric
utility power generation by 2035. The company is enhancing
transparency on climate policy lobbying in the climate transition
plan, which we welcome. We encourage further transparency
around policy barriers so that investors can support specific
policy action that will help achieve net-zero for the company and
its sector.

Together with more than 100 investors and coordinated by
ShareAction, LGPS Central co-signed letters to 68 banks
setting out expectations for Paris-alignment and protection and
restoration of biodiversity. Banks play a critical role in provision of
finance to support transition to a low-carbon economy. While we
have previously asked banks to set targets in line with Paris, this
letter specifically addresses biodiversity, alongside climate, as an
area that banks are expected to assess in their risk management
and in their dialogue with clients. Encouragingly, 45 banks have
responded to the letter and dialogue is ongoing with a selection of
these banks. Our first ask is for banks to publish climate targets
covering all relevant financial services that are aligned with global
efforts to hold temperature rise below 1.5 degrees Celsius. 19
confirmed they will publish new climate targets ahead of COP26,
the end of the year, and/or their 2022 AGM. This includes BBVA,
BNP Paribas, Citigroup, and Standard Chartered. A critical next
step for the investor group is to assess whether these targets puts
banks on a clear path to net zero.

ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY TYPE

DIRECT
STEWARDSHIP
PROVIDER

Through Climate Action 100+ we have continued engagement with
a diversified mining company on their efforts to reduce scope 34
GHG emissions and to develop a scope 3 emissions reduction
programme. For this company, scope 3 emissions represent
96% of its total emissions and is clearly the critical element to
address. The company has presented initial actions to support
the reduction of their scope 3 emissions. However, CA100+ would
like to see this translate into measurable goals and will continue
working with the company to develop quantitative targets. The
company has signalled that it will not set numeric targets on
Scope 3 emissions unless it is underpinned by a reasonable basis.
The company is currently prepared to do this for 30% of its Scope
3 emissions as there is no reasonable basis to do it for emissions
generated by steelmaking now.

PARTNERSHIP

• 326 engagements in progress
• Majority of engagements undertaken via CA100+
• Dialogue with 67 banks on climate and biodiversity
ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY OUTCOME

PROGRESS

ACTIVITY

136

295

There can be more than one climate-related engagement issue per company.
Scope 3 emissions are a consequence of the activities of the company but occur from
sources not owned or controlled by the company. Some examples of scope 3 activities are
extraction and production of purchased materials; transportation of purchased fuels; and
use of products and services.

3
4

S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Page 206

6

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

PLASTIC ENGAGEMENTS
This quarter our single-use plastics engagement set comprised 37
companies with 39 engagement issues5. There was engagement
activity on 24 engagements and achievement of some or all
engagement objectives on 19 occasions.
Billions of plastic pellets or “nurdles” make their way into the
natural environment each year, which poses a serious threat to
the ecosystem and potentially also a health threat to people.
LGPSC has collaborated with the Investor Forum, peer investors
and other stakeholders including Marine Scotland, the British
Plastics Federation and the British Standards Institute to sponsor
and create the first industry specification to prevent plastic pellet
pollution. The new specification, a so-called Publicly Available
Specification (PAS), was formally launched during the quarter
after 9 months of preparation by an expert group. We consider the
publication of this standard as positive progress which will start to
direct corporate behaviour. We intend to use the plastic pellet PAS
as a direct reference in engagement with relevant industries, for
example in ongoing engagements with packaging companies and
plastics manufacturers. Another interesting industry development
is businesses and investors, including LGPS Central, calling for UN
treaty on plastic pollution (www.plasticpollutiontreaty.org). The
aim of a treaty would be to establish a coordinated international
response that aligns businesses and governments behind a
shared understanding of the causes of plastic pollution, and a
clear approach to addressing them.

environment, a problem caused in large proportion by synthetic
textiles which release microfibres (a type of microplastic) when
washed. A first round of engagements with 13 target companies6
have been concluded by the investor group this year. At the AGM
of Sainsbury’s and through subsequent dialogue with the investor
group, the company is taking positive steps to engage its washing
machine manufacturers and aims to introduce products with
microplastic filters within the next 18 months. We also welcome
recommendations from the “All Party Parliamentary Group on
Microplastics” issued this quarter, which could be influential
in determining the direction of government policy in this area.
The key recommendation in relation to microfiber filtration is
to: “Introduce legislation and standards which require microfibre
filters to be fitted into all new domestic and commercial washing
machines from 2025.”

ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY TYPE

DIRECT
STEWARDSHIP
PROVIDER

Through a microplastics engagement project led by First Sentier
Investors, we seek to encourage domestic and commercial
washing machine manufacturers to add filter technology as
standard to all new washing machines produced by the end
of 2023. This is to help combat microplastics pollution to the

PARTNERSHIP

• 39 engagements during the quarter
• Formal launch of Plastic Pellet prevention standard
• Good progress for micro-plastics engagement
targeting washing machine manufacturers
ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY OUTCOME

PROGRESS

ACTIVITY

20

24

There can be more than one plastic-related engagement issue per company.
Arcelic, Dixons Carphone, Electrolux, Haier Group, Hitachi, Koc Holdings, LG Electronics,
Midea, Panasonic, Sainsbury’s, Samsung, Sharp and Whirlpool

5
6

S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Page 207

7

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

FAIR TAX PAYMENT AND TAX TRANSPARENCY ENGAGEMENTS

This quarter, our tax transparency engagement set comprised
seven companies with seven engagement issues. There was
engagement activity on three engagements and achievement of
some engagement objectives in these cases.
We have continued collaboration with four fellow European
investors in engaging a selection of companies across
technology, telecommunication, finance and mining sectors. In
correspondence with an Anglo-Irish consumer credit reporting
company, we have asked to discuss its approach to tax, tax policy,
tax strategy and reporting on corporate value generation across
countries where it operates. The company’s two-page Tax Policy
is publicly available. It is very high level and in essence says that
the company will aim to comply with regulation. However, the
policy does not tie tax in with broader sustainability or hint at a
responsibility to go above and beyond compliance and paying
your fair share of tax, which we would consider best practice. The
company has significant business operations in the US, Brazil and
the UK and emphasises that it pays taxes due in every country
where it operates. We aim to set up a meeting with the company
during Q4 to discuss its use of foreign jurisdictions with lower tax
rates, being headquartered in Ireland and incorporated in Jersey.
We would also like to see the company share tax-relevant Countryby-Country Reporting (CBCR) with shareholders so that we can
make a meaningful assessment of their tax behaviour. Over the
next period we are reaching out to all six other companies that
have been in scope of this engagement since 2020, to push for
better tax disclosure and to tease out companies’ preparedness
for a global minimum tax rate that has now been agreed by the
G7 Group.

S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY TYPE

DIRECT
STEWARDSHIP
PROVIDER
PARTNERSHIP

• Seven engagements during the quarter
• Collaboration with peer European investors to
engage a selection of companies across vulnerable
sectors continues
ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY OUTCOME

Page 208

PROGRESS

3

ACTIVITY

3

8

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

TECHNOLOGY AND DISRUPTIVE INDUSTRIES
This quarter our technology and disruptive industries engagement
set comprised 17 companies with 33 engagements issues.
There was engagement activity on 32 engagement issues
and achievement of some or all engagement objectives on
10 occasions.
As part of an investor coalition led by the Council on Ethics to
the Swedish National Pension Funds, we discussed human rights
risks management with Amazon. The investor group shared a set
of Investor Expectations with this and several other technology
companies in December last year, and we were pleased to see the
company taking steps to address these. The company has built
out its Human Rights Program and has started carrying out human
rights’ due diligence across its operations. The due diligence
strategy is based on the UN Guiding Principles on Business and
Human Rights. A Human Rights Impact Assessment has recently
been carried out, to assess the raw and recovered materials for
digital devices including manufacture, assembly, and return of
those products. The scope of the assessment was four supply
chain categories: Tier 1 and 2 manufacturing, reverse logistics,
minerals and metals, and plastics and synthetics. Challenges
remain throughout the electronics industry on issues like low or
unequal wages and absence of effective grievance mechanisms
for workers. Equally, tracing is challenging for instance on the
sourcing of plastics and synthetics supply chain, or the chemicals
used in plastic production. The results of this analysis will be
incorporated into the company’s overall business approach. We
were encouraged to hear that the company welcomes continued
investor dialogue on these issues and is looking to deepen
dialogue with external stakeholders more generally.
We have over the last two and a half years engaged the world’s
three largest social media companies, Facebook, Twitter and
Alphabet, specifically on the issue of social media content
moderation. This engagement has been led by the Guardians of
New Zealand Superannuation (Guardians) alongside the New
Zealand government-owned investors and supported by more
than 100 investors globally. This project, which is now drawn to

a close having seen some significant progress, adds to growing
investor scrutiny on the critically important role of social and
traditional media in our societies. Without a doubt, the platforms
have all moved to strengthen controls to prevent the live streaming
and distribution of objectional content, for instance with the help
of AI the companies appear more effective at capturing contextual
content such as hate speech. The issue of content moderation is
becoming one of the defining legal and socio-political issues of
our time. It deserves its own body of specialist expertise stretching
across a range of academia, law and policy. Our expectation is
that these companies carry out their duty of care with absolute
resolve, and while we’ve seen some good progress throughout our
engagement – the goal posts keep moving and the companies
need to remain focused on managing this. The engagement
project received Stewardship Initiative of the Year award at the UN
PRI 2021 Awards for its success in engaging these multinational
giants by building a large collaboration of investors, escalating the
engagement and influencing progress.

ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY TYPE

DIRECT
STEWARDSHIP
PROVIDER
PARTNERSHIP

• 33 engagements in progress
• Human Rights expectations for technology
companies are getting traction
• Engagement with social media companies has seen
tangible progress
ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY OUTCOME

PROGRESS

ACTIVITY

S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Page 209

10

32

9

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

Examples of engagement outside of stewardship themes

DIVERSITY
Together with fellow 30% Investor Club members, and led by Royal
London Asset Management, we continued engagement with a
Japanese bank to encourage better diversity and to seek more
disclosure on diversity-related policies. We held a meeting with
senior management at the company during the quarter, the third
meeting over the last 15 months. Japanese boards have one of
the lowest proportions of female representation in major markets.
A general hurdle to achieving greater diversity at board level is the
fact that historically, Japanese women in their 40ies and 50ies
gave up their careers to raise families. It is therefore particularly
welcome that the company recently appointed a woman to the
Board who had been on the management team since 2019, and

S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

with the company since 1987. This brings female representation
at the Board to 13%. This move does not seem to have entailed
broader changes to the Board’s nomination policies and the low
number of female executives remains an obstacle to greater
diversity. An objective for this engagement was to encourage the
company to join the 30% Club, and we were pleased to hear that
this happened in April this year. While we would like the company
to set more ambitious targets for diversity at all levels of the
organisation, we note that the company aims to achieve increase
in diversity by looking at recruitment and supporting women in
career positions from early on.

Page 210

10

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

03 Voting

POLICY

COMMENTARY

For UK listed companies, we vote our shares in accordance with
a set of bespoke LGPSC UK Voting Principles. For other markets,
we consider the recommendations and advice of our third-party
proxy advisor, EOS at Federated Hermes.

Between July - September, we:

While this quarter has far fewer AGMs than high voting season,
which for key markets fall within April – June, we have seen some
more companies come forward with climate transition plans that
are presented to shareholders for advisory voting. More than 20
companies (mostly European) have so far put a transition plan
to the vote. All have passed with some opposition. We welcome
this trend but view it as critical that companies report on progress
against transition plans and that this progress is assessed against
credible benchmarks, such as the newly established Climate
Action 100+ Benchmark. Public assessments of companies’
progress against the benchmark were disclosed in March 2021
and this helps set a bar for what a good transition plan should
cover. The reality right now is that no company within CA100+ is
fully compliant with the benchmark. By upholding this standard,
we believe we can see more and better efforts from companies to
contribute to real-world decarbonisation. Discussions are ongoing
between investors and companies within specific sectors, e.g., oil
& gas and mining companies, on the detail of Net-Zero alignment
and what that entails.

S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

•
•
•
•

Voted at 353 meetings (3,781 resolutions) globally
Opposed one or more resolutions at 150 meetings
Voted with management by exception at 13 meetings
Supported management on all resolutions at the remaining
190 meetings.

A full overview of voting decisions for securities held in portfolios
within the Company’s Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS) –
broken down by market, issues and reflecting number of votes
against and abstentions – can be found here.

Page 211

11

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

EXAMPLES OF VOTING DECISIONS
We voted against the election of Director Joseph C. Tsai at Alibaba
Group Holding Limited (retailing company) who has a strategic
ownership stake of 0.7% in the company and as such is considered
not to be independent. Tsai chairs the nomination and governance
committee and is a member of the compensation committee. We
take the view that impartial monitoring of these critical functions
require independence. A key engagement objective with Alibaba
has been to get Board independence to 50%. With this proposed
Board, Alibaba has finally lifted its independence from 45% to 50%
which is welcome. While not independent, we chose to vote with
management to re-elect Director Michael Evans and hope that
through collaborative engagement, Alibaba will be encouraged
to take Board independence beyond 50% in future. Our external
stewardship provider, EOS at Federated Hermes, will continue
engagement with the company on board composition going
forward both relating to independence and diversity. Although
Director Tsai was re-elected by the Alibaba AGM, a clear opposition
was voiced by 26.4 % of shareholders who voted against.
At the AGM of Frasers Group, previously Sports Direct, we
voted against the remuneration policy and report. The company
furloughed a significant proportion of its workforce at various
times in FY2021 due to the health pandemic. To assist payments
to furloughed staff, the Company utilised Government support
through the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) and also
accessed business rates relief. In FY2021, the CFO was granted
a significant salary increase and was paid a bonus which was not
based on pre-set performance conditions. We are not convinced
that the salary increase and bonus award are appropriate in
the context of the Company receiving significant Government
support. The Company is seeking approval for the Executive
Share Scheme under which Executive Directors may be granted
significant awards (maximum opportunity has a market value
of GBP 100 million) based on meeting share price targets for
a sustained period over a four-year period. We do not view this
Scheme to be in line with LGPS Central Voting Principles. The
remuneration policy and report were approved by the AGM, but
with notable opposition from shareholders, 13.7% and 15.1%
respectively. While previous engagement by LAPFF and others has
seen some movement around the CEO, Mike Ashley, e.g., through
having a worker representative on the Board, his controlling share
ownership is an obstacle to investor concerns being heard. The
incoming CEO, Mr Murray, is engaged to be married to Mr Ashley’s
daughter and our concerns around lack of independence are
heightened as a result.
At the AGM of AGL Energy Limited (Australian utility company)
we voted for the disclosure of carbon emission targets as
put forward in a shareholder proposal. Additional information
regarding the company’s efforts to reduce its carbon footprint
and align its operations with Paris Agreement goals would allow
investors to better understand how the company is managing its
transition to a low carbon economy and climate change related
risks. This is particularly relevant in light of AGL’s intention to
S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

split its operations into two companies via a proposed demerger.
The company announced in July 2021 that shareholders will be
provided with an opportunity to have their say on the climate
reporting for both proposed demerged entities, Accel Energy and
AGL Australia, at the first AGM for each organization. At this time,
it is anticipated that the boards of the two entities will provide
disclosure of carbon emission strategies and targets.
At the AGM of Ashtead Group Plc (capital goods company)
we voted against the remuneration policy and report. This is
due to concerns over the large salary increase of 19% to GBP
560,000 received by the CFO on the back of increased variable
pay opportunities in FY2022. Additionally, target-setting under
the annual bonus scheme could be more robust. Furthermore,
Ashtead Group is planning to make one-off Strategic Plan awards
to Executive Directors in FY2022, in addition to any normal
Performance Share Plan awards. The total quantum of awards
in terms of variable pay (portion of compensation determined by
performance) is significant, increasing the CFO’s total variable pay
package by c. 90% in comparison to what was available to him
in FY2021. As per LGPS Central Voting Principles, remuneration
should amount to no more than is necessary and sufficient to
attract, retain and motivate the individuals most suited to managing
the company. We are not convinced that the rationale provided by
Ashtead justifies this pay opportunity. Although the remuneration
policy and report passed at the AGM, a strong opposition was
voiced by 36.0% and 39.3% of shareholders respectively.
SSE Limited (utility company) tabled a Climate Change Action
Plan at the AGM, which we voted for. This move makes SSE one of
the early adopters of an advisory ‘say-on-climate’. The Board also
intends to provide shareholders with an annual vote on its climate
strategy. Overall, the Company’s net zero transition report appears
to include appropriate climate targets and a suitable governance
framework. Although a complete schedule of comprehensive
short, medium and long-term emissions reduction targets has
not been provided, the Company has set a number of mediumterm objectives, which have been approved by the Science Based
Targets Initiative (SBTi). This is noted positively as an industryleading practice. A clear pathway for the decarbonisation of heat
for both households and business is yet to emerge. However, SSE
expects that a combination of solutions will be found including,
district heating, some non-fossil fuel gas, fuel switching from
gas to electricity and potentially hydrogen generated heat in the
longer term. In support of this transition, SSE Business Energy
works closely with its customers, offering a range of green gas
products with options of green certification and 100% backed
by Renewable Gas Guarantees of Origin. Overall, we view SSE’s
efforts as forward-leaning in terms of managing climate risk and
the commitments listed above create the right level of “checks
and balances” for a meaningful transition to occur in a transparent
manner. SSE is covered by the Climate Action 100+ engagement
project, of which LGPSC is an active participant.

Page 212

12

L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED’S

Partner Organisations
LGPS Central actively contributes to the following investor groups

S E C O N D Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1 - 2 2 ( J U LY – S E P T E M B E R 2 0 2 1 )
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Page 213

13

This document has been produced by LGPS Central Limited and is intended solely for information purposes. Any opinions, forecasts or estimates
herein constitute a judgement, as at the date of this update, that is subject to change without notice. It does not constitute an offer or an invitation
by or on behalf of LGPS Central Limited to any person to buy or sell any security. Any reference to past performance is not a guide to the future. The
information and analysis contained in this publication have been compiled or arrived at from sources believed to be reliable, but LGPS Central Limited
does not make any representation as to their accuracy or completeness and does not accept any liability from loss arising from the use thereof. The
opinions and conclusions expressed in this document are solely those of the author. This document may not be produced, either in whole or part,
without the written permission of LGPS Central Limited.

All information is prepared as of 05.11.2021.
This document is intended for PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS only.
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.
Registered in England. Registered No: 10425159.
Registered Office: Mander House, Mander Centre, Wolverhampton, WV1 3NB

Page 214

Agenda Item 7

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 215

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 219

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 223

This page is intentionally left blank

